

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

Strategies Community Bank Managers Use to Address Rising **Financial Regulations Compliance Costs**

Therese Hortense Ngini Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Finance and Financial Management Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Therese Hortense Ngini

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Levita Bassett, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Inez Black, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Roger Mayer, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2023

Abstract

Strategies Community Bank Managers Use to Address Rising Financial Regulations Compliance Costs

by

Therese Hortense Ngini

MBA, Johns Hopkins University, 2008 BS, Johns Hopkins University, 2004

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

January 2023

Abstract

Increasing financial regulations compliance costs have the potential for adverse business outcomes for community banks. Community bank managers are concerned about increasing financial regulations compliance costs because it is the number one predictor of community banks' failures. Grounded in the resources-based view theory, the purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies that community bank managers use to mitigate increasing financial regulations compliance costs. The participants were 10 community bank managers and senior staff of a community bank in Maryland who successfully mitigated increasing financial regulations compliance costs. Data were collected using semistructured interviews and reviewing the organization's internal documents. Through thematic analysis, four themes were identified: training, leadership, proactive approach to regulations, and organization retooling. A key recommendation is for community bank managers to stimulate employees' innovation and creativity skills through the mediating role of a transformational leadership style. The implications for positive social change include the potential for community banks to improve revenues and profits so they can contribute to the development of the local community they serve.

Strategies Community Bank Managers Use to Address Rising Financial Regulations Compliance Costs

by

Therese Hortense Ngini

MBA, Johns Hopkins University, 2008 BS, Johns Hopkins University, 2004

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

January 2023

Dedication

First and foremost, I would like to dedicate this doctoral study to God, who gives me strength every day and makes things possible. I also dedicate my doctoral study to my daughter, Anne Franziska, and my son, Albert Bikoi. Throughout my doctoral journey, you reminded me never to give up and to continue going. You are my inspiration; I wanted to make you proud, and I hope I did. I am always thankful to God for giving me the best children in the world. To my parents, Paul Ndeng Bikoi and Mispa Ngo Nguidjoi, this doctoral study is the product of the value of education you instilled in me since I was born. Thank you for your unconditional love, prayers, and support. To my siblings, Theo, Chantal, Victoire, Francois, Christine, Paul Blaise, and Sandrine, you have always been there for me during my highest and lowest moments. Growing up with you has taught me kindness, fairness, and caring. You are my teachers for life, and I cannot accomplish anything without you. To my nieces and nephews, I cannot explain how happy I am to have you in my life. Thank you for making me smile when things get hard and for caring for Anne and Albert. To my in-laws, Sarah, Alice, and Adrien, I appreciate the supporting hands you have always extended to me. I want to shout out to my uncles, aunts, cousins, and friends living in Cameroon. Your kind and warm words have helped me get through the obstacles I encountered during my doctoral journey. It has taken a village to achieve my dream of completing a doctoral degree, and I am thankful to all those who contributed.

Acknowledgments

I thank God for giving me the grace, wisdom, and knowledge to complete this doctoral study. I would like to acknowledge my family, friends, fellow students, and faculty members for their support and encouragement in meeting my personal and professional goals. Special acknowledgment goes to my chair, Dr. LeVita Bassett, whose dedicated support, encouragement, and motivation pushed me to achieve my goals. I also want to thank my second committee member, Dr. Inez Black, and my university research reviewer, Dr. Roger Mayer, for their support and guidance. Lastly, I would like to thank my program director, Dr. Gail Miles, for his continued commitment to the DBA program.

Table of Contents

Li	st of Tables	iv
Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem and Purpose	3
	Population and Sampling	3
	Nature of the Study	5
	Research Question	6
	Interview Questions	6
	Conceptual Framework	7
	Operational Definitions	9
	Assumptions, Limitations and Delimitations	10
	Assumptions	10
	Limitations	10
	Delimitations	11
	Significance of the Study	12
	Contribution to Business Practice	12
	Implications for Social Change	13
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	14
	Resource-Based View Theory	15
	Banking Regulations	23
	Financial Regulatory Compliance Cost	26

	Community Bank: Overview	29
	Banking Industry History and Future Trends	33
	Compliance and Regulations	35
	Strategic Management	39
	Corporate Governance in the Banking Industry	44
	Competitive Advantage in the Banking Industry	47
	Transition	49
Se	ection 2: The Project	52
	Purpose Statement	52
	Role of the Researcher	52
	Participants	56
	Research Method	59
	Research Design	60
	Population and Sampling	62
	Ethical Research	64
	Data Collection Instruments	66
	Data Collection Technique	68
	Data Organization Technique	71
	Data Analysis	72
	Reliability and Validity	76
	Reliability	76
	Validity	76

Transition and Summary	78
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	81
Presentation of the Findings	82
First Emergent Theme : Training	83
Second Emergent Theme : Leadership	87
Third Emergent Theme: Proactive Approach to Regulations	92
Fourth Emergent Theme: Organization Retooling	94
Application to Professional Practice	97
Implications for Social Change	101
Recommendations for Action	102
Recommendations for Further Research	105
Reflections	106
Conclusion	107
References	109
Appendix A: Organizational Permission	157
Appendix B: Interview Protocol and Interview Questions	159
Appendix C: CITI Certificate	161

List of Tables

Table 1. Frequency of Subthemes in Training Theme	84
Table 2. Frequency of Subthemes in Leadership Theme	88
Table 3. Frequency of Subthemes in Proactive Approach to Regulations Theme	92
Table 4. Frequency of Subthemes in Organization Retooling Theme	96

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Community banks play a significant role in stimulating the United States economy. Community banks provide valuable services to small business firms throughout the United States (Nguyen & Barth, 2020). Organizational efforts to reduce the impact of the financial regulation burden on community banks improve the bank's performance and the likelihood of meeting its objectives (Hoesli et al., 2020). The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the operational strategies community bank managers need to reduce the negative effect of increasing financial regulations compliance costs on the bank's performance.

Background of the Problem

A community bank is a small bank that provides banking services to the local community. Typically, management and board members of community banks reside in the local community (Evans & Lawrance, 2018). Community banks provide approximately 77% of agricultural loans and 50% of small business loans (Putnam & Hassan, 2017). Community banks' primary role is to develop the communities they serve by providing the financial support necessary for the development.

However, community banks are encountering challenges in meeting their goals of providing financial support to local communities. These challenges have led to a significant decrease in community banks over the past 40 years (Putnam & Hassan, 2017). Additionally, community banks are reducing the services they offer to communities. Between 1984 and 2011, community banks' credit market debt and shares of banking assets declined by 50% and 24%, respectively (Putnam & Hassan, 2017). The

decline in community banks' services could be attributed to the rising cost of complying with financial regulations (Evans & Lawrance, 2018).

In 2010, the United States signed into law the Dodd-Frank Act following the financial crisis of 2008. The most visible and direct effect of the 2010 Dodd-Frank Wall Street reform was the increased cost of compliance imposed on the banking industry as a whole and community banks in particular (Dolar & Dale, 2020). The Dodd-Frank Act inflicted a regulatory burden of 73 million paperwork hours and \$36 billion of additional costs on the financial system between 2010 and 2016 (Dolar & Dale, 2020). Because of their size and conservative funding and lending practices, community banks have struggled to cope with increasing regulations compliance costs compared to larger banks (Adler, 2012).

Community banks had to restructure their business operations to sustain rising regulations compliance costs. New regulations adversely forced community banks to change lending behaviors by reducing loans availability (Moss & Suh, 2020).

Additionally, noninterest expenses such as salary have increased after the passage of the Dodd-Frank Act due to the hiring of more qualified employees to implement regulatory changes (Hogan & Burns, 2019). Such business operations changes impede community banks' ability to improve performance and meet their social change objectives.

Therefore, community bank managers need strategies to mitigate the increasing costs of financial regulatory compliance and reduce their negative impact on banks' ability to meet set goals.

Problem and Purpose

The specific business problem was that some community bank managers lack strategies to mitigate increasing financial regulations compliance costs. The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies that community bank managers use to mitigate increasing financial regulations compliance costs. The targeted population was community bank managers and senior staff in Maryland who had successfully used their firms' resources to reduce the negative effect of increasing financial regulations compliance costs on their operation.

Population and Sampling

The selected research population provided quality data relevant to the problem under investigation. Researchers seek participants who have broad knowledge and experience related to the research topic to provide useful insights (Potter, 2018). The population in this study comprised community bank managers and senior staff from Maryland. Participants were managers and senior staff who had successfully implemented strategies to optimize the organization's resources to reduce the negative effect of increasing financial regulations compliance costs on the organization's operation in their respective community banks. The population of this study consisted of decision makers at the community banks because they influence the strategies adopted at each institution.

Qualitative researchers have a myriad of sampling methods to use for data collection. The census approach to sampling was not practical for this study because of budget and time constraints, making it impossible to survey the entire population (see

Saunders et al., 2015). The current study was conducted using purposive sampling. The goal of purposive sampling is to select participants who are knowledgeable of the phenomenon under investigation and can provide in-depth and detailed information (Ames et al., 2019). Researchers who use purposive sampling seek subject matter experts who offer unique and rich information of value to the study (Suen et al., 2014). The population in the current study consisted of 10 participants from a community bank, which was a manageable sample size.

In the event there were not enough participants or some opted out of the study, I intended to employ snowball sampling to recruit additional participants. Snowball sampling is a chain referral sampling approach that facilitates identifying hidden populations (Etikan et al., 2016). Researchers who implement snowball sampling can ask primary participants to refer alternative participants for the study. Having a sampling contingency plan is crucial to conducting data collection effectively (Ames et al., 2019).

The criteria for eligibility to participate in the current study included a minimum of 5 years of experience as a community bank manager or a senior staff at a community bank, a minimum of 3 years with the current position, and work in a community bank located in Maryland. Phone calls, emails, and visits at the community banks were the channels through which participants were accessed. The data were collected through participants' interviews. Additional data were obtained by reviewing the community banks' documents such as training materials, manuals, and meeting minutes.

Nature of the Study

Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods are the three research methodologies researchers use to conduct studies. Researchers who use the qualitative method explore phenomena in-depth to provide insights into real-world problems (Moser & Korstjens, 2017). Qualitative researchers explore participants' subjective interpretations of their experiences to gain a detailed understanding of phenomena using interviews or focus groups (Swords et al., 2021). In contrast, researchers who use the quantitative method employ statistical analysis to provide information about the data distribution (Taguchi, 2018) and evaluate the relationship between variables. The mixed-methods approach focuses on complex phenomena and combines elements of quantitative and qualitative approaches (Alavi et al., 2018). The quantitative and mixed-methods approaches were not appropriate because I did not examine the relationships between variables. Therefore, qualitative methodology was appropriate for this study.

There are four qualitative research designs, including (a) phenomenology, (b) ethnography, (c) narrative, and (d) case study. Phenomenological researchers seek to discover the meaning of a phenomenon by gathering descriptions of lived experiences that yield an in-depth understanding of the phenomenon (Thomas, 2021). The phenomenological design was not appropriate because the current study did not focus on a phenomenon of reality or lived experiences of individuals or groups. Researchers use the ethnographic design to study cultural or social interactions (Pernille et al., 2020). I did not examine social problems; therefore, the ethnographic design was not suitable. The narrative inquiry approach includes multiple perspectives, disciplines, and methods

focused on individuals' sequential life events (Lewis, 2019). Investigating individuals' life events was not the focus of the current study. Consequently, the narrative inquiry approach was not implemented. Researchers employ single case studies with multiple participants to achieve data saturation, allowing for comprehensive analyses and pattern repetition (Lupo & Stroman, 2020). A single case study design was suitable for the current study because data were to be collected from a single community bank. A single case study design focuses on one organization and provides a single set of cross-case conclusions (Pathiranage et al., 2020). The single case study design was appropriate for the current study because data from a single community bank were collected to describe different strategies that community bank managers in Maryland use to optimize the organization's resources to reduce the negative effect of increasing financial regulations compliance costs on their operation.

Research Question

What strategies do successful community bank managers use to mitigate increasing financial regulations compliance costs?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies do you use to optimize the firm's resources to reduce the negative effect of increasing financial regulations compliance costs on the organization's operation?
- 2. What successful strategies did you implement to optimize the use of the organization's resources?

- 3. How do you verify that optimizing the firm's resources reduces the negative effect of financial regulations compliance costs on operation?
- 4. How do increasing financial regulations compliance costs negatively affect your firm's ability to meet its set goals?
- 5. What financial metrics do you use to measure the effectiveness of the strategies you have put in place?
- 6. How do you measure that the firm is adequately using its resources?
- 7. What strategies did you find most challenging in implementing and monitoring?
- 8. How did you develop useful feedback and financial review mechanisms to determine whether increasing financial regulations compliance costs were having a less negative impact on the bank's operation?
- 9. What additional strategies do you use to ensure the firms used the resources optimally?
- 10. What other information can you add regarding the strategies you used to optimize the firm's resources to reduce the negative effect of increasing financial regulations compliance costs on the organization's operation?

Conceptual Framework

The resource-based view (RBV) theory was the conceptual framework that helped me explore the strategies community bank managers can implement to identify internal strategic resources. These resources are fundamental for community banks to achieve a competitive advantage and improve performance. Wernerfelt (1984) introduced RBV

theory (Dionysus & Zainul, 2020). In 1991, Barney established RBV theory as a sustainable competitive advantage theory based on the firm's resources (Dionysus & Zainul, 2020). RBV theory originated from the strategic management field, and scholars referred to it as resource-based theory at inception (Freeman et al., 2021; Greve, 2021; Gueler & Schneider, 2021). RBV theory addresses how firms' internal resources and capabilities are related to sustained competitive advantages and enhanced performance (Andersén, 2020). The perspective of RBV theory helps firms develop effective strategies and dynamic capabilities through unique strategic resources to meet strategic objectives (Chahal et al., 2020; Freeman et al., 2021; Shibin et al., 2020). Based on RBV theory, resources are heterogeneously distributed among organizations, and rare resources are not perfectly imitable or substitutable (Chahal et al., 2020). Additionally, RBV theory focuses on valuable resources that lead to developing strategies that improve efficiency or effectiveness (Gueler & Schneider, 2021). Business managers apply RBV theory to find the firm's strengths and weaknesses and develop a path to sustainable competitive advantage. Key constructs under RBV theory are (a) value, (b) rarity, (c) inimitability, and (d) organized to exploit profits (VRIO) (Dyer et al., 2020). Community bank managers should develop strategies around VRIO resources to overcome the adverse effect of increasing regulations on the bank's performance.

Leaders and managers of for-profit business firms utilize RBV theory to identify a firm's internal determinants that lead to a sustainable competitive advantage and profit maximization (Arsalan & Ali, 2020). These determinants include assets, proficiencies, organizational procedures, knowledge, corporate attributes, data, and managerial and

organizational factors (Arsalan & Ali, 2020). Based on RBV theory, a firm should be different from its competitors to sustain a competitive advantage. To be different from firms within the same industry, a firm should develop and implement strategies and technologies that are difficult to transfer across organizations, possess untransferable knowledge, and identify resources that are not easy to reproduce (Greve, 2021). Community bank managers should ensure that the bank has unique characteristics that competitors do not have. RBV theory is the starting point in analyzing and classifying the community bank's inner resources.

RBV theory guided the current study because it helped me identify VRIO resources community bank managers use and the strategies to optimize their use. RBV theory suggests that competitive advantage for businesses, particularly those sustained over the long term, comes from firm resources and capabilities (Campbell & Kubickova, 2020). RBV theory suited the current study because community banks could utilize their resources and capabilities to offset the adverse effects of increasing financial regulations compliance costs on the firm's performance and ability to meet its objectives. RBV theory was the best fit for this study because it is a strategic conceptual framework and community bank managers need to develop and implement strategic approaches to sustain the institution's competitive advantage.

Operational Definitions

Community bank: A financial institution with \$1 billion or less in total assets that focuses on improving its community by providing customized business support to local businesses (Kashian et al., 2020).

Compliance costs: Expenses associated with following administrative rules and requirements (Barnes & Petry, 2021).

Financial Regulations: Theories, laws, and rules that guide policymakers and govern financial institutions' operations (Currie, 2006).

Strategic resources: Financial, physical, human, intellectual, and other forms of assets that a firm uses to create, produce, and offer unique products or services to its clients (Murimi et al., 2021).

Assumptions, Limitations and Delimitations

Assumptions

Formulating assumptions is critical in conducting qualitative research (Yin, 2018). Assumptions are statements that are perceived to be accurate despite the researcher's inability to ascertain their validity (Schoenung & Dikova, 2016; Waldkirch, 2020). Several assumptions guided the current study. The first assumption was that increasing regulations have adversely impacted multiple community banks in Maryland. The second assumption was that participants answered interview questions honestly and to the best of their knowledge. The third assumption was that participants understood their organizations' protocols and did not reveal information that could damage their careers. The last assumption was that common themes and terms emerged from the coding and the thematic analysis of the data collected.

Limitations

Limitations are constraints beyond the researcher's control (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). One limitation of the current study was the inability to conduct face-to-

face interviews because of the COVID-19 pandemic. Due to the pandemic, many people worked from home to avoid close contact with others. Therefore, interviews were conducted virtually or over the phone. The risk associated with this limitation was that I relied on the efficacity of the technology when conducting interviews. It was challenging to conduct the interview if there were connectivity issues. Additionally, virtual or phone interviews reduce the level of rapport between parties, and the interviewer could miss meaningful nonverbal clues from interviewees (D'Angelo et al., 2021).

Another limitation was that the Walden University Doctor of Business

Administration (DBA) guideline allows only 10 interview questions. The methodology

and design may have constituted a significant obstacle to the study (see Munthe-Kaas et
al., 2019). The interview protocol of this study consisted of 10 questions. The final

question was an open-ended question that allowed participants to provide additional
information that had not yet been covered. The other nine questions addressed the
phenomenon under study, which might not have been sufficient to cover all relevant
aspects of the phenomenon.

Delimitations

Researchers set delimitations to make the study feasible (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). The first delimitation of the current study was that only community banks managers and senior staff who had successfully implemented strategies to reduce the adverse effects of increasing regulations compliance costs on the banks' performance participated in this study. The second delimitation was that because of the time and costs associated with managing a large sample size, I used a small sample size.

Significance of the Study

Community bank managers face challenges improving their firm's performance and meeting set goals. One of the challenges is reducing the negative impact of increasing financial regulations on the firm's operation (L. Zhao et al., 2021).

Community banks added between 0.6 and 1.6 new employees to handle regulatory compliance after the Dodd-Frank Act (Killins et al., 2019). The total noninterest expenses for the banking system increased from \$58.7 billion to \$86.1 billion per year after the passage of the Dodd-Frank Act (Hogan & Burns, 2019). Such expenses hinder the community bank's functioning and leads to its inability to improve performance and meet set goals. The current study's findings may help community bank managers develop and implement new strategies that could improve performance and profitability within business operations.

Contribution to Business Practice

This research may identify successful strategies community bank managers use to optimize their organization's resources to reduce the negative effects of increasing financial regulations compliance costs on the organization's operation. Community bank failures decrease neighborhood lending making it difficult for small businesses to obtain loans (Toussaint-Comeau et al., 2020). The current study may add to the existing literature on strategic management. The findings of this study may suggest alternative approaches community bank managers could implement to identify strategic resources. Improving the use of strategic resources may lead to offsetting increasing costs associated with complying with financial regulations. This study's findings may be a resource for

business process improvements because they may help community bank managers find and leverage a firm's VRIO resources. Further, community bank managers may use the findings of this study to develop organization-wide models to determine how a new financial regulation impacts each aspect of the firm's operation and the most effective resource the firm owns.

Implications for Social Change

This study's findings may strengthen the community bank system because community bank managers have additional strategies to maximize profit. A robust community bank system may lead to positive social change because community banks are responsible for the majority of bank business loans to start a new business or expand an existing business (Mencken & Tolbert, 2018; Thampy & Tiwary, 2021). Community banks increase credit availability in local areas, which raises the propensity of residents to engage in entrepreneurial activities. New businesses reduce unemployment for local residents, which improves the living conditions of the population. Furthermore, the crime rate tends to be lower in communities with a high employment rate (Carlson, 2020). A community bank that reports higher profits has more capabilities to sponsor its community's improvement initiatives such as granting scholarships or donating equipment to local schools. Community banks may contribute to positive social change of local communities.

Community banks operate within local communities and contribute to the economic growth of these communities by providing capital to small businesses, local citizens, and farmers (Carlson, 2020). Community banks also develop personalized

services to customers and extend loans that credit-centered larger financial institutions do not (Carlson, 2020). Local financial development is significant for small firms because they suffer from difficulties accessing credit (Arcuri & Levratto, 2020). Implementing strategies that reduce the negative impact of financial regulations compliance costs on operation may enhance community banks' contributions and participation in the communities' educational, cultural, and environmental developments. A community bank that reports higher performance and profitability is more inclined to donate financial assistance to communities and focus on each small business's individual needs (Dunn et al., 2019). Additionally, the current study may provide community bank managers with strategic management skills that could be useful for decision making regarding matters pertaining to improving local communities.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this literature review was to identify relevant and significant literature about strategies community bank managers use to mitigate increasing financial regulations compliance costs. The specific business problem was that some community bank managers lack strategies to mitigate increasing financial regulations compliance costs. Community bank managers understand that inner resources are the most valuable assets, and they must rely on the good use of these resources to negate the effect of increasing financial regulations compliance costs on the bank's operation. The research of the problem statement was examined through the literature review by conducting a critical analysis and synthesis of scholarly sources. The first part of the literature review consists of a review of the study's conceptual framework. Second, a discussion of the

magnitude of the phenomenon is provided. Third, I compare and contrast ideologies related to the themes associated with the problem statement.

Journal articles used for the literature review were peer reviewed. Databases such as ProQuest Central, AIB/Inform, and Business Source Complete were used to search articles. Search strings included keywords and phrases such as *resource based-view*, *resource-based theory*, *community bank*, *regulation*, *compliance*, *strategic management*, and *financial crisis*. The literature review contained 110 sources, with 104 of those sources being peer reviewed. Therefore, 94% of the total sources used were peer reviewed. Of the 104 sources that were peer reviewed, 99 had a publication date less than 5 years from the anticipated study completion date, representing 95% of the total sources. Themes derived from the literature included (a) resource-based view, (b) Dodd-Frank Act, (c) competitive advantage, (d) performance measurements, (e) regulation and compliance, (f) and community bank operation.

Resource-Based View Theory

Many researchers used RBV theory as a conceptual framework to develop strategies that improve a firm's profit (Freeman et al., 2021; Irfan et al., 2021; Radu & Cornelia, 2020). Higher profitability is attainable when a firm achieves a competitive advantage. The effective use of resources is the approach firms use to achieve a competitive advantage. Resources are assets a firm needs to produce goods and services. As its name indicates, RBV theory fosters a firm's resources and allows for a comprehensive review of its resources. Strategic and nonstrategic resources emerge from

the review and inform managers' path in creating a sustainable competitive advantage to outperform other firms (Freeman et al., 2021).

Part of an organization's success depends on the effective use of the resources. Originally, RBV was a perspective in strategic management. Initially referred to as resource-based theory, RBV theory has become a leading paradigm in the strategic management field, predicting how profit-maximizing firms operate (Freeman et al., 2021; Greve, 2021). The resource-based approach requires companies to develop competitive advantages through internal resources that are rare and difficult to imitate (Freeman et al., 2021; Irfan et al., 2021; Radu & Cornelia, 2020). These internal resources include intangible and tangible resources and are grouped into three categories: physical, human, and organizational capital (Irfan et al., 2021). The fundamental premise of the RBV theory is that companies create value and compete through resources that are unique, rare, and difficult to imitate (Radu & Cornelia, 2020). These resources underlie and determine a firm's capacity (Lukovszki et al., 2021). Nagano (2020) argued that the RBV theory is a single framework that encompasses both metaphysical and empirical perspectives within strategic management and provides firms with practical options.

RBV theory was an alternative concept to Porter's positioning school, which focuses on firms' external environment (Nagano, 2020). Wernerfelt (1984) initiated RBV theory in the mid-1980s, and Barney (1991, as cited in Hiroko, 2020) elaborated on its principals. Barney's argument regarding RBV emphasized that if a firm acquires rare and valuable resources due to its unique historical path, it is able to exploit those resources to implement value-creating strategies that other firms cannot duplicate (Nagano, 2020).

Since its inception, RBV theory has gone through a three-phase evolution. The first evolutionary phase identified internal resources to build competitive advantages (Nagano, 2020). Barney posited that four empirical indicators, including valuable, rare, imperfectly imitable, and nonsubstitutable, characterize individual resources to generate sustained competitive advantages (Nagano, 2020). During the second phase, researchers focused on enhancing internal complementarity within firms and developed the concepts of core competence and capability as additional characteristics of internal resources (Nagano, 2020). In the third phase of RBV theory's evolution, researchers stipulated that firms would gain a competitive advantage by reinforcing their dynamic capabilities (Nagano, 2020).

On the 30th anniversary of RBV theory, Barney (2021) provided a perspective on the evolution of this theory. Although the founders of RBV theory did not anticipate that RBV theory would emerge as a significant theory in strategic management, this theory has become a prominent theory within the strategic management field over the past 30 years (Barney, 2021; Davis & DeWitt, 2021). The emergence of RBV theory resulted from its focus on competitive advantage, which is a business status that companies seek to achieve. The constant pursuit of competitive advantage has led RBV theory to become a leading theory within the strategic management field.

Several authors have questioned the validity of RBV theory. Some have asked whether RBV theory is a theory or a view, while others have inquired about the role of stakeholders within RBV theory and whether RBV theory constitutes a theory of the firm or acknowledges industry structure's role in explaining firm performance (Barney et al.

2021). Additionally, researchers have had concerns regarding RBV theory's managerial impact and whether the theory incorporates uncertainty (Barney et al., 2021).

Further, some have claimed that RBV theory is tautological (Barney et al., 2021). Barney et al. (2021) addressed these questions and argued that RBV theory stems from research trying to explain why some firms outperform others, and the dependent variables include competitive advantage, performance, and sustainability. Along the same line, Davis and DeWitt (2021) argued that the goal of RBV theory is to explain firms' actions and why some perform better than others. RBV theory hypothesizes that firms are bundles of resources and capabilities; managers' role is to bundle resources and capabilities that create economic value for a firm (Barney et al., 2021).

According to Barney et al. (2021), it is semantically correct to label RBV theory a theory or a view because researchers and practitioners use these terms interchangeably. RBV theory is not tautological because this theory claims that firms with a competitive advantage sustain it when the resources and capabilities they possess are socially complex, path dependent, or causally ambiguous (Barney et al., 2021). RBV theory is not a static theory because it calls for the dynamic integration of heterogeneous resources to achieve a competitive advantage, and stakeholders are an integral part of RBV theory because stakeholders make resources and capabilities available to a firm that are not part of creating superior economic value (Barney et al., 2021). Finally, Barney et al. explained that RBV theory has substantial managerial implications because the theory aligns with core strategic management prescriptive objectives.

Arsalan and Ali (2020) conducted a study with 364 small- and medium-size enterprises (SMEs) to examine their ability to improve foreign activities performance. Arsalan and Ali used RBV theory to analyze internal resources because this theory holds that resources and capabilities are the primary competitive strategy that helps position companies at the top and affects their performance. SMEs' strategic resources include proficiencies, organizational procedures, knowledge, corporate attributes, data, and managerial and organizational determinants.

Organization differentiation is a resource that could lead to achieving a competitive advantage. According to Greve (2021), RBV theory prescribes that an organization should be different from its competitors, create a dependent path, and have a complex social mechanism to achieve a competitive advantage. Possessing untransferable knowledge and learning provides a unique position that strengthens organizational differences and increases sustainable competitive advantage as similar firms produce temporary advantages (Greve, 2021). In Tehran, Zahra et al. (2021) used RBV theory to identify unique resources for companies participating in the stock exchange. Zahra et al. found that traits related to past business, organizational culture, and employees' skills are distinct resources on which managers should strategize to achieve a competitive advantage. Organizations' resources do not contribute the same proportion-improving performance because the company resources are not strategically equal (Zahra et al., 2021).

In a study conducted in Bali, Sukaatmadja et al. (2021) used RBV theory to investigate how SMEs can improve innovation to achieve a competitive advantage.

Sukaatmadja et al. noted that these SMEs have struggled to increase their marketing performance in the past few years. The results suggested that SMEs can achieve a competitive advantage with product innovation. Innovative products result from rare, unique, and intangible resources that outperform competitors. RBV theory is the lens through which SMEs could identify such resources that competitors do not have (Sukaatmadja et al., 2021). Burt and Soda (2021) argued that RBV theory guided their study that identified the networking capabilities of the firm as a conception of competitive advantage. Relationships and connections among employees constitute valuable resources for organizations to pursue a strategy. Burt and Soda posited that networking ensures knowledge transfer across management networks, and integrated operations are sustainable and difficult to imitate.

Researchers have applied the RBV theory framework to identify critical resources for start-up companies. Abdulaziz (2019) conducted an empirical study to investigate the critical resource determinants of start-up companies in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region. New ventures in this region lack capital to finance new business ventures. Abdulaziz used RBV theory to detect strategic resources start-up companies in the MENA region can exploit to enhance their firms' competitiveness, growth, and expansion. The results suggested that electricity and credit are critical resources that start-up companies in the MENA region need to survive and expand. According to Abdulaziz, RBV theory holds that a firm's competitive advantage lies in the availability of internal resources and capabilities that are valuable, rare, inimitable, and nonsubstitutable. These resources are intangible and tangible. Intangible resources include human capital,

organizational processes, and information. Tangible resources include financial resources, buildings, and equipment. Based on RBV theory, unique resources led to a competitive advantage. Therefore, managers of start-ups in the MENA region should strategize on unique resources.

Utilizing RBV theory, Yuen et al. (2019) conducted a quantitative study to identify critical success factors of supply chain integration in the container shipping industry. The study was carried out to rescue the failing container shipping industry. There was a need to identify the critical success factors and examine their influence on the supply chain integration and supply chain performance (Yuen et al., 2019). The findings aligned with RBV theory, which suggests that a shipping firm's resources or capabilities provide a sustained competitive advantage in the market. Managers of the container shipping industry companies should improve relationships with partners by fostering mutual dependence, trust, and commitment, and improving information management by investing in technologies or streamlined software with their partners (Yuen et al., 2019). Additionally, these managers could focus on improving organizational commitment through initializing organizational change management, thereby recognizing long-term profitability; establishing a reward system for identifying, measuring, and distributing the benefits from collaboration to encourage staff participation, training, and education; and establishing a task force to encourage supply chain partnership (Yuen et al., 2019). Yuen et al. implemented RBV theory to classify interfirm resources, interfirm relationship management resources, and organizational

learning resources as the three sustainability resources that contribute to sustainable shipping management.

Thi et al. (2020) conducted a comparative study to identify the antecedents of sustainable shipping management and their effect on the performance of shipping companies. Thi et al. used RBV theory as the theoretical framework and found five antecedents as having significant effects on the effectiveness of sustainable shipping management. These antecedents included stakeholders' focus, strategic orientation, supply chain collaboration, sustainability resource development, and sustainable technology development. Shipping companies should foster these resources to improve performance.

Irfan et al. (2021) employed RBV theory to conceptualize the determinants of green entrepreneurial behaviors to identify the role of entrepreneurship education in environmental sustainability. Firms are bound to grow, and RBV theory helps them identify the principles that help them grow fast and understand how long they can grow (Irfan et al., 2021). The findings revealed that RBV theory should be incorporated into entrepreneurship education because entrepreneurs need to identify critical resources to build sustainable start-ups (Irfan et al., 2021).

Although several scholars have demonstrated that RBV theory is the lens through which firms can identify their strategic resources, others have suggested that RBV theory alone is insufficient for this task. Davis and DeWitt (2021) claimed that RBV theory is not part of the organization theory. Therefore, firms should integrate the organizational theory and organizational behaviors to identify resources for a competitive advantage.

The organization theory should serve as a tool to determine resources that are rare, nonimitable, and nonsubstitutable (Davis & DeWitt, 2021).

RBV theory applied to the current study because community banks have limited capital compared to larger banks. The limited access to capital forces community banks to look for internal funds to resolve the challenges they face. The increasing costs of financial regulations compliance are becoming a burden for community banks.

Community banks have been reduced to strategizing on internal resources. Through RBV theory, community banks can identify their valuable, rare, imperfectly imitable, and nonsubstitutable resources. Once a firm determines its strategic resources, it can develop and implement strategies that improve, change, or create processes that lead to offering unique value to its customers (Dyer et al., 2020). Additionally, within the RBV theory framework, community bank managers can learn to allocate the resources necessary to build a competitive advantage despite the heavy costs associated with rising financial regulations compliance.

Banking Regulations

The banking industry has evolved through experiments and unintentional innovations. One of the elements that caused this evolution is the rise in great societal expectations in many countries (Chwieroth & Walter, 2017). These expectations moved from a low level of effective societal demand for financial protection to significant needs for greater assurance regarding employment, income, and economic and social protection (Chwieroth & Walter, 2017). Accominotti (2019) explored the role of cross-border banking in the 1931 financial crisis and concluded that regulations in international

lending and the banking structure for a country are critical in absorbing shocks imported from abroad.

Central banks were created to provide greater protection to society. The world's first central bank was the Sveriges Riksbank. Sveriges Riksbank was founded in 1668 with responsibilities including managing the supply of physical currency, lending to the government and private banking sector, and conducting open market operations (Williamson, 2020). Between 1863 and 1913, the national banking system controlled the economic structure of the United States before the founding of the Federal Reserve in 1913 (Newman, 2018). Based on the bankers' almanac data, over 2000 commercial banks participated in international banking by the year 1935 (Panza & Merrett, 2019). The internationalization of banks' balance sheets, banking crises, the evolution of capitalism, and the end of the Bretton Woods system marked the 1970s and 1988s and triggered the need for extensive banking regulations (Drach, 2019). The three agencies that oversee the banking industry in the United States include the Federal Reserve Board also known as the Federal Reserve, the FDIC, and the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) (Carlson, 2020).

The literature stresses the importance of banking regulation frameworks (Alam et al., 2019). Banking regulations have different effects on bank businesses. These differences in effects are observed at the nations' level. Established policies in each country contribute to the variety of ways banking regulations impact financial institutions. Nikulin and Downing (2021) conducted a study in Russia to explore the impact of changes in banking regulations on earnings management and capital

management. The results of this study suggested that banks used fewer loan-loss provisions post the changes in regulations because many institutions could not abide by the loan-loss provisions' requirements (Nikulin & Downing, 2021).

Additionally, the change in banking regulations caused the number of banks in Russia to decrease from 1108 in 2009 to 589 in 2017 (Nikulin & Downing, 2021). In Asian countries, banks diversified their income resources to adhere to Basel II regulations but met challenges to diversify funding and asset structure because of compliance costs increase associated with the new banking regulations (Oktofa, 2021). In Indonesia, the stimulus regulations, and the creation of Fintech after the 2015 global economic crisis, improved the region's banking services and prevented external crisis (Nur & Rahmatina, 2019). Although banking regulations frameworks create a secure environment for safe and sound business transactions, Alam et al. (2019) argued that these frameworks adversely affect banks by reducing profitability, increasing intermediation costs, and impairing banks' performance. For example, the Basel III pillars significantly improved the performance of banks from the South/Southeast Asian (SSA) region, including Malaysia, Indonesia, Bangladesh, and Pakistan. In contrast, Islamic banks in the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) region experienced plummeting performance (Alam et al., 2019).

Researchers have also focused on the importance of banking regulations. Boyer and Kempf (2020) classified financial regulations as a public intervention to fix market failures. Several financial regulations covering all aspects of the financial markets were enacted following the 2008 financial crisis. Some banking regulations aimed at altering

financial behaviors between creditors and investors. The Basel capital adequacy rule encouraged financial institutions executives to move away from speculative lending, that contributed to the 2008 financial crisis, and adopt green investment lending (Raberto et al., 2019). According to Morgan (2020), banking regulations have four primary goals: microprudential regulation, macroprudential regulation, resolution capacity, deposit insurance, and a financial safety net. The current global financial integration trend calls for banking regulations to foster markets stability. Scholars recognize the pivotal role of banking regulations in improving financial institutions' performance, profitability and protecting individuals against highly volatile assets. However, it is essential not to neglect the adverse effects these regulations have on banks.

Financial Regulatory Compliance Cost

Regulatory interference is a common phenomenon in the banking industry (Erzurumlu & Ucardag, 2021). The goal of regulating the banking and finance industry is to create an equal income distribution for the public interest (Manish & O'Reilly, 2019). The 2008 financial crisis resulted in significant changes to bank capital requirements. These changes included a new risk-weighted framework for larger banks, stress tests, buffers, the total loss-absorbing capacity, and global systemically important bank surcharge requirements (Markoulis et al., 2020; Walter, 2019). Atellu et al. (2021) asserted that financial regulations contribute to financial stability; however, there is a tradeoff with increased regulations because they generate higher implicit costs that negatively affect the growth of financial institutions and reduce their ability to provide financial resources. For instance, basel III regulatory framework enhances bank stability

on the one hand, but on the other hand, this framework increases banks' compliance expenses (Atellu et al., 2021).

Pilková et al. (2021) recognized the positive impact of financial regulations on creating a coherent, safe and sound financial market but warned of the massive increase in regulatory change costs associated with new regulations. Balani (2019) conducted a study on the United States banks to assess the effect of anti-money laundering regulations on bank stock valuations. The findings suggested that the United States banks implemented new processes to accommodate anti-money laundering, which increased operations costs and the compliance burden on banks (Balani, 2019). According to Michael et al. (2021), a tsunami of new regulations followed the 2008 crisis. Consequently, financial institutions hired compliance firms to navigate the complexity of the new regulations. Banks inevitably incurred additional compliance costs by recruiting compliance experts, financial firms' lawyers, auditors, and external advisors (Michael et al., 2021). Furthermore, Poshakwale et al. (2020) used the statutory audit and corporate reporting directives to examine the impact of regulations on compliance costs, risk-taking and reporting quality of the European Union banks. The results suggested that while the quality of financial reporting improved, compliance costs increased substantially for smaller banks compared to the larger ones (Poshakwale et al., 2020).

The passage of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 inflicted higher compliance costs to all firms with publicly traded equity or debt in the United States (Bhabra, & Rooney, 2019; Wintoki & Xi, 2019). The Sarbanes-Oxley Act required institutions to increase the presence of outside directors for stricter monitoring (Wintoki & Xi, 2019). Complying

with this rule meant that banks must hire additional personnel, which increased their salary and compliance expenditures. Additionally, banks diverted funds away from investments to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act's provisions (Bhabra & Rooney, 2019). Banks spend more complying with section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act than they benefit from its provisions because of excessive internal labor costs, external consulting, technology expenses, and auditor attestation costs needed for implementation (Fischer et al., 2020).

Additional costs associated with financial regulations compliance have caused misreporting of financial statements. The reason is that financial institutions that lack the capabilities to implement new regulations do not have adequate information. Therefore, these institutions' financial picture is either inflated or deflated. In Nigeria, for example, (Idowu & Tijani, 2020) found that erroneous financial statements have generated a significant problem called audit reporting lag. The audit reporting lag refers to the timeframe required to audit a financial firm, which has drastically increased because of misreporting (Idowu & Tijani, 2020).

Several financial institutions invest in regulatory technology to manage increasing financial regulations compliance costs. Schaub (2021) reported that "Global spending on regulatory technology is projected to grow at a compounded annual growth rate of 290 percent over the next four years as financial services firms seek effective and efficient solutions to costly and complex compliance challenges" (p. 78). Overall, the literature is unanimous that financial regulations increase compliance costs.

Community Bank: Overview

Community banks are financial institutions that are small in asset size.

Community banks focus on providing traditional banking services in their local communities, and obtain deposits mostly from local businesses (Carlson, 2020). Nguyen and Barth (2020) compared community banks to non-community banks and concluded that community banks provide a higher percentage of small business funding to communities than non-community banks. McKee and Kagan (2018) claimed that frequent changes in regulations had affected how community banks offer services. Due to the burden associated with the Volcker rule, regulatory agencies decided to remove this rule from the small banks reporting requirements (Crabb, 2018).

Noticing the challenges community banks face to improve performance, Gehrke (2019) conducted a qualitative case study focusing on the process of selecting a chief executive officer. The results suggested that the selection of a successful chief executive officer for a community bank should be based on the initial vision of the candidate, intentional communication during the transition, cultural fit of a successor, and trusting relationships (Gehrke, 2019). Strategically selecting human resources allows firms to avoid the risk of adverse or unintended consequences (Gehrke, 2019). The hiring process is a critical strategy that community banks can use to improve performance because human capital is an internal resource that plays a significant role in improving and sustaining performance. A qualified chief executive officer helps the bank mitigate the negative impact of regulatory burdens on the bank's performance. Drawing on RBV theory, Cher-Min and Hsing-Hua (2021) claimed that a firm could acquire desired

managerial resources and develop internal capabilities necessary for global competition. Based on RBV theory, the managerial human capital and managerial social capital of top management constitute an essential organizational resource that can critically shape a firm performance and serve as a market signal of firm quality to investors (Cher-Min &Hsing-Hua, 2021).

The role and purpose of community banks have attracted several scholars.

Thampy and Tiwary (2021) explored the impact of local banks on manufacturing growth by focusing on their lending strategies and whether these banks design loans based on customers' needs. The findings indicated that local banks have a significant impact on manufacturing growth in the region they serve because they provide customized loans that effectively address the specific needs of business owners (Thampy & Tiwary, 2021).

Small business owners heavily depend on loans from community banks to survive and grow their businesses (Girish et al., 2021). This dependency led Toussaint-Comeau et al. (2020) to examine the impact of bank closings on credit extension to businesses in low-income and minority neighborhoods. A substantial number of banks closures followed the 2008 financial crisis. Using the data from the housing and urban development, the FDIC summary of deposits database and the census American community survey, Toussaint-Comeau et al. (2020) found that small businesses have difficulties obtaining credits because of community banks closures. Small business lendings in neighborhoods significantly declined after the 2008 financial crisis causing a decrease in small business growth and the creation of credit void (Toussaint-Comeau et

al., 2020). Community banks ensure the success of small businesses through specialized loans they develop for these businesses.

Promoting financial inclusion is another relevant role that community banks play (Girish et al., 2021). Financial inclusion refers to providing affordable credit and financial support to the minority. Addressing the financial needs of minorities is beneficial to the economy because it reduces poverty (Girish et al., 2021). Moreover, community banks staff allocate time to educate communities about financial literacy, the use of technology, the benefits of prompt repayments, credit identity, cross-referencing, and financial stability (Girish et al., 2021).

Community banks appear more efficient than large banks. Almanidis et al. (2019) applied a dynamic stochastic frontier model with threshold effects to compare the performance level between larger and small banks. The data from the quarterly consolidated reports of condition and income yielded a sample size of 36,174 banks from 1984 to 2010. The frontier assumption showed that the largest banks are 22% less efficient than small banks (Almanidis et al., 2019).

Sedunov (2020) argued that small banks serve consumers better than their larger counterparts. Sedunov (2020) assessed the impact that small banks have on the community they serve and the level of customer satisfaction. Using county-level data from the consumer financial protection bureau (CFPB) from 2012 to 2017 and bank-level data from the federal deposit insurance corporation's (FDIC) summary of deposits and statistics on depository institutions, Sedunov (2020) conducted a regression analysis to test the following hypotheses: H10: A greater small bank presence decreases the number

of complaints filed with the CFPB. H11: A greater small bank presence increases the number of complaints filed with the CFPB. H20: Increased local banking market competition decreases the number of complaints filed with the CFPB. H21: Increased local banking market competition increases the number of complaints filed with the CFPB. The findings revealed fewer consumer complaints in counties with more small banks than larger banks (Sedunov, 2020). The results also suggested that small banks provide better services to customers and are more trusted by customers (Sedunov, 2020).

In Italy, community banks have a significant role in the national industry because they promote the communities, they serve by providing value for their members, encouraging social cohesion, and promoting sustainable growth (Aiello & Bonanno, 2018). Small banks are vital for the growth of small businesses; therefore, managers at these banks must develop strategies to improve and enhance community banks' performance.

Strategies community banks use to remain competitive and improve performance have been discussed in the literature. Stambaugh et al. (2020) posited that community banks use competitive aggressiveness to improve performance. This finding resulted from a study by Stambaugh et al. (2020) on community banks in Texas, New Mexico, and Oklahoma. Data were collected through a web-based survey instrument distributed to 590 community banks' senior decision-makers. Competitive aggressiveness is the ability to achieve a competitive advantage by challenging and monitoring competitors and talking about their strategies (Stambaugh et al., 2020). To achieve a competitive advantage and improve the firm's overall performance, managers should encourage

employees to scrutiny competitors' actions. Becoming competitively aggressive grows market shares.

Other community banks opt to merge with their peers to remain competitive and improve performance. Geyfman and Walker (2018) investigated the effect of mergers and acquisitions on community banks' operating performance, efficiency, and value creation. The findings suggested that mergers and acquisitions increase the operating performance of community banks (Geyfman & Walker, 2018). The study also highlighted that several community banks merged between 2010 and 2015 to mitigate the regulatory compliance costs associated with the plethora of regulations enacted after the financial crisis (Geyfman & Walker, 2018).

Banking Industry History and Future Trends

The banking industry has been evolving since Banca Monte Dei Paschi di Siena opened its doors in 1472, and innovative financial technology applications are expected to impact the future of banking (Broby, 2021). The national banking Act of 1863 and 1864 created large, interconnected bank networks that could pose a systematic risk during a financial crisis (Anderson et al., 2019). In the 1930s, correspondent banking in London and New York facilitated global credit and debit transactions (Panza & Merrett, 2019). Lending decisions based on macroeconomic indicators such as competition, market liquidity, and the political environment caused the 1982 debt crisis (Altamura & Zendejas, 2020).

The current banking industry is on the verge of significant changes.

Sedaghatparast (2019) posited that information technology, skilled employees, customers

focus, diversified services, organizational structures, and foresight matter in the future of banking. Broby (2021) drew on the theory of banking and the literature on digital transformation to illustrate how financial technology disintermediates the banking sector. Bricks-and-mortar branches will decline in the future, while mobile banking and robotic banking will soar (Broby, 2021).

According to Stulz (2019), the number of banks has declined from 10,453 to less than 5,000, and traditional financial institutions will be nonexistent by 2030. Disruptive technologies such as the Internet and new digital business models like FinTech and bigTech aredriving forces of the changing nature of banking, and technology would enhance the delivery of banking services and reduce the cost of their delivery (Broby, 2021; Stulz, 2019). FinTech firms are mainly a threat to banks because they conduct banking activities while not subject to banking regulations (Stulz, 2019). As such, FinTech firms attract banks' customers because they offer services at low costs (Stulz, 2019). Mobile, Internet, information and communication technology would positively impact banking profitability, namely, the return on assets (Del Gaudio et al., 2021).

Regulatory technology, also known as regtech, is a new concept coined after the myriad of regulations enacted following the 2008 financial crisis (Gozman et al., 2020). Regtech, such as blockchain technology, aims at erasing the increasing burden of regulatory compliance. Gozman et al. (2020) explained that the cost of compliance increases because new regulations interfere with the model already established to ensure data consistency, granularity, formats, lineage, and reconciliation. For example, if the applications in place are not programmed to intake decimals, and the new regulations

introduce a data item that should be reported in decimals, the bank would have to alter the software application or invest in new applications to comply with the new regulation. Blockchain technology facilitates data reporting by creating datasets compatible with most downstream systems and applications. The banking industry is heading to sophisticated technologies that would make banks more profitable by reducing regulatory compliance costs. However, it is worth noting that until the technologies resolve the burden associated with increasing regulations compliance costs, banks' managers should develop approaches to mitigate these costs.

Compliance and Regulations

Financial regulations are critical to stabilizing the banking system. The framework to develop sound regulations is complex. To help regulatory agencies in creating effective bank regulations, Arch (2020) identified seven guiding principles.

These principles include the legitimacy of the regulators, and of the regulations, the placing and accepting of trust, limits to the effectiveness of codified, formal regulation, promote simplicity and discourage complexity, have a broad rather than a narrow conception of what drives individual behavior within the regulatory process, encourage the development of excellence in banking, the political and social objectives of regulation and competition must prevail over economic ones. Financial regulations that follow these principles provide greater securitization to financial institutions and consumers.

The effects of financial regulations on a firm's performance continue to be a dominant topic in business literature. Oino (2019) conducted a study focusing on transparency and disclosure within financial institutions and concluded that both increase

the financial performance of financial institutions. Furthermore, Oino asserted that financial regulations aid in improving a bank's financial performance because financial regulations require disclosure and transparency in managerial affairs. Using a sample of 20 financial institutions and applying the principal component analysis, Isaiah (2019) confirmed that greater transparency, disclosure, auditing, compliance with financial regulations, and risk management positively affect the financial performance of financial institutions.

Financial regulations also reduce scams and fraudulent activities. Financial regulations ensure that banks provide sustained financial services to small businesses and instill confidence in the industry (Quartey & Kotey, 2019). Boyer and Kempf (2020) examined the efficiency of banking regulations under financial integration and showed support and the necessity of having financial regulations. According to Boyer and Kempf, taxes on banks' profits and liquidity are the foundation of most financial regulations, and the latter are not instruments to drive banks out of business but to solidify their operations. Amin and Abdul-Rahman (2020) used the private interest theory to study the role of banking regulations on banks' liquidity risk management from 2000 to 2014 and discovered a double effect of regulations on liquidity risk. While capital requirements heighten liquidity risk in banking, the restriction on banking activities impedes liquidity risk. However, regulations are still essential to influence risk-taking incentives in banking, which is why effective regulatory mechanisms must be in place to secure the stable and long-term viability of the financial system (Amin & Abdul-Rahman, 2020).

However, several regulations have adversely impacted community banks. The current expected credit losses (CECL) rule making is a financial regulation published by the financial accounting standards board in 2018. CECL applies to all banks and stipulates that banks should increase their allowance for credit loss. Willi (2020) noted that CECL significantly affects banks' loans, and its adverse effect is more observed with small banks. Implementing CECL increases compliance costs for small banks. The reason is that small banks need actual data to calculate future losses as prescribed by the new regulation. Additionally, by increasing credit loss allowance, the lending capability of small banks is threatened (Willi, 2020). If small banks cannot extend loans, their performance will drastically decrease. Consequently, these banks will be unable to meet their objective of supporting local businesses and communities.

Another legislation that negatively impacted community banks is the community reinvestment act (CRA). This Act restricted community banks from reaching out to customers outside their assessment areas. CRA's new requirement has reduced community banks' lending boundaries by significantly decreasing the number of community banks' customers (O'Connor, 2019). By essence, community banks are already small banks with limited market shares. Reducing their market shares further reduces their profit margins which drives many out of business. Because of the CRA Act, community banks must change their business strategies and enhance compliance to avoid redlining by the Department of Justice. Enhancing compliance comes with additional costs on the bank's technology and human resources. O'Connor (2019) posited that the lack of resources and funds makes it challenging for community banks to adjust their

business strategies, models, risk tolerances, products' scope, pricing, terms, and conditions to sustain competition. Moreover, community banks do not have the flexibility to open branches, acquire other banks, or hire staff, such as loan officers, to improve performance (O'Connor, 2019). Overall, CRA poses compliance burdens on community banks and negatively impacts their ability to improve performance.

In 2008, the world experienced a significant economic recession. Former President Barack Obama's administration enacted the Dodd-Frank Wall Street reform and consumer protection act on July 21, 2010, as the United States'. response to this financial downturn. The Dodd-Frank Act consists of 848 pages, 16 titles and acts, 225 new rules amongst 11 agencies (Richardson, 2012). According to Spano (2021), the Dodd-Frank Act (a) created the bureau of consumer financial protection to monitor financial regulation from credit card charges to home loan interest rates, (b) enhanced consumer and investor safeguard by giving the FDIC the power to dismantle the complex operations of large financial companies, (c) resolved challenges associated with the mortgage lending industry, (d) build back citizens' confidence in the banking industry, (f) control top executives compensation and (e) improve coordination and eliminate gaps between financial regulators.

The Dodd-Frank Act brought significant changes to the banking system in the USA, affecting the operations and performance of community banks. Shen and Hartarska (2018) found that derivatives usage in community banks successfully reduced the sensitivity of their profitability to on-balance sheet credit risk and interest rate risk. The Volcker rule imposed proportionally higher regulatory compliance costs on community

banks. Consequently, community banks had fewer incentives to use derivatives after the 2008 financial crisis. Hogan and Burns (2019) noted that a 2012 survey by the American banker's association (ABA) concluded that the Dodd-Frank Act imposed daunting new compliance, operational, and recordkeeping burdens on all banks. For example, noninterest expenses for the banking system are higher by more than \$50 billion per year than before the Dodd-Frank Act, and non-salary, noninterest expenses showed a one-time increase following Dodd-Frank (Hogan & Burns, 2019).

There have been disagreements in the literature concerning the impact of regulations on firms' development. Some researchers argued that regulation impedes companies' development; others believe the opposite. Loha and Philipp (2020) investigated the effect of financial regulation on the development of distributed ledger technology firms and found that financial regulation can be ambiguous as it can enable and constrain a firm's development. Although a minimum regulatory framework out of which the companies operate legally is necessary, policymakers should be cautious of not surpassing the regulations (Loha & Philipp, 2020). Furthermore, minimum regulations pave the path for entrepreneurs to operate, while excessive regulations are presumed to stifle innovation and stop entrepreneurs from testing their most innovative ideas (Loha & Philipp, 2020).

Strategic Management

Strategic management consists of the organization's planning and choices managers and executives undertake. These plans and choices cover organizational leadership, behavior, politics, and culture (Bromiley & Rau, 2022). Managers and

executives in all industry sectors and organization sizes implement strategic management for different reasons. Some use this practice to improve organizational performance, while it helps others sustain and grow the business. Strategic management is often used to implement organizational change or innovative ideas and appears as the ultimate framework for resolving organizational 'issues or setting up a firm's new direction. This field helps explain why organizations perform better than others and the factors contributing to organizational success (Bagis, 2020).

Peter Drucker, Alfred Chandler, Philip Selznick, and Igor Ansoff introduced the concept of strategic management (Karimli, 2020). Drucker's perspectives limited strategic management to workers' intellectual capital and capabilities to setting goals and working with these goals (Karimli, 2020). The strategic management field has been evolving at a fast pace. This field is part of social sciences and includes economics, sociology, and system and organization theory (Belás et al., 2021; Karimli, 2020). Since its inception, scholars have developed many views to explain the strategic management phenomenon. These views include the resource-based view, natural resource-based view, knowledge-based view, dynamic capabilities, attention-based view, relational view, strategy as a practice, and institution-based view (Bagis, 2021). According to Bagis (2020), economy, psychology, and sociology theories contributed to the foundation of strategic management from 2000 to 2020. Between 2000 and 2010, the debates around strategic management focused on cognition, motivation, human resources management, human capital, managers, and individuals (Bagis, 2020). From 2011 to 2020, topics such

as acquisition and mergers, psychology, and entrepreneurship dominated strategic management studies (Bagis, 2020).

Three main periods prior to 2000 explain steps in the development of strategic management (Karimli, 2020). First is the period of strategic planning, which spans from 1960 and 1980; second is the period of competition strategy from 1980 to 1990; the last period, which started in the 1990s, fosters strategy understanding based on core competencies (Karimli, 2020). In the second period, Michael Porter introduced new influential strategic management concepts, including five power analysis, generic strategies, and value chain (Karimli, 2020). Porter's five power analysis model gained tremendous attraction among business practitioners because it helped managers strategize on the five forces that lead to a competitive advantage strategy (Albu et al., 2019). These five forces are the threat of new entrants, bargaining power of suppliers, threat of substitute products, and rivalry among existing competitors (Albu et al., 2019).

Researchers have adopted strategic management to explain, forecast, and implement phenomena in all disciplines and industry sectors. Shvardak (2021) used strategic management to identify priority areas for the quality training system for future heads of education. The findings suggested that the system of training future heads of education should adapt to changes in the external environment, maximize the use of internal resources, use modern technologies of pedagogical management, and modernize existing strategies (Shvardak, 2021). Utilizing strategic management tools, Simionescu and Todorut (2018) posited that elements influencing a manager's performance include self-mastery, self-awareness, social discernment, and social skills. Regarding

organization's performance, Tolici (2021) stressed that organizations that adopt a strategic management approach fostering human capital, organizational culture, leadership, work environment, learning, change, and innovation, outperform those that do not. Strategic management is a popular tool in implementing open innovation. Bogers et al. (2019) conducted a study on the process corporates employ to pursue open innovation initiatives successfully and found that dynamic capabilities, one of the strategic management perspectives, guides firms through this process by helping identify the initiative's benefits limits, and risks. George et al. (2019) acknowledged that strategic planning improves organizational performance in private and public sectors using a meta-regression analysis.

According to Paun and Pinzaru (2021), the pillars of strategic management are resilience, agility, and sustainability. The strategic management of organizational resilience (SMOR) model comprises transparent communication with employees, customers, and suppliers, continuous training in new tools and processes, financial adjustments, and resource reallocation (De Moura et al., 2021). Sustainability in strategic management helps managers reach essential benefits such as protecting the corporate brand and risks mitigation, a new competitive advantage, opportunities of the new growth markets for sustainable goods, and positive changes driven by cooperation (Paun & Pinzaru, 2021). One way to successfully implement sustainability management is to factor in the impact of the environment, society, and government (ESG). Such integration of ESG creates values through top-line growth, cost reductions, and reduced regulatory and legal interventions (Paun & Pinzaru, 2021).

Several scholars have researched the influence of emotion in strategic management. The nonconscious influence of emotions, emotion regulation, and collective emotions are emotion constructs that influence strategic management (Brundin et al., 2020). Additionally, emotion affects decision-making and risk propensity, and happy managers in urgent situations produce fewer original and feasible strategic ideas, and sad managers make better quality decisions (Brundin et al., 2020). Meissner et al. (2021) investigated the effect of anger on decision quality and decision speed and discovered that anger negatively influences decision quality in strategic decision making. Geddes and Lindebaum (2020) found that employees' emotion is a substantial element of strategic management and is regulated by motivational differences. Expressing happiness could be perceived as a motivational strategy, and anger could translate into a coaching tactic, an intimidation strategy, or an effort to fight workplace injustice (Geddes & Lindebaum, 2020). The feelings of fear and distress regulate the emotional intensity and should be considered in the strategic management paradigm (Argyriou & Lee, 2020). Since emotions play a pivotal role in strategic management, Wei et al. (2022) suggested a multimodal emotion recognition method based on an attention mechanism that focuses on human gestures, tone, facial expressions, and other aspects of conveying emotions.

Researchers have also investigated the issues that arise when implementing strategic management. The Turkish government has experienced issues such as human resource competence, lack of preparation plans and coordination, poor monitoring and evaluation, low level of stakeholders, lack of commitment, skipping or neglecting essential stages in the preparation of strategic plans such as meetings, internal and

external stakeholder analysis or surveys (Aydın et al., 2020). The challenges corporates encounter when implementing strategic management are big data, the high frequency of data updates, and the proliferation of social media channels (Zhong et al., 2020). Although these recent developments in information technology aim to facilitate decision-making, the massive amount of data and its constant changes pose a crucial problem to managers trying to make just-in-time decisions (Zhong et al., 2020).

Corporate Governance in the Banking Industry

Corporate governance affects the decision-making in organizations. Managers must consult with other stakeholders to implement new strategies. For a new strategy to succeed, managers seek to bring all influential participants on board. Community bank managers must navigate the intricacies of corporate governance to decide how to leverage the bank's inner resources to mitigate the increasing cost of regulatory compliance to enhance productivity and performance.

Corporate governance within the banking industry gained considerable traction after the 2008 global financial crisis. Many argued that discord among banks' management contributed to the financial crisis. Organizational conflicts are also responsible for banks' deficient performance, leading to them running out of business. Therefore, banks have sensible business structures and should follow unique corporate governance frameworks to prevent internal and external conflicts of interest. Gulati et al. (2020) argued that corporate governance for banks should be based on the benefit-of-the-doubt (BoD) approach and encapsulated six dimensions of corporate governance, including board effectiveness, audit function, risk management, remuneration,

shareholder rights and information, and disclosure and transparency. This framework prevents assigning arbitrary weight to the various composite of corporate governance. Conflicts may erupt if one or a few dimensions outweigh the governance. Effective corporate governance is where the power and authority are evenly distributed across participants.

Corporate governance is essential for banks' efficiency. Therefore, recent studies have investigated the relationship between corporate governance and bank productivity. Rashid et al. (2020) conducted a study in Bangladesh and examined the productivity of 30 banks. The results suggested that ownership structure and board characteristics significantly influence banks' productivity. Furthermore, banks' productivity improves when the interests of executives and shareholders are aligned (Rashid et al., 2020). Interest alignment is the primary purpose of corporate governance because its absence will create issues that would adversity impact the organizational productivity.

Zulfikar et al. (2020) used purposely sampling and showed that board characteristics such as the size, proportion of independence, experience, and the audit committee are the channels through which the board impacts the banks' productivity. The board monitors managers 'activities. Hence, having a large board equipped with experienced and independent members is advantageous in controlling and supervising managers' behaviors and preventing them from making risky decisions (Zulfikar et al., 2020).

Other researchers have focused their studies on the relationship between corporate governance and banks' performance. Almoneef and Samontaray (2019) examined this

relationship by measuring bank's performance through return on assets (ROA), return on equity (ROE), and Tobin's Q and corporate governance through the board characteristics such as size, meeting, number of committees, independence, foreign board membership, and an audit committee's size, meeting, and independence. The results showed that the aforementioned corporate governance factors positively impact ROA, ROE, and Tobin's Q leading to high performance (Almoneef & Samontaray, 2019).

Bhatia and Gulati (2021) reviewed 56 studies on corporate governance in the banking industry to investigate how the board size, CEO duality, outside directors, and female directors on board play a role in determining bank performance. The fundings indicated that banks with larger boards and a high proportion of outside and female directors post higher performance than banks that do not have these attributes (Bhatia & Gulati, 2021). Given the complexity of the banking business, it is imperative to have a strong board to ensure effective performance.

Brahmaiah and Sager (2020) used a sample of 34 commercial banks in India to examine the impact of corporate governance, board characteristics, performance, and asset quality. Setting the return on assets (ROA) and net non-performing assets (NNPA) as banks' performance measurements proved that the board size and the percentage of independent directors are positively correlated with ROA and NNPA (Brahmaiah & Sager, 2020). These results are consistent with prior studies discussed above, and researchers are anonymous that the board of directors plays a significant role in banks' governance (Almoneef & Samontaray, 2019; Bhatia & Gulati, 2021; Brahmaiah & Sager, 2020).

Competitive Advantage in the Banking Industry

Globalization coupled with the emergence of new technologies accelerated the need for banks to remain competitive. Companies are developing new and cheaper channels to raise and transfer funds. The world is becoming an interconnected global village where business transactions no longer require human presence. Banks of all sizes must adhere to the new business environment to remain competitive. Researchers have investigated approaches banks have implemented to sustain a competitive advantage.

Having a competitive advantage means offering superior products that competitors do not offer. Product differentiation is one of the ways companies manage to offer superior products. Product differentiation is attainable through innovation, creativity, and robust research and development within the company. Competitive advantage starts with a strategic management approach that identifies the problem and plans for the most effective solution.

Sardjono et al. (2020) conducted a study to investigate how banks in Indonesia implemented a national payment gateway (NPG) to achieve a competitive advantage. Sardjono et al. (2020) found that banks in Indonesia used RBV theory to identify inner resources with competitive advantage characteristics, including value, rarity, imitability, organization (VRIO). Next, these banks identified competitive disadvantage factors, figured out the complexity of implementation NPB, and determined employees' education and socialization level (Sardjono et al., 2020). This framework allowed banks in Indonesia to carry out the competitive advantage initiative successfully. In the same perspective, Saroso and Ridwan (2020) said that several banks in Indonesia invested in

human resources by improving employees' skills through specialized training. Well-trained employees contribute significantly to sustaining and improving a company's profitability and competitive advantage (Saroso & Ridwan, 2020).

Zhao et al. (2019) researched how China's banking industry managed to sustain a competitive advantage due to the surge of financial technology (Fintech). Using the service innovation theory and a hybrid multiple criteria decision-making method (MCDM), Zhao et al. (2019) argued that factors that helped Chinese banks improve competitive advantage included new business partners, service concepts, organizational innovation, technological innovation, customer interactions, and revenue models. Overall, banks in China have revamped their entire business structure and strategies to sustain a competitive advantage.

Mohse et al. (2019) explored the factors and models contributing to achieving a competitive advantage in the electronic banking sector. The findings suggested that banks should improve payment and transaction instruments by investing in software capable of providing fast and error-free services to the customers (Mohse et al., 2019). Furthermore, it is critical for each bank to create independent value chains to be distinct from competitors and attract larger market shares (Mohse et al., 2019). Additionally, banks not offering electronic banking saw this trend as a force to gain a competitive advantage.

Corporate social responsibility (CSR) is another tool banks use to remain competitive. Anteneh and Demoz (2020) investigated the link between engagement in CSR and the banking industry's competitive advantage. The results showed that banks that have integrated social, environmental, economic concerns of the customers,

community, employee, and environment have the potential to improve their competitive advantage. The reason is that these banks contribute to the development of the communities they serve and enhance individuals' welfare. Customers become attracted to banks that value their interests.

Transition

The background and overview of the problem were presented in Section 1. The specific business problem is that some community bank managers lack strategies to optimize the organization's resources to reduce the negative effect of increasing financial regulations compliance costs on the organization's operation. A review of the theoretical framework which guided this research study was also included in Section 1. The resource-based view theory was the theoretical framework for this study. The resource-based view theory approach allowed identifying valuable, rare, inimitable, and non-substitutable internal resources that significantly improve a firm's performance (Dionysus & Zainul, 2020).

Assumptions, limitations, and delimitations were defined in section one. The significance of the study was also specified in this section. The significance of the study suggested strategies community bank managers could develop and implement to improve performance and profitability within business operations. The study's contribution to business practice and implications for social changes were also discussed in this section. A critical analysis and literature synthesis about potential themes and phenomena identified in the problem statement concluded section one.

In section 2, I first reiterated the purpose statement. Next, a description of the role of the researcher in the data collection process followed. The subsequent section discussed the researcher's relationship with the topic, participants, or research area. A discussion on how the researcher mitigated bias and the rationale for the interview protocol were included in this section. Next, the focus was directed to the participants and their eligibility criteria, selection process, and strategies for establishing a working relationship with them. An expansion of the nature of the study from section one followed, which identified the use of qualitative research over other research methods, the use of a single case study research design over other key designs, and the steps implemented to ensure data saturation. A discussion about the population and sampling justified the snowball sampling method and the number of participants. Section two also covered the criteria for selecting participants and the interview setting.

Approaches to safeguard research ethics were described in section two. The data collection process of semi-structured interviews was also discussed, and the techniques to organize and analyze the collected information. Reliability and validity criteria, including credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability were covered in section two. Member checking and triangulation techniques were used to measure these criteria.

I began Section 3 with a brief restatement of the purpose of the study, followed by a presentation of the findings of the multiples case study. A discussion and analysis of the findings covered the themes that resulted from the study and connected the findings to the conceptual framework and the existing literature on effective business practice. A discussion about the application of the findings to the professional practice business and

the implications for social change were presented in section three. Recommendations for actions and future research was discussed in this section, as well as reflections on the research study within the DBA Doctoral Study process. I concluded Section 3 with a takeaway statement and appendices, including a consent form, organizational permission, and the interview protocol with interview questions.

Section 2: The Project

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies that community bank managers use to mitigate increasing financial regulations compliance costs. The targeted population included community bank managers in Maryland who had successfully used their firms' resources to reduce the negative effect of increasing financial regulations compliance costs on their operation.

Role of the Researcher

The role of the researcher in a single case study is to define the case to be studied, determine its boundaries, and collect the data from the sources of evidence (Yin, 2018). The researcher is responsible for selecting the study design and data collection process that enables them to answer the research question accurately (Fusch et al., 2017). Because the current study was qualitative with a single case study design, my role as the researcher was to develop the interview instrument that guided the interviews. I also conducted interviews and a review of organizations' documents for supplementation data.

Interviews are the most common sources of case study data because the researcher could suggest explanations of key events and the insights reflecting participants' relativist perspectives (Yin, 2018). During the data collection process, the researcher's role is to guide the interviews to collect meaningful data that will ensure reaching data saturation and permit completing the study within a reasonable period with minimal cost (Fusch et al., 2017). To control the interview, the researcher keeps a distance from the interviewee and remains passive, sensitive, and respectful of the rights of the participants by

maintaining a nonjudgmental attitude toward them (Karagiozis, 2018). The use of an interview protocol is essential because it helps the researcher stick to the questionnaire and verbalize the questions in an unbiased manner (Yin, 2018). Additionally, the role of the researcher is to establish an antiauthoritarian relationship with the participants, negotiate who rules the research agenda, and mitigate shifts in inferior and superior knowledge positions (Raheim et al., 2016). Using the involvement paradox, Langley and Klag (2019) argued that the role of the researcher is to present themself as a visible character in the empirical story and narrate findings in several ways varying from a highly personalized first-person account to a more neutral third-person style.

Another role of the researcher is to analyze the data collected. During data analysis, the researcher should practice reflexivity. Reflexivity occurs when the researcher uses self-awareness by analytically reflecting on the self to evaluate to dynamics between the researcher and the researched (Ibrahim & Edgley, 2015; Karagiozis, 2018; Noh, 2019; Raheim et al., 2016). Understanding the commonality or difference of beliefs and approaches helps the researcher discern their influence on the study and leads to a more objective analysis of the data collected. Furthermore, practicing reflexivity and reflection enables the researcher to focus on important issues to the participants (Hagues, 2021). In analyzing the data, the researcher should consider external factors such as the setting, current cultural and political views that could influence the interviewee, or body language that could have indicated unspoken words (Hagues, 2021). Overall, the data analysis stage requires the researcher to self-examine to assess the information provided.

As the researcher in the current study, I had a professional relationship with the topic and the research area. I currently work as a senior financial systems analyst at the Federal Reserve Board in the statistics branch. Therefore, I had experience drafting and implementing financial regulations. Additionally, I had knowledge of the burden that financial regulations place on banks and had contributed to projects aimed at reducing this burden. I did not have any relationship with the participants.

My role as the researcher was to preserve the ethics of the research, which was attainable if I was a reflective practitioner, participant protector, and technician (see Cumyn et al., 2019). As a reflective practitioner, the researcher's role is to reflect on the ethical dimensions of each step of the research from formulating a question to disseminating results (Cumyn et al., 2019). As protectors of participants, the researcher should respect and minimize harm to participants, pursue the continuous informed consent process, and keep ongoing communication with the research team until the study results are finalized (Cumyn et al., 2019). Protecting participants' identity is critical when discussing sensitive information. The researcher should protect participants by assigning a pseudonym to each participant (Hagues, 2021). Preserving participants' identities during data collection is a step toward gaining relevant data. As a technician, the researcher's role is to foster the required procedures to meet ethical norms and comply with the code of ethics (Cumyn et al., 2019). Yin (2018) claimed that the researcher is responsible for conducting the research with special care and sensitivity, which means obtaining informed consent, avoiding any deception, and protecting the privacy and confidentiality of participants especially vulnerable groups.

The Belmont Report was authored by 11 experts and specialists from the National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research and published in the Federal Registry in 1979 (Friesen et al., 2017). This report provides a moral framework to resolve ethical issues related to the treatment of human subjects in research (Redman & Caplan, 2021). According to the Belmont Report, the three fundamental principles for participants' treatment are respect of persons, beneficence, and justice (Anabo et al., 2019). The respect of persons calls for recognizing participants' autonomy and providing protection to participants with any incapacity (Friesen et al., 2017). The beneficence pillar requires researchers not to harm participants or exploit them (Anabo et al., 2019). The justice principle dictates that participants should be treated equally, and burdens and benefits should be awarded fairly. The Belmont Report articulates that the researcher's role is to respect and protect participants, treat them equally, and refrain from exhibiting favoritism to specific participants (Beauchamp, 2020).

The researcher should avoid personal perspectives and biases interfering with the research. Reducing bias calls for the researcher to interpret the cultural phenomena through participants' lenses, not their own. Such interpretation is achieved when the researcher recognizes their personal view of the world and discerns the presence of personal lenses (Fusch et al., 2017). To ensure that the research is free of the researcher's bias, the researcher should reflect on their power, positionality, and motives (Hagues, 2021). Bracketing is a technique researchers use to mitigate bias. The bracketing technique requires the researcher to illuminate and bring implicit beliefs to the forefront,

making them explicit throughout the study (Wadams & Park, 2018). Using open-ended questions to collect information helps respondents naturally address the questions by sharing more details.

An interview protocol describes the interview process and lists interview questions. Scripts of what the researcher says before and at the end of the interview are included in the interview protocol (Jacob & Furgerson, 2012). Researchers use interview protocols to collect quality interview data (May et al., 2018). An interview protocol helped the researcher conduct the same interview for each participant. Another rationale for using an interview protocol is to increase the effectiveness of the interview process and manage the time allotted for the interview (May et al., 2018). Interview protocols increase effectiveness of the interview process by ensuring comprehensive information is obtained within the allocated time (Crilly et al., 2020). The interview protocol allows the researcher to follow the same guideline, which adds to the efficiency of the interview (Smyth et al., 2022). Researchers use an interview protocol to keep the interview on track and collect relevant information (Jacob & Furgerson, 2012).

Participants

Participants in the current study included managers and senior staff from a community bank. Managers are involved in decision making and are knowledgeable of the impact of the decisions on the organization's performance. Senior staff were part of the sample because they process details on strategies implementation. Furthermore, all participants were required to have a minimum of 5 years of experience and have held their current job position for at least the past 3 consecutive years in a community bank in

Maryland. I used a purposeful sampling method to select qualifying participants who could provide rich information regarding the strategies implemented in each organization to reduce the negative effect of regulatory burden. Qualitative researchers use purposeful sampling to recruit participants with insights and to obtain an in-depth understanding of the central research issue (Benoot et al., 2016). Yin (2018) argued that participants should have different perspectives to illuminate the phenomenon and should be selected equitably. Patino and Ferreira (2018) posited that inclusion criteria including demographic and geographic characteristics should dictate the selection of the sample population.

Visits to the community banks helped me gain access to participants and ask them to participate. Additionally, phone calls allowed me to discuss the study with participants and invite them to participate. Saunders et al. (2015) indicated that individuals who voluntarily elect to participate in a study have the right to determine how they will participate in the data collection. Current participants were presented with the details of the informed consent form and confidentiality treatments modalities to increase their willingness to participate and share information honestly and openly. Participants should be provided with adequate information to understand the implication of their participation in a study (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Saunders et al., 2015).

Working relationships with participants were established by exchanging contact information. Virtual meetings with managers and senior staff and frequent phone calls with them served to coordinate and finalize interviews arrangements. When participants understand their role, how they are protected, and the overarching purpose of the

research, they feel confident to disclose information honestly and openly (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). An effective working relationship with participants depends on their trust in the researcher. Lohle and Terrell (2014) argued that human contact is critical in enhancing the trust aspect of working relationships. Being clear and precise and not exceeding boundaries improves the relationship with participants (Kraft et al., 2021). According to Kraft et al., keeping open communication is also essential for good working relationships. In the current study, participants' questions were addressed promptly, and they were encouraged to ask any additional questions. Managers and senior staff in organizations work under significant time constraints; therefore, the time they devoted to the current study was used diligently. One way to maintain an effective working relationship with participants is to secure the data collected in an encrypted location and indicate the retention time, which is 5 years after the publication of the study. Cooper et al. (2012) suggested storing the collected data in a password-protected computer only accessible to the researcher.

Participants for the current study were selected based on criteria such as years of experience in the banking industry, job position, and geographic location that aligned with the research question. The research question in this qualitative study addressed community banks' management and functioning. Participants had extensive experience working in community banks. Moreover, participants participated in the strategic decision-making process. Participants well versed in discussing how their respective organizations have addressed the researched question.

Research Method

Researchers can employ a qualitative, quantitative, or mixed-methods approach to fulfill a research purpose (Venkatesh et al., 2013). I used a qualitative approach. The qualitative method was appropriate for this study because it helped me explore participants' decision-making perspectives (see Yin, 2018). Furthermore, the desire to focus on the phenomenon's contextual data contributed to choosing the qualitative approach (see Cronin, 2014). Researchers use the qualitative approach to understand the meaning that individuals make about the world around them by analyzing data collected from oral or written communications and observations (Kennedy, 2019). Using the qualitative approach allowed me to work with a small sample size and conduct an extensive exploration of the phenomenon and produce valid and reliable research findings (see Abro et al., 2015).

Quantitative research involves collecting data from a large sample and conducting statistical analyses (Kennedy, 2019). Researchers use quantitative methodology to arrive at precise results. McCusker and Gunaydin (2015) argued that quantitative researchers know in advance what they are looking for and seek to test it statistically. In contrast, qualitative researchers strive to address "why" and "how" questions; therefore, a quantitative approach was not suitable for the current study.

A mixed-methods approach is another research approach. A mixed-methods approach combines qualitative and quantitative methods (Mayoh & Onwuegbuzie, 2013). Su-I (2021) posited that mixed-methods researchers integrate numbers and stories to investigate complex social, behavioral, and health sciences issues. In a mixed-methods

study, qualitative data substantiates quantitative results (Vásquez-Colina et al., 2022). Along the same line, Dawadi et al. (2021) stated that "the use of mixed-methods enables researchers to answer research questions with sufficient depth and breadth and helps generalize findings and implications of the researched issues to the whole population" (p. 27). Because the current study did not have any quantitative elements such as hypotheses or numerical data, a mixed-methods approach was not appropriate.

Research Design

Qualitative researchers have several designs to choose from. These designs include (a) phenomenology, (b) ethnography, (c) narrative, and (d) case study (Denzin & Lincoln, 2008). The qualitative single case study was the most appropriate design to explore strategies that community bank managers in Maryland use to optimize the organization's resources to reduce the negative effect of increasing financial regulations compliance costs. Under the case study design, researchers can select either a single case study or a multiple case study scheme (Yin, 2018). Moll (2012) said that case studies are appropriate for a detailed understanding of organizations' processes and provide an opportunity to collaborate with participants. Yin (2018) suggested using a case study design when addressing "how" and "why" research questions and focusing on contemporary events. According to Yin, a case study design helps researchers trace organizational and operational processes over time. The case study design fit the current study because my purpose was to explore the factors that community bank managers consider when developing strategies to improve the use of the firm's internal resources.

The phenomenological design focuses on detecting and interpreting participants' common meanings of the phenomenon (Arfuch et al., 2021). This design is used to explore individuals' experiences to investigate a phenomenon (Yagi et al., 2022). Researchers using this model implement the bracketing process to maintain a nonjudgmental attitude while interpreting participants' experiences (Yagi et al., 2022). The foundation of a phenomenological study is that researchers must explore individuals' lived experiences (Moustakas, 1994). This design was rejected because I did not investigate participants' lived experiences.

Researchers conduct ethnographic research to study groups' culture, gender, race, and beliefs over time (Otto et al., 2021). An ethnographic research design is used to investigate complex social processes to offer in-depth understanding of the variabilities, uncertainties, and existential dilemmas of daily life (Reynolds, 2015). With an ethnographic design, researchers can describe cultural aspects of phenomena occurring in people's lives (Jamali, 2018). Because the current study did not have a cultural implication and I did not seek to describe gender, race, and beliefs, the ethnographic design was not selected.

The narrative design is suitable for researching the historical development of a phenomenon with a sequential connotation (Ellis & Levy, 2009). In a narrative research design, the researcher gathers and analyses the data collected from stories of human experiences, interprets the contextual patterns, and relates the findings as a story of successive events (Nigar, 2020). Researchers utilizing the narrative design seek to invite readers to a sphere of possible contact with a developing, incomplete, and evolving

situation, allowing them to re-think and re-evaluate their views, prejudices, and experiences (Ford, 2020). This qualitative study was not intended to research participants' life stories or a developing historical event. The narrative design approach did not apply to this research study.

Data saturation enhances the study's validity. Data saturation occurs when new data do not produce new insights or themes regarding the phenomenon under study (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Tran et al., 2017). It is also the point where the data collected allow for replicating the study, conducting credible and dependable analyses, and additional coding adds no value to the findings (Fusch, & Ness, 2015; Kerr et al., 2010). Member checking ensured data saturation, which means continuing to interview participants until they provide no new information. The absence of added information delineated data saturation and marked the end of data collection (Fofana et al., 2020; Berkhout et al., 2012).

Population and Sampling

Purposive sampling was the sampling method for this study. This sampling method maximizes the chance of selecting participants of interest who can answer research questions (Serra et al., 2018). The purposive sampling method integrates the study's logic and the rationale for the sample, which results in a better matching of the participants to the aims and objectives of the research (Campbell et al., 2020). The purposive sampling enhanced the study's trustworthiness because participants are experts in the phenomenon under study.

There are situations in a research study where a participant may opt out of the

study. The Snowball sampling method was used as a contingency plan to replace outgoing participants. Snowball sampling is a chain referral sampling where participants are asked to refer other persons suitable for the study (Kennedy-Shaffer et al., 2021). Implementing snowball sampling mitigates the risk of having an inadequate sample size.

According to the FDIC, community banks are small relational banks that offer traditional banking activities within a limited market area (Adler, 2012). These banks usually have a total asset of between \$500 million and \$1 billion (Community banking Study, 2020). There are 33 community banks in Maryland, and this single case study focused on one bank (Banking strategist, 2021). The study involved 10 participants from the community bank, yielding a sample size of 10. A sample size of 10 is ideal and practical for an in-depth exploration of the specific business problem (Robinson, 2014).

Hennink and Kaiser (2022) posited that saturation in qualitative studies is attainable between nine and 17 interviews. Therefore, 10 interviews are an adequate sample size to ensure saturation. The reason is that the researcher interviewed participants multiple times until no new themes and concepts emerged. Follow-up questions to participants led to reaching a point where there was no added information. Additionally, a small sample size provides the opportunity and flexibility to return to participants for additional information. Such member checking in conjunction leads to reaching saturation (Hennink & Kaiser, 2022).

The criteria for selecting participants included five years' experience and three years' position tenure in a community bank located in Maryland. Participants must either be a manager or senior staff at a community bank. This study followed a semi-structured

interview structure because this style is the most common in qualitative research (Constantino, 2021). Given the Covid-19 pandemic, teleworking has significantly increased because people avoid human contact. Therefore, participants had the option between phone or virtual interviews. Participants provided the date and time suitable for the interview and determined where they wished to take the interview. Qualitative researchers should advise participants to consider a setting free of distractions and be willing to allow five to 10 extra minutes for the interview (Granot et al., 2012).

Ethical Research

Two milestones were met before participants signed the informed consent form. These milestones included receiving ethical clearance (approval no 08-26-22-1052973) from Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) and permission from the research sites to conduct the study. Participants then filled out an informed consent form which spelled out the voluntary nature of their participation, their freedom to withdraw from the study without providing any explanations, and how they were protected throughout the study (Ngozwana, 2018). Additionally, Douglas et al. (2021) said that the informed consent form should identify the researcher and outline the purpose of the research, the population and procedures, time commitment, data organization and analysis, risks and benefits of participating, privacy, contacts for any questions, and statement of consent. Participants completed the informed consent form before data collection started.

Preliminary meetings with each participant served to walk through the informed consent form and address questions. Participants were asked to sign the form only if they

agreed with the terms at the end of the meeting. Each participant received a copy of the signed document. Qualitative researchers should emphasize that participants' names would not be revealed and that the information they provide is confidential and intended for learning purposes (Ngozwana, 2018). Obtaining an informed consent form validated that the principle of respect for persons was met (Nebeker et al., 2015).

Participants' withdrawal is a challenge qualitative researchers encounter.

Participation in the study was voluntary. Therefore, participants' right to withdraw at any time for no reason and without penalty was communicated to them. The intent to withdraw was accepted verbally or in writing. Participants were allowed to withdraw anytime, and advance notices were not required.

Participants did not receive monetary compensation for their involvement in the study. Monetary rewards for participants could influence the accuracy and transparency of the research (Swanson & Betensky, 2015). No form of reward was offered to participants. However, participants benefited from having access to the findings, which they may exploit to improve their organization's performance.

The study implemented ethical principles outlined by the Belmont Report

(National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and
Behavioral Research, 1979) to ensure adequate ethical protection of participants.

Participants were not psychologically, physically, or economically harmed. An informed consent form that justifies the subject's agreement was obtained before the interviews

(see Leigh, 1998). The researcher has completed the Collaborative Institutional Training

Initiative (CITI) (Appendix C) program course to ensure ethical research protecting human participants.

The data collected was secured in a password-protected external hard drive for five years to protect the confidentiality of participants. This research study was assigned a Walden IRB approval number 1052973 to confirm its ethicality. Participants' privacy and confidentiality were maintained by labeling the banks B1 and participants P1-P10.

Data Collection Instruments

In qualitative research, the researcher is the primary data collection instrument (Karagiozis, 2018). Thus, the researcher is fully immersed in the study (McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015). The data for this study were collected using semistructured interviews and reviewing internal company documents. Semistructured interviews allow researchers to enter participants' perspectives and develop in-depth descriptions of the phenomenon under investigation (Mahat-Shamir et al., 2021). 10 participants from a community bank were interviewed, and the information provided a rich understanding of the participants' viewpoints. Feuerstein et al. (2018) stated that qualitative researchers collaborate closely with practitioners through the semistructured interview process. Close collaboration enhances the quality of practitioners' evidence (Feuerstein et al., 2018).

The semistructured interview for this study consisted of 10 open-ended questions (appendix B) focusing on the strategies successful community bank managers use to mitigate increasing financial regulations compliance costs. Qualitative researchers adopt semistructured interviews to pose open-ended questions (Zhou et al., 2017). Open-end questions produce meaningful data because respondents need significant cognitive effort

to answer these questions (Zhou et al., 2017). Another reason this study used semistructured interviews is to achieve triangulation. Scripts for conducting the interviews and the list of interview questions were captured in the interview protocol. For each interview, the researcher followed the interview protocol (appendix B) to ensure consistency throughout the interview process.

Qualitative researchers consider several approaches to enhance the reliability and validity of the data collection process. Triangulation is one of the approaches and refers to identifying a person's position regarding lived experience (Joslin & Müller, 2016). Implementing triangulation produced rich and unbiased data and increased the study's validity and strength (see Joslin & Müller, 2016). Lincoln and Guba (1985) argued that reliability and validity are functions of credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability. Another way to improve the reliability and validity of the data collection instrument was through member checking (Goldman et al., 2014). Motulsky (2021) defined member checking as following up with a participant to request feedback regarding the data provided. The opportunity to obtain further clarifications from the respondent solidified the reliability and validity of the data collection instrument.

The interview protocol (appendix B) describes the interview process and ensures that the same interview procedure is applied to each participant. Patton (2015) emphasized that an interview protocol helps the researcher stay on track during the interview. The protocol is essential for single case studies. It should have four sections, including an overview of the case study, data collection procedures, protocol questions, and a tentative outline for the case study report (Yin, 2018). Lee and Chavis (2012)

reported that a protocol "should explain how and when the data will be collected, from whom, and using which instrument(s); how the data will be stored, managed, analyzed, interpreted, and reported; who will review drafts of each case study and the cross-case study and how their comments will be addressed; and the format for reporting the findings" (p. 431). Using an interview protocol in this study ensured systematic and consistent data collection and analysis procedures (Lee & Chavis, 2012).

Overall, this study used a semistructured interview format with open-ended questions. Methodological triangulation was implemented to decrease bias and increase reliability and validity. Furthermore, to strengthen the consistency and credibility of the study, a 15 tasks interview protocol (Appendix B) was developed and was contingent on the start of each interview.

Data Collection Technique

Being the primary data collection instrument makes the researcher responsible for selecting the most effective data collection technique suitable for the study (Lo Lacono et al., 2016). There is a myriad of qualitative data collection techniques. Walsh et al. (2010) identified techniques such as interviews, photovoice, digital storytelling, design charrette, and poetry. Other techniques include observations, site visits, video recordings, and surveys (Morse, 2015). Yin (2018) added focus groups, semistructured interviews, and questionnaires. The primary data collection technique for this study was semistructured interviews. A review of the community bank's relevant documents provided additional data.

Qualitative researchers complete several tasks before collecting the data. The first

task is to identify participants, and for this study, participants included 10 staff from a community bank in Maryland. The next task was to receive permission to conduct the study from Walden University and the research sites. Walden University reviewed the study proposal and created an IRB number 1052973. The IRB number was critical to the study because data collection was not conducted without it. The research site emailed a corporate permission letter (Appendix A). After the permissions, preliminary meetings with participants took place. These meetings' goals were to go over ethical concerns and the informed consent form and address any questions from participants.

Using an interview protocol (Appendix B) and interview questions aided in keeping all the interview processes identical and creating a sense of order. Semistructured interviews are guided conversations between the researcher and participants (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). The guiding instrument was the interview protocol which researchers utilize throughout the interview. The interview protocol consisted of sequential tasks before, during, and after the interviews. Based on the interview protocol, each interview started with the interviewer getting to know the participants and establishing rapport (John et al., 2022). During the interview, follow-up questions were asked to clarify participants' statements and to distance the researcher's bias from the participants' experience (Snyder, 2012). Follow-up questions served to reach data saturation. Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, the semistructured interviews for this study were virtual via Zoom. Reviewing the company documents helped validate interview data (Hedlund et al., 2015).

Semistructured interviews have several advantages. Qualitative researchers

employ semistructured interviews to allow considerable room for participants to convey personal experiences as they want to (Price & Smith, 2021). Qualitative researchers commonly adopt semistructured interviews to gain specific insights (Striepe, 2021). Another benefit of semistructured interviews is that this type of interview combines structured and unstructured questions, strengthening the understanding of the participants' points of view and the phenomenon being researched (Altakhaineh et al., 2021). According to Altakhaineh et al., semistructured interviews allow the interviewers to move on to other questions dictated by the interviewees. Additionally, participants are enthusiastic to express their opinions freely and focus on different angles of the issue, including questions that emerge during the interview.

Although semistructured interviews are the most common qualitative data collection technique, many have raised their limitations. Fergusson et al. (2019) argued that data from semistructured interviews could not be generalized. Moreover, the close relationship between the interviewer and the interviewee during the semistructured interview may lead participants to relate personal matters and the researcher to empathize with the participants' stories (Mahat-Shamir, 2021). Despite these limitations, semistructured interviews are a popular data collection technique among qualitative researchers.

A pilot study helps the researcher explore how potential respondents understand and respond to each question (Gehlbach & Brinkworth, 2011). Conducting a pilot study is also a way to refine the questions and obtain conceptual clarification regarding the research design and data collection (Yin, 2018). Because this study used semistructured

interviews and open-ended questions, there were opportunities to ask probing and followup questions or rephrase questions. Therefore, a pilot study was not pursued for this research.

Member checking is a strategy for respondents to validate their answers (Birt et al., 2016; Motulsky, 2021). This study included member checking so respondents could correct errors and misunderstandings. Member checking was conducted in writing during data collection. I emailed participants requesting that they clarify the information provided. Participants received a summary of the interview to review, correct, delete, edit, or add (see Motulsky, 2021). One challenge related to member checking is handling participants' disagreements or conflicts (Motulsky, 2021). Comparing data across participants helped mitigate these conflicts (Birt et al., 2016).

Data Organization Technique

Researchers use data organization techniques to manage the collected data effectively. Data should be well organized for easy reference and analysis (Bernadyn & Feigenson, 2018). Participants' interviews were recorded using a digital recorder device. Before the interviews, the device was tested to ensure its usability and help practice how to operate it before usage.

Electronic transcripts were stored in a folder created for the community bank. The folders contained individual participants' files to keep the transcripts separate. I scanned handwritten notes from interviews and saved them in participants' folders. There was also a sub-folder for each document the community bank submitted. Research data organization involves storing, preserving, and data governing access (Drysdale, 2020).

The files were labeled using the participant's coded name and the interview date and time. The file naming standard helped store the information alphabetically, making it straightforward to search. All electronic information was password protected and not shared with anyone. The naming convention of the documents reviewed was B1, followed by the document's name, such as the meeting notes or training plan.

All raw data for this study will be securely stored in a locked cabinet for five years. As the researcher of this study, I had exclusive access to this cabinet. The data for this research will be destroyed using a shredder when the retention period expires. The data were kept confidential throughout the research and retention period.

Data Analysis

Triangulation techniques are commonly used in qualitative research data analysis. Triangulation originated from ancient Greek mathematics (Odiri, 2019). Researchers apply triangulation to analyze data and present the results to others to understand the experience of a common phenomenon (Fusch et al., 2018). Triangulation was appropriate for this study because the data concerning the same phenomenon was collected from multiple sources (Fusch et al., 2018).

In a case study research, triangulation enhances the validity, credibility, and reliability of the study's findings and adds depth to the data collected through the convergence of evidence (Farquhar et al., 2020; Fusch et al., 2018; Odiri, 2019). Several researchers have posited that triangulation contributes to mitigating bias and compared this technique to crystal refraction to extrapolate the meaning of the data collected (Fusch et al., 2018). Denzin and Patton's four types of triangulations include data triangulation,

investigator triangulation, theory triangulation, and methodological triangulation (Carter et al., 2014; Fusch et al., 2018; Odiri, 2019; Yin, 2018).

Methodological triangulation was used in this research study. The application of methodological triangulation identified similar issues from interview data and information collected from the document review (Johnson et al., 2017). The data were collected via interviews held using Zoom. The study's participants emailed the organization's documents, such as training materials, meeting notes, and manuals that produced supplemental information. A review of the training materials supported the findings by highlighting the robust training programs and schedules the organization has established. Meeting notes illustrated the upward communication style, with many records showing substantial feedback, ideas, and employee suggestions. The meeting notes also proved the desire of managers to become transparent as several discussions around the community bank's financial indexes appeared in the meeting minutes. The technology section in the organization manual listed applications that the bank owns and procedures on how the community bank is optimizing the use of these applications to minimize the cost of implementing new regulations. The methodological triangulation exercise also confirmed the findings by stressing the need for community bank managers to strategize on inner resources to mitigate the increasing costs of regulations compliance. Furthermore, the study's credibility increased because methodological triangulation was conducted on all the data collection sources (Nyhagen et al., 2021). The application of methodological triangulation boosts confidence in the findings and their validity

(Schretzlmaier et al., 2022). Overall, methodological triangulation enhances the quality of the study. Therefore, it is the research design's most appropriate data analysis process.

This study followed Yin's five phases for data analysis. According to Yin (2011), the five steps of qualitative data analysis include compiling, disassembling, reassembling, interpreting, and concluding. First, data were gathered from semistructured interviews through Zoom. Subsequent data came from organizations' document reviews. The data collected were organized and prepared for analysis (Yin, 2011). Second, new insights regarding the phenomenon stemmed from coding and thematic analysis conducted during the disassembling phase (Yin, 2018). Researchers assign codes to words and sentences with similar meanings (Belotto, 2018). Participants' experiences drive thematic analysis, thus, allowing researchers to have a rich account of the data (Hastings & Pennington, 2019). Third, the reassembling process involved examining and comparing the data to identify patterns and creating tables to visually display contextual information (Yin, 2011). Fourth, the data were interpreted by conducting a methodological triangulation of the sources of evidence to confirm their credibility, reliability, and validity (Yin, 2011). Fifth, the answer to the research question was discussed in the conclusion phase, and the broader impact of the findings, the study's limitations, and suggestions for future research interests (Yin, 2011).

NVivo software allows for organizing and managing the data. NVivo is a user-friendly tool that allows researchers to import word, audio, and image files (Elliott-Mainwaring, 2021). Researchers use this software to code or organize the data into themes (Elliott-Mainwaring, 2021). The rationale for using NVivo was to categorize the

data in a meaningful and searchable way and code interview transcripts (Kausar, 2020). With NVino, all the electronic data were saved, coded, and analyzed in one location.

NVivo software was leveraged for data analysis. NVivo is an efficient tool for constructing code, themes, and categories for qualitative research (Kausar, 2020; Robins & Eisen, 2017). Interview transcripts for this study were imported into NVivo for coding. Furthermore, NVivo, the open code capability, data mind-mapping, and themes identification were conducted to identify relationships in the data. Additionally, NVivo aided in tallying the number of coding references to confirm data saturation (Swygart-Hobaugh, 2019). Using NVivo allowed to discover and connect emerging patterns and ideas. NVino enhances the robustness of qualitative research by supporting code-based inquiry, providing the ability to annotate, edit and track documents (Dalkin et al., 2021). NVivo was the right software for this study because of its flexibility and powerful data coding features.

Utilizing NVivo allowed identifying key themes. Labeling key themes facilitated the correlation and grouping of themes that convey similar meanings (Zhao et al., 2016). Moreover, developing categorizations enabled a further understanding of the phenomenon being studied and the connection with the conceptual framework (Lehmann et al., 2019). Researchers focus on the key themes through the thematic analysis approach, which reveals the practical aspects that the data evokes (Lehmann et al., 2019). Each interview was coded separately, and methodologically triangulating data helped gain different perspectives that converge to the conceptual framework. Member checking allowed confirming alignment between the data collected sources.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability

Reliability denotes the trustworthiness of qualitative research (Jordan, 2018).

Researchers demonstrate reliability when the data produced can be reproduced. Reliable results are also dependable because similarities and differences regarding the data collected are consistent over time (Graneheim & Lundman, 2004). This research study ensured dependability by applying member checking. Follow-up questions to participants generated the same data. Member checking added rigor to the study, solidifying the study's reliability and dependability (Motulsky, 2021). Member checking techniques allow researchers to check the data quality by returning an interview transcript or debriefing the analytical results with participants for agreement (McGrath et al., 2019). Triangulation is another method utilized in this study to enhance rigor and, thus, dependability. Olaru et al. (2019) posited that following the same interview protocol and interview questions increases the dependability criteria. All participants were asked the same interview questions (Appendix B).

Validity

Validity is a significant core of qualitative research as it measures the quality of the study. The validity criteria include credibility, confirmability, and transferability (Langtree et al., 2019). Researchers assess validity through feedback and data testing (Zheng & Yu, 2019). Strategies to ensure validity in the qualitative study include mechanical recording interviews, contradictory evidence, member checking, neutrality, and triangulation (Coleman, 2021).

Credibility

Credibility focuses on the certainty with which the researcher conducts the study. Credibility refers to the authenticity of the research findings (Houghton et al., 2013). Methods used in selecting the research context, participants, and approach to gathering data determine the credibility of a research study (Graneheim & Lundman, 2004). Furthermore, a credible research study is free of irrelevant data, and categories and themes address the research question (Graneheim & Lundman, 2004). Strategies for enhancing credibility include prolonged engagement and persistent observation, triangulation, peer debriefing, and member checking (Houghton et al., 2013). The researcher ensured credibility using methodological triangulation, semistructured interviews, notes, audio of interviews, and member checking. Participants reviewed interview transcripts to validate the interpretations.

Transferability

Transferability means that the research findings could be generalized. Readers are primarily concerned with transferability because they decide whether the findings could be extrapolated to other settings. One way to facilitate transferability is through thick descriptions (Houghton et al., 2013). Thick descriptions provide details about the research study to determine the applicability of the findings to other groups, times, contexts, or settings (Graneheim & Lundman, 2004; Houghton et al., 2013; Langtree et al., 2019). A rich and rigorous presentation of the research results was provided to elicit transferability. Moreover, this study detailed the procedures and methodologies used for data collection and the process of analysis.

Confirmability

Confirmability denotes the accuracy of the data (Houghton et al., 2013).

Confirmability occurs when participants recognize the findings (Graneheim & Lundman, 2004). Confirmability ascertains that the research does not integrate the researcher's characteristics, biases, and assumptions (Langtree et al., 2019). The research findings should reflect participants' perspectives to validate confirmability. Audit trail and reflexivity are approaches researchers use to verify confirmability. The researcher established confirmability by conducting an audit trail, mitigating bias, and enhancing the researcher's neutrality through data triangulation. Furthermore, the researcher increased confirmability by practicing effective listening during interviews and detailed interpretation of participants' information.

Data Saturation

Qualitative researchers reach data saturation when additional data collected do not produce new information (Houghton et al., 2013). Data saturation is when no new concept-relevant information is elicited from individual interviews (Kerr et al., 2010). Member checking and follow-up questions to participants aided in achieving data saturation in this study. Furthermore, the small sample size utilized by the researcher proved data saturation because participants were interviewed multiple times until no new concepts emerged.

Transition and Summary

Section 2 restated the purpose statement, followed by a description of the researcher's role in the data collection process. The eligibility criteria for participants

were reviewed. Building on the nature of the study from section one, the qualitative method and the single case study design were further discussed. The sample size and the steps to select interview settings were justified.

Section 2 also included a discussion about the ethical parameters of the research. These parameters include the informed consent form, participants' protection protocols, withdrawal procedures, and confidentiality. The primary researcher and the data collection instrument were identified. A detailed description of the semistructured interviews was provided. Mechanics to enhance reliability and validity were incorporated. Section two covered the advantages and disadvantages of the data collection technique.

Qualitative researchers need to organize the data. Therefore, the data tracking systems were described, and the data retention period was stated. A thorough data analysis discussion revealed the logical and sequential data analysis, the software used, and how key themes were identified. Section two concluded by exploring five qualitative research quality measurements, including dependability, credibility, transferability, confirmability, and data saturation.

In Section 3, a brief reiteration of the purpose of the study preceded a comprehensive presentation of the findings. A discussion of the findings focused on the themes that emerged from the study and their relationship to the research question, the conceptual framework, and the existing literature on effective business practice. Furthermore, the impact of the findings on professional practice and social change was clarified. Recommendations for action and suggestions for future research were

presented. A reflection on the experience within the DBA Doctoral Study process concluded section 3.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies that community bank managers in Maryland use to mitigate increasing financial regulations compliance costs. The population for this study consisted of community bank managers and senior staff who had successfully used their firms' resources to reduce the negative effect of increasing financial regulations compliance costs on operation. I selected one community bank out of the 33 banks active in the state of Maryland at the time of the study. Community banks provide small business loans to businesses and start-ups located in the community they serve (Nguyen & Barth, 2020). The selected bank was a fast-growing organization in which the managers and senior staff had successfully used the firm's resources to mitigate increasing financial regulations compliance costs.

Ten participants participated in this qualitative single case study. Each participant answered 10 open-ended questions via a Zoom semistructured interview. I recorded the interviews using a recording device and transcribed them into NVivo software where I conducted member checking, coding, and methodical triangulation. NVivo software offers a transparent strategy for novice users to perform thematic analysis (Elliott-Mainwaring, 2021). A review of the company internal documents supported data collected from the interviews. Four principal themes focusing on the strategies community bank managers and senior staff use to mitigate increasing financial regulations compliance costs emerged from the thematic analysis: (a) training, (b) leadership, (c) proactive approach to regulations, and (d) organization retooling. I confirmed data saturation once no new themes arose after extensive member checking.

Presentation of the Findings

Internal resources are critical for an organization's success. Managers who effectively utilize internal resources achieve superior performance levels (Lahiri & Kedia, 2009). The data for this study resulted from 10 semistructured interviews and a review of the organization's documents. I conducted a methodical triangulation of the date to answer the following research question: What strategies do successful community bank managers use to mitigate increasing financial regulations compliance costs? Interviews provided most of the data to answer the research question. Data gathered through the review of company documents correlated with individual interview responses. Data saturation was met when I obtained repetitive answers from the interviews.

I informed participants through the consent form that their identities would be confidential in the study's reports and the name of the organization would also be confidential. Participants provide honest responses to interview questions when their identities are protected (Badampudi et al., 2022). To ensure confidentiality, I coded the community bank involved in this study as B1 and used P1 through P10 to name interview participants. Four themes emerged from the thematic analysis: (a) training, (b) leadership, (c) adapting a proactive approach with regulations, and (d) organization retooling. Several subthemes emerged under each theme. The subthemes under leadership included leadership style, communication, and governance. The subthemes under training were internal training, external training, and self-training. The subthemes related to the proactive approach to regulations were relationship with the regulators and compliance

committee. Lastly, the subthemes under organization retooling encompassed moving staff, agile approach to project management, and technology.

First Emergent Theme : Training

All participants indicated that training is an effective strategy to mitigate increasing financial regulations compliance costs. The community bank has focused on training due to the complexity and frequency of financial regulations changes from the Dodd-frank Act, which generated a plethora of financial regulations for community banks. To comply with the mortgage-related provisions, several community banks invested in training (Mason, 2016). Additionally, the Act consisted of 2,315 pages in bill form and referred to 398 separate rule makings (Twight, 2015). To comprehend the Dodd-Frank Act, the community banks revamped the training department.

Compliance training is essential in handling the complexity of the increasing regulations compliance costs. Participant B1P1 stated that the organization delegated a lot of resources in the last few years to regulatory compliance training. Participant B1P4 added that the bank invested in employees' training to give them the knowledge and tools needed to accomplish their jobs. According to Participant B1P8, employees' knowledge base is key for the organization to reduce increasing costs of implementing regulations. Through compliance training, Participant B1P2 has learned skills to quickly associate new regulations with financial data facilitating the ability to produce business requirements for financial systems changes. Training helps employees develop jobrelated skills and enhance work performance and commitment (Khanna & Arora, 2009).

Internal training, external training, and self-training were the subthemes that emerged under training. Internal training referred to training provided within the bank's building while external training denoted training offered outside of the organization's building. Self-training occurs when an employee learns new skills on their own. Table 1 shows the number and the percentage of the frequency of occurrence for each subtheme under training.

Table 1Frequency of Subthemes in Training Theme

Subtheme		Number	Percentage of frequency of
			occurrence
Internal training	17		34.69%
External training	18		36.73%
Self-training	14		28.57%

Internal Training

The findings showed internal training is a resource managers can leverage to reduce the increasing financial regulations compliance costs. Internal training helps employees discover and develop strategies to effectively use the organization's resources (Chong, 2007). Internal training is conducted in two formats. The first format is peer-to-peer training involving two employees. B1P1 stated

we do a lot of one-on-one working with people. We monitor a lot of things to give them feedback on how they're doing outside of the audits so that we basically partner with the operations and make sure that they have the tools to help us.

Participant B1P6 gained more experience in query writing by having regular inperson trainings with a senior colleague. Participant B1P2 indicated that knowledge sharing among employees through training sessions is key in enhancing procedures involved in regulation compliance. The second format is a group of internal trainings in which a peer provides training to several employees. Participant B1P8 reported that group internal training sessions address employees' common issues. The findings revealed that through internal training, managers utilize skilled employees to improve the performance of less skilled employees involved in implementing regulatory changes.

External Training

The findings of this study showed that external training is important for the organization in reducing regulations compliance costs. Participant B1P5 said that attending seminars and conferences offered by specialized institutions has helped them automate several manual procedures within the organization. According to Participant B1B7, compliance costs have significantly decreased due to automation. Caster et al. (2021) argued that automation positively impacts banks' internal audit. With automation, employees accomplish more in less time, which reduces overhead costs (Caster et al., 2021). Participant B1P10 noted that external training is imperative because employees gain useful knowledge on existing tools from experts and this knowledge leads to streamlining procedures.

External training such as those the FDIC provides to community banks is essential in understanding new regulations, according to Participant B1P3. Participant B1P5 added that the FDIC training helps employees understand the requirements of the new regulations so the bank can avoid making mistakes that lead to punitive actions from the regulators. Punitive actions generate additional compliance costs because employees

must repeat the tasks associated with the regulation. Participant B1P1 acknowledged that employees gain a lot of experience from external seminars when they meet with external auditors and specialized groups. Tailored regulation compliance training improves employees' financial management skills and self-efficacy (Kirsten, 2018).

Learning about best practices from peers outside of the organization is a critical external training opportunity. Participants B1P2, B1P6, and B1P9 recognized that attending workshops from the Maryland Community Banks Association provides handson exercises that boost their knowledge regarding regulation compliance. Seminars and conferences are effective training methods because the materials covered during the sessions target specific skill levels (Kirsten, 2018). Furthermore, employees can network with peers within the industry and leverage those connections to learn new skills. Participant B1P7 shared that if current employees are highly skilled to perform their job, there is no need to increase the compliance department expenses by hiring new employees.

Self-Training

All of the study participants favor self-education. The findings suggested that self-training is an effective approach to learn and acquire new skills. Participant B1P10 uses micro-moments videos daily to learn how to efficiently perform certain tasks. To develop business requirements for new regulations, Participant B1P5 visits a wiki-like internal website that describes how to draft business requirements. According to Participant B1P6, the organization provides useful links to the financial accounting standards board and generally accepted accounting principles. Participant B1P3 reads financial

accounting standards board and generally accepted accounting principles articles during spare time to get a deeper understanding of a new regulation. Regarding self-training, Participant B1P4 indicated that they like this form of training because it is self-paced and employees can select the training materials that fit their needs. The findings are consistent with those of Rafaila and Duta (2015) who found that self-training allows for employees' intrinsic engagement, which translates into objectively setting own goals and selecting contents that shape desired skills. Participant B1P2 shared that

I like self-training because I can focus on the skills I am struggling with and learn it at my own speed. People have different learning styles and skills levels. It would be a waste of time for me to attend a training session when I am interested in one topic of the training curriculum.

Second Emergent Theme: Leadership

The findings of the current study suggested that leadership is an important strategy community bank managers use to mitigate increasing financial regulations compliance costs. Participants B1P1 stated leadership is essential in ensuring that the bank is optimizing its resources. The rise in financial regulations compliance costs has fueled the need for organizational changes. Managers and executives strive to develop new organizational goals and objectives to remain competitive (Moldovan & Macarie, 2014). Leadership is the relation between leaders and followers in which leaders provide guidance to followers to achieve mutual goals (Reni, 2019). All current participants asserted that leadership is a successful approach to mitigate increasing financial regulation compliance costs. Leadership style, communication, and governance appeared

as the driving forces under the leadership theme. Table 2 illustrates the statistical contribution of each subtheme under leadership.

Table 2

Frequency of Subthemes in Leadership Theme

Subtheme		Number	Percentage of frequency of
			occurrence
Leadership style	9		34.61%
Communication	13		50%
Governance	4		15.38%

Leadership Style

The community bank adopted a transformational leadership style to combat increasing financial regulation compliance costs. The transformational leader focuses on positively changing followers' motives and behaviors in ways that lead to greater organizational performance (Siangchokyoo et al., 2020). The guiding principles transformational leaders use to transform followers include idealization influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration (Northouse, 2019). Addressing employees' professional and personal needs is the responsibility of transformational leaders. Such attention motivates employees and helps build lasting and trusted relationships between leaders and followers (Brown et al., 2019).

Participant B1P10 indicated that the bank implemented a new organizational culture that empowered employees and encouraged them to think differently and become innovative. An innovative competency was added to the employees' quarterly objectives template, which activated employees' entrepreneurial skills (Participant B1P8 & Participant B1P3). Participant B1P9 revealed that under transformational leadership,

many employees started suggesting new initiatives regarding innovative products such as loan programs and customers outreach tactics that the bank could introduce to generate more revenues to offset increasing financial regulations compliance costs. Participant B1P5 concluded that the transformational leadership style boosted employees' morale and commitment to the organization, which facilitated the implementation of new initiatives aimed at eradicating the negative effects of financial regulations compliance costs. Organizations that implement a transformational leadership style are in a better position to successfully resolve challenges because employees go above and beyond their job expectations (Kranabetter & Niessen, 2017).

Communication

The results of this study indicated that effective communication is a core strategy managers can use to mitigate the increasing regulations compliance costs.

Communication stimulates employees' creativity (Y. Lee & Kim, 2021). Creativity is a critical internal organizational asset, and companies with creative employees are prone to survive challenging situations (Y. Lee & Kim, 2021). The reason is that creative employees develop unique and rare products that give the firm a competitive advantage even during difficult times.

The community bank has also used communication to improve transparency throughout the organization. The bank became more transparent with employees by sharing weekly financial ratios such as return on assets, return on investment, and revenues. Participant B1P4 stated that "it is important for each employee to know the daily, weekly, and monthly target goals so they can determine how to contribute to those

goals." Transparency increases job engagement during uncertain times (Stranzl et al., 2021).

All current participants discussed the increase in meetings to promote communication. According to participants B1P1 and B1P8, a monthly town hall meeting was created in which executives discussed the bank's goals and objectives as well as the current state of the firm. B1P7 indicated that the organization periodically scheduled question-and-answer sessions to encourage interaction between senior leaders and employees. B1P6 stated that managers held one-on-one meetings with employees. Overall, the organization used formal communication to ensure a proper flow of information so that everyone would be aligned with the business goals (see Blidaru et al., 2019).

B1P9 explained that the bank switched from a top-down communication approach to an upward communication style so managers could collect employees' feedback for decision making. Upward communication is the communication that flows from the subordinate to their immediate supervisor (Kamal & Kumar, 2017). Under the upward communication structure, subordinates supply information and convey attitudes and feelings, while managers focus on progress reports and answer inquiries (Fenn & Head, 1965). Koc (2013), found that upward communication is effective in crisis management and recovery. Therefore, implementing this communication style while the bank mitigates increasing financial regulations compliance costs was an efficient strategy.

Governance

The findings of this study point out that strong governance is an essential aspect of leadership when implementing strategies to reduce the adverse effects of increasing financial regulations compliance costs. Corporate governance intervention is a helpful tool for resolving financial distress firms (Vladimiro et al., 2022). While corporate governance focuses on the long-term sustainability of companies, the board of governance aims to advise managers and executives during a crisis (Musa, 2022). A high level of board independence is a positive signal of good corporate governance because managers are considered valuable resources (Witt et al., 2022). Furthermore, smaller board size improves the firms' performance because a large board is ineffective and unable to respond quickly to firm problems (O'Sullivan et al., 2015; Chahine & Safieddine, 2011).

B1P7 revealed that the organization reduced the board by three so decisions could be taken swiftly. Participants B1P3, B1P8, and B1P10 conveyed that managers quickly instituted a culture of teamwork. B1P1 expressed the urgent need to involve the entire organization. Participant B1P5 stated "We moved from an environment where departments operated in isolation to a more fused environment to promote collaboration between staff."

Participant B1P2, who works in the regulatory compliance department, noted increased meetings between his department and the information technology staff. The close working relationship between these two departments helped automate processes, which reduced the costs of implementing new regulations. To end the silos work

environment, participant B1P4 said that the decision making process was centralized so people could work together.

Third Emergent Theme: Proactive Approach to Regulations

Taking a proactive approach to regulations emerged as successful strategy managers and senior analysts used to handle the increasing costs of complying with financial regulations. Proactive approaches lead to positive results and build confidence (Yang, 2022). A proactive approach helps managers prepare for upcoming regulations and deal with issues associated with the regulations beforehand (Stewart, 2011). Through a proactive approach, managers are informed about the data and the financial systems that the new regulations will impact. Such information allows managers to estimate the labor and infrastructure necessary to implement the regulations effectively. Additionally, with a proactive approach, managers and senior analysts strategize resource allocations while ensuring high productivity and revenues. Table 3 presents statistics from the interviews on the proactive approach to regulations strategy.

Table 3Frequency of Subthemes in Proactive Approach to Regulations Theme

Subtheme		Number	Percentage of frequency of occurrence
Relationships with regulators	6		46.15%
Compliance committee	7		53.84%

Relationships With Regulators

Community banks are regulated by government agencies, including the federal reserve system, the office of the comptroller of the currency (OCC), and the FDIC.

Participant B1P6 explained that community banks' financial regulations are subject to come from these agencies. Therefore, it is in the best interest of community bank leaders to keep close relationships with these agencies. Participant B1P1 attends a quarterly call with all the regulators in which they share information. Participant B1P5 added during meetings with the regulators, "We share what we are doing. Sometimes we proactively put things in front of them, such as what we think about new regulations. We get all the information that the FDIC and other entities put out there."

Coen and Salter (2020) studied the bank-regulator relationships at the European banking authority. They found that these relationships allow banks to "gain insight into the future trajectory of regulatory policy: of change in supervisory practices, of the tone or scope of forthcoming standards, and on principles to be followed in enforcement decisions. Perhaps most valuable in a day-to-day sense, they can gain clarification on questions of implementation of current policies—particularly important in complex regulatory scenarios, where ambiguity abounds (p. 116)".

Compliance Committee

A compliance committee plays a pivotal role in maintaining the relationships between the bank and the regulators. The committee's primary objective is to keep ongoing conservations with the regulators and ensure that the organization meets its compliance obligations without sacrificing profit and revenue. Participant B1P4 indicated that managers created a compliance committee consisting of a representative from each department. This committee met regularly with regulators to discuss new regulations.

According to B1P3, the information gathered by the compliance committee was shared

with the compliance department and senior executives, who would start brainstorming on how to implement the upcoming regulations efficiently. Participant B1B9 mentioned, "Mostly, we have a compliance committee. One of the duties of the compliance committee is to help you get any feedback and keep an eye on upcoming regulations."

Fourth Emergent Theme: Organization Retooling

The last theme that emerged from the interviews is the concept of organization retooling. This concept means reevaluating individuals' skills and aligning them with the firm's goals and objectives (Leitch, 2008). The retooling exercise for the community banks consisted of moving staff to different job responsibilities. Participant B1P3 unveiled that managers decided to break up the control environment audits from the information technology audits and compliance. New layers of quality assurance subject matter experts were created under each department. The experts' role was to ensure the high quality of each task and process involved with implementing new regulations. Participant B1P7 was moved to lead a new team that focuses on testing financial systems used to implement new regulations.

Participant B1P8 said that following the organization's retooling vision, the bank adopted the agile framework for project management. The reason for implementing this framework was to foster teamwork around software development. Participants B1P10 and B1P6 claimed that the agile framework was a successful strategy in minimizing the costs of increasing financial regulations compliance because the agile model is built around scrum teams, and roles, responsibilities, and communication are well defined. Organizations that utilize agile methods can implement changes quickly (Tamayo et al.,

2022). Per participant B1P1, return on assets and return on investment rose by 4.6 percent and 6.1 percent, respectively, because of the agile framework. The profit generated enabled the organization to fund the compliance department, which incurred high expenses due to increasing financial regulations compliance costs.

Technology is another aspect of organization retooling that managers untilized to manage the increasing costs of financial regulations successfully. Participant B1P2 stated that automating many processes was crucial in keeping overhead costs down. Participant B1P3 said, "We created a structured query language (SQL) that converted more than 20000 rows of data in a click of a button. This process used to be handled manually, causing us to pay many people overtime."

Improving data mining and analytics enabled the community bank to develop new products that are attractive to customers and generate profits. Companies that utilize data mining and analytics improve efficiency, risk management, and profits (Qadadeh & Abdallah, 2020). Participant B1P5 and participant B1P6 relayed that the organization introduced a new loan package that allowed borrowers to pay the loan back without interest for 10 years. Additionally, the organization developed intermittent loan repayment programs where borrowers could freeze loan payments without penalties when they experience hardship. These loans payments options attracted customers driving profitability high. Table 4 shows statistics related to the subtheme organization retooling.

Table 4Frequency of Subthemes in Organization Retooling Theme

Subtheme		Number	Percentage of frequency of
			occurrence
Moving staff around	17		32.69%
Agile framework	14		26.92%
Technology	21		40.38%

In summary, the community bank in this research capitalized on inner resources to counter the negative effects of increasing financial regulations compliance costs. The findings of this study are consistent with those of Freeman et al. (2021), who posited that managers that identify the firm's strategic resources and capitalize on them could improve its revenue. The strategic resources in this study included providing specialized training to staff, implementing a leadership model that promotes responsible innovation and activates entrepreneurial spirit, adopting a proactive attitude towards regulations, and changing the organization's structure to address new challenges. According to Xie et al. (2022), responsible innovation allows firms to build resiliency during adverse situations.

The strategic resources unveiled in this study have a common denominator which is staff knowledge. Staff knowledge appears as the valuable, rare, inimitable, and non-substitutable assets managers and senior staff exploited to develop solutions for the increasing financial regulations compliance costs. As RBV theory stipulates, companies achieve a competitive advantage via underlying capabilities within the organization's boundaries that are valuable, rare, inimitable, and non-substitutable (Münch et al., 2022). Furthermore, the list of emerging themes discussed in this study shows that the

organization focused on internal assets and capabilities to develop long-term and sustainable solutions regarding increasing financial regulations compliance costs.

The findings of this study correlate with the existing literature on effective business practices. The RBV theory dominates the literature on effective business practice. This literature suggests managers should strategize on internal resources to build a competitive advantage. Moreover, RBV theory is a management framework that helps identify a firm's strategic tangible and intangible resources, which are crucial in developing successful strategies (Singh et al., 2022). One of the goals of effective business practice is to make the firm more profitable while reducing expenses. With the RBV theory, organizations are on the path to meeting this effective business practice goal. The community bank in this study successfully optimized the internal knowledge and capabilities to sustain and overcome rising financial regulations compliance costs. Another aspect of effective business practice calls for managers and leaders to know the organization's capabilities, which is attainable through a comparative evaluation and examination of the inner resources.

Application to Professional Practice

This qualitative single case study aimed to research strategies successful community bank managers use to mitigate increasing financial regulations compliance costs. Financial regulations significantly increase community bank operating costs (Kalhoefer & Lang, 2019). Community bank lending failed considerably due to regulations associated with the government-sponsored enterprises (GSEs) Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac takeover of 2008 (Rice & Rose, 2016). Community bank managers are

responsible for developing approaches to reduce the costs of implementing new financial regulations while improving performance and profitability. Prior studies on how community banks should mitigate increasing financial regulations compliance costs have focused on factors external to the organization, such as the need for a new consultant team or acquiring new technology (Magnusson, 2009; Weerasinghe, 2012; Farrell, 2013). Other studies have concluded that community bank managers should combine external and internal resources to handle the increasing costs of complying with financial regulations (Cyree, 2016; Messer, 2016; Beans, 2006). This study adopted a different lens and suggested that community bank managers strategize on internal resources to mitigate increasing financial regulations compliance costs.

The findings of this study provide community bank managers with practical recommendations to effectively counter increasing financial regulations compliance costs. The rich information collected from participants led to identifying four major strategies, including (a) training, (b) leadership, (c) adopting a proactive approach with regulations, and (d) organization retooling. Training emerged as the prominent strategy community bank managers could implement to reduce financial regulations compliance costs. Training helps close knowledge gaps resulting in improving business practice within the organization. Training can boost employees' confidence in the workplace and gain a competitive advantage in the labor market (González-Tejero & Molina, 2022). Intan and Muafi (2019) studied the impact of training and development on organizational performance. They found that employee training and development positively and significantly impact organizational performance. According to Gull and Idrees (2021),

organizations that invest in employee training attain higher goals and efficiency.

Organizations that provide employee training maintain adequate performance, improve decision-making, and raise service delivery quality and timeliness (Ugo, 2020). Overall, employee training can potentially place the organization on the success track.

Leadership is the second strategy community bank managers can exploit. This study recommends the transformational leadership style for mitigating increasing financial regulations. The transformational leadership style creates an inclusive environment that promotes employee engagement, innovation, and motivation, critical competencies for best business practice. Organizations that adopt transformational leadership gain employees' loyalty and respect and inspire motivation through coaching, mentoring, and consulting (Deng et al., 2022). Furthermore, the outcomes of transformational leadership include effectiveness, performance, creativity, innovation, satisfaction, commitment, and well-being (Deng et al., 2022). These outcomes are vital in helping organizations navigate adverse situations.

Lyons and Schneider (2009) associated transformational leadership with enhanced task-specific self-efficacy. Employees exposed to transformational leadership are confident and perform well in stressful situations. Such an atmosphere where employees are focused and perform to the best of their capacity is conducive to mitigating increasing financial regulations compliance costs because employees develop and implement new ideas to improve profitability.

Adopting a proactive approach to regulations proved to be a successful strategy for community bank managers. This approach aids managers in staying abreast of

upcoming regulations. Another implication of this approach is that community bank managers could influence new regulations by providing comments through the federal registry during the comment period. Most importantly, adopting a proactive approach to regulations provides ample time for managers to prepare strategic plans to implement the new regulations. Time is a critical aspect of business practice that can adversely impact an organization's revenue and profitability if misused. A proactive approach contributes to identifying risks, pain points, and challenges (Saia & Carta, 2019). Aware of obstacles associated with a regulation beforehand, managers effectively mobilize resources to tackle the problem before it occurs.

The last recommendation community bank managers can benefit from is organization retooling. This recommendation allows managers to restructure the organization to better face challenges. The findings suggest moving staff around as one form of organization retooling. This move aims to place staff with exceptional skills in areas that are underperforming or have much work. This strategy helps community bank managers balance work demand and staffing. Another form of retooling is introducing the agile framework for project management. Community bank managers could use this model to improve the execution of current projects. The scrum master who leads an agile project ensures that deadlines, tasks, and short- and long-term goals are communicated and met. The benefices of an agile project framework are that the team consists of people with different skill sets and levels and have a common goal of delivering a high-quality product at a predefined time (Tashtoush et al., 2022). Based on the findings, technology is also part of the organization's retooling. Focusing on internal resources, community

bank managers could find ways to exploit the existing technology to mitigate increasing financial regulations compliance costs. For instance, managers can research ways to expand the use of the software or automate processes that are still manual.

The study findings are relevant to business practice because of their applicability. Community bank managers could use the recommendations to reduce the financial burden incurred while implementing new regulations. Community bank managers could apply the findings to remain cost-effective because they optimize existing resources. Being cost-effective is a fundamental challenge in business practice. This study proposes options to address this challenge successfully.

Implications for Social Change

Community banks have a double role towards the communities in their geographic markets. First, they provide customized loans to small businesses in their neighborhood. Small businesses play a significant role in the United States economy (Kwoka et al., 2001). Community banks must remain sustainable to continue offering affordable loans to small businesses. The United States financial system relies on the strength of small businesses. Small businesses employ a significant percentage of the workforce from secondary markets (Robbins et al., 2000). Orzechowski (2020) found a positive relationship between the growth in small business lending per capita and the change in the state's civilian employment rates. A high employment level decreases poverty and improves individuals' well-being. Increasing financial regulations compliance costs may prevent community banks from offering affordable loans to small businesses. Therefore, community bank managers could use the findings of this study to

reduce the cost of complying with regulations and devote more funds to developing new and affordable loans for small businesses. The sustainability of community banks leads to the strength of small businesses, which positively impacts the local and national financial systems.

Second, community banks have a social responsibility to improve communities. As part of their community outreach programs, many community banks offer scholarships to youth to keep them in schools and off the street. Some community banks sponsor after-school sports programs to give individuals a platform to improve their talents. Other are committed to supporting entrepreneurship, volunteerism, and leadership (Mensah et al., 2017). These social responsibilities are attainable if the community bank meets its target financial goals. A community bank may not achieve its financial goals if increasing financial regulations compliance costs are not mitigated. This study lays out potential strategies community bank managers could implement to sustain and improve revenues.

Recommendations for Action

This qualitative single-case study aimed to explore strategies community bank managers use to mitigate increasing financial regulations compliance costs. Prior researchers have found that increasing financial regulations compliance costs negatively affect community banks' profitability (Kim, 2021; Agol & Chi, 2020; Moss et al., 2020; Croasdale & Stretcher, 2011). Underperforming community banks pose a systemic risk to communities and the financial system. The findings outline recommendations community

bank managers could use to counter the negative effect of increasing financial regulations compliance costs.

Community bank managers should design training plans that fit the organization's needs. Before crafting training plans, community bank managers should inventory existing and missing skills and match these skills with staff. Evaluating the skill set would allow community bank managers to assign staff with the proper training.

Managers must also identify staff that could provide training to their peers. Managers should remember that staff may not need all the training. Therefore, assessing each employee's skill set is crucial before assigning training.

This study recommends implementing a transformational leadership style. A transformational leadership style creates an inclusive environment that produces excellent outcomes for organizations. Managers should foster teamwork and communicate with employees effectively to encourage them to work together. Since the workplace consists of diverse staff, community bank managers should first understand the different cultures that exist within the organization. Understanding cultural differences helps disseminate information appropriately.

Adopting a proactive approach is another suggestion community bank managers could utilize. Close relationships with regulators are necessary to learn about upcoming regulations. Additionally, community bank managers should ensure to follow the development of the regulations by tracking the updates published in the federal register notice.

The last recommendation is for community bank managers to consider retooling the organization. Community bank managers should identify the skills needed and the organization's individuals that possess those skills. After this exercise, staff should be moved to new positions to align with the demand management. Community bank managers can apply the recommendations simultaneously or separately. The order in which the recommendations are implemented would depend on each organization. Some organizations may already have a robust training system but do not have the right leadership. Managers should determine the proper sequence of executing the recommendations.

Although the results of this study are intended for community bank managers, bank executives and members of the board of directors can also benefit from the findings. The results of this study could also be extended to managers from organizations in other industries. Strategizing internal resources is a cost-effective approach managers can use to achieve and sustain a competitive advantage. Overall, the findings aid in improving business practices; therefore, any business leader or manager should consider them.

Several channels are available to disseminate the results of this study. The results could be published in banking journals such as the journal of finance and bank management, banking and finance journals, and the review of public administration and management. Major banking conferences are avenues where the findings could be presented. Banking associations may upload this study on their website and use the findings as training programs for community bank managers.

Recommendations for Further Research

Future studies should conduct deeper investigations of the recommendations presented in this study. Community banks are crucial to the stability of the United States economy. These banks are essential in improving communities. Community banks are the primary providers of financial services to rural communities across the United States and major credit suppliers to agricultural producers and businesses, including during times of financial crisis (Hanauer et al., 2021). Financial scandals such as Enron, WorldCom, and the 2010 financial crisis have caused regulators to enact financial regulations that are not always fair to community banks, given their lack of capital compared to bigger banks. Many community banks have been closing or merging because they cannot keep up with the rising costs of financial regulations compliance. New and complex regulations put small banks at a competitive disadvantage (Agol & Chi, 2020). It is critical to conduct systematic research on the findings suggested in this study so that community bank managers have the tools and strategy they need to keep the banks operating.

One of the limitations of this study was the inability to conduct in-person interviews with participants due to the Covid-19 restrictions. All interviews for this study were conducted through Zoom. The timing limitations associated with Zoom meetings made it impossible to ask all the probing questions and collect additional information. Future researchers should aim for in-person data collection. In-person data collection would offer ample time to collect rich data (Wray & Barrett, 2022). Additionally, the interviewee's body gestures and facial expressions could provide additional cues regarding the discussed concept.

Another limitation noted for this study was the restriction to having 10 interview questions. This restriction stems from the Walden University Doctor of Business Administration (DBA) guideline. The financial regulations burden on community banks is a significant problem. Using 10 interview questions to evaluate all aspects of the issues is not sufficient. Therefore, future researchers should to have more questions to collect substantial data to inform the findings.

The results of this study could not be generalized. The reason is that the study focused only on one community bank in Maryland. I propose that future research consider multiple community banks from different states. I also challenge future researchers to extend the research to community banks in other countries. Investigating the strategies community bank managers from foreign countries use to mitigate increasing financial regulations compliance costs will be beneficial. A comparison of strategies from different countries could lead to developing best practices applicable worldwide.

Reflections

Completing a DBA Doctoral study process is challenging. Working full-time and taking care of two children made the process daunting. However, I had a rewarding experience thanks to a dedicated chair, committee members, and classmates who contributed to my success. I thank God I achieved a long-term dream and my family, who has always supported me. I designed this research and led all the steps from data collection to data analysis. I experienced difficulties finding participants but had a wonderful time with them during data collection.

I had preconceived ideas about the topic of this research. I work at one of the financial regulations bodies and know how regulators develop financial regulations and their impact on financial institutions. My job responsibilities expose me to some financial regulations while they are still in development. During data collection, I did not reveal my professional experience so participants could provide information to the best of their ability.

I gained substantial knowledge throughout this research. Following the DBA rubric, I learned how to organize different research sections for a coherent flow. My writing skills improved as I learned to write with a scholarly voice and tone. I found coding and grouping the data into themes and subthemes fascinating. Participants were pleasant to talk to, which facilitated the member-checking process. I gained insights into all the hard work community bank managers perform to comply with regulations. The findings of this study are consistent with my throughs about how community banks can mitigate increasing financial regulations compliance costs. The key is to reduce or eliminate other expenses by optimizing internal resources.

Conclusion

I explored community bank managers' strategies to mitigate increasing financial regulations compliance costs in this qualitative single case study. I collected the data through 10 semi-structured interview questions addressed to community bank managers and senior staff. I reached data saturation through member checking when additional conversations produced repetitive information, and no new themes emerged.

The findings revealed four major themes. These themes include (a) training, (b) leadership, (c) a proactive approach to regulations, and (d) organization retooling. The findings are consistent with prior research that confirmed community banks struggle with increasing financial regulations compliance costs, and managers should explore internal resources to sustain the organization. The findings also align with the RBV theory Wernerfelt (1984) and Barney (1986), which stipulates that organizations that utilize internal resources develop effective strategies and dynamic capabilities through resources that are (a) valuable, (b) rare, (c) inimitability, and (d) organized to exploit profits (VRIO) (Dyer et al., 2020).

The main take-home message from this Doctoral study is that community banks have a variety of conduits to mitigate increasing financial regulations compliance costs.

All the tools presented in this study may not apply to all the community banks.

Community bank managers should implement the tools that best address its challenges and fit their business model.

References

- Abdulaziz, A. A. (2019). Investigating critical resource determinants of start-ups: An empirical study of the MENA region. *Cogent Economics & Finance*, 7(1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/23322039.2019.1628494
- Abro, M. M. Q., Khurshid, M. A., & Aamir, A. (2015). The use of mixed methods in management research. *Journal of Applied Finance and Banking*, *5*, 103–108. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689810384490
- Accominotti, O. (2019). International banking and transmission of the 1931 financial crisis. *The Economic History Review*, 72(1), 260–286. https://doi.org/10.1111/ehr.12736
- Adler, J. (2012). FDIC takes measure of community banking. *American Banker*, 177, 13.
- Agol, W. M. H., & Chi, K. L.K. (2020). The effects of financial regulation on cost efficiency: Evidence from the Hong Kong banking industry. Journal of Applied Business & Economics, 22(12), 91–103. https://doi.org/10.33423/jabe.v22i12.3881
- Aiello, F., & Bonanno, G. (2018). Multilevel empirics for small banks in local markets.

 Papers in Regional Science, 97(4), 1017–1037. https://doi.org/10.1111/pirs.12285
- Alam, N., Binti Zainuddin, S. S., & Rizvi, S. A. R. (2019). Ramifications of varying banking regulations on performance of Islamic banks. *Borsa Istanbul Review*, 19(1), 49–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bir.2018.05.005
- Alavi, M., Archibald, M., McMaster, R., Lopez, V., & Cleary, M. (2018). Aligning theory and methodology in mixed methods research: Before design theoretical

- placement. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 21(5), 527–540. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2018.1435016
- Albu, C. F., Popa, S. C., S., & Gora, A. A. (2019). Analysis of Romanian IT industry:

 Strategic diagnostics using Michael Porter's model. *Business Excellence and Management*, 9(3), 59–68.

 https://doaj.org/article/7bc281d5908049188aefeb10cef03788
- Almanidis, P., Karakaplan, M. U., & Kutlu, L. (2019). A dynamic stochastic frontier model with threshold effects: U.S. bank size and efficiency. *Journal of Productivity Analysis*, 52(1–3), 69–84. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11123-019-00565-6.
- Almoneef, A., & Samontaray, D. P. (2019). Corporate governance and firm performance in the Saudi banking industry. *Banks and Bank Systems*, *14*(1), 147–158. https://doi.org/10.21511/bbs.14(1).2019.13
- Altakhaineh, A. R. M., Alhendi, H., & Ishtaiwa-Dweikat, F. F. (2021). Challenges facing teachers and students in English oral skills online classes. *International Journal of Technologies in Learning*, 28(2), 21–37. https://doi.org/10.18848/2327-0144/CGP/v28i02/21-37
- Altamura, C. E., & Zendejas, J. F. (2020). Politics, international banking, and the debt crisis of 1982. *Business History Review*, 94(4), 753–778. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007680520000653.
- Ames, H., Glenton, C., & Lewin, S. (2019). Purposive sampling in a qualitative evidence synthesis: A worked example from a synthesis on parental perceptions of

- vaccination communication. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *19*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0665-4
- Amin, S. I. M., & Abdul-Rahman, A. (2020). The role of regulation in banking: Liquidity risk perspective. *Iranian Journal of Management Studies*, *13*(3), 391–413. https://doi.org/10.22059/ijms.2019.280790.673627
- Anabo, I. F., Elexpuru-Albizuri, I., & Villardón-Gallego, L. (2019). Revisiting the Belmont Report's ethical principles in internet-mediated research: perspectives from disciplinary associations in the social sciences. *Ethics & Information Technology*, 21(2), 137–149. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10676-018-9495-z
- Andersén, J. (2020). A relational natural-resource-based view on product innovation: The influence of green product innovation and green suppliers on differentiation advantage in small manufacturing firms. *Technovation*, 26(2021), Article 102254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2021.102254
- Anderson, H., Paddrik, M., & Wang, J. J. (2019). Bank networks and systemic risk:

 Evidence from the national banking acts. *American Economic Review*, 109(9),

 3125–3161. https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.20161661
- Anteneh, M. E., & Demoz, A. (2020). The effect of corporate social responsibility on banks' competitive advantage: Evidence from Ethiopian lion international bank S.C. *Cogent Business & Management*, 7(1), 1–23.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2020.1830473
- Arch, L. (2020). Effective bank regulation: seven guiding principles. *Journal of Financial Regulation and Compliance*, 28(2), 301–314.

https://doi.org/10.1108/JFRC-06-2019-0075

- Arcuri, G., & Levratto, N. (2020). Early stage SME bankruptcy: does the local banking market matter? *Small Business Economics*, *54*(2), 421–436. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-018-0042-4
- Arfuch, V. M., Queiroga, G. A., Caballol, A. R., Aguilar, M., C., Carrasco-Querol, N., Sancho Sol, M. C., González Serra, G., Fusté Anguera, I., & Berenguera, A. (2021). Patients' appraisals about a multicomponent intervention for fibromyalgia syndrome in primary care: a focus group study. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health & Well-Being*, *16*(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/17482631.2021.2005760.
- Argyriou, E., & Lee, T. T. C. (2020). The role of distress and fear transdiagnostic dimensions in emotion regulation choice. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 276, 433–440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.07.060.
- Arsalan, S., & Ali, S. S. (2020). Key determinants of SMEs' export performance: a resource-based view and contingency theory approach using potential mediators.

 Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing, 35(4), 635–654.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-11-2018-0324
- Atellu, A. R., Muriu, P., & Sule, O. (2021). Do bank regulations matter for financial stability? Evidence from a developing economy. *Journal of Financial Regulation* and Compliance, 29(5), 514 –532. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFRC-12-2020-0114.
- Aydın, G., Nyadera, I. N., & Önder, M. (2020). Strategic management in Turkey's public sector: reforms and application issues. *Public Organization Review*, 20(4), 719–

- 734. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11115-020-00463-8.
- Badampudi, D., Fotrousi, F., Cartaxo, B., & Usman, M. (2022). Reporting consent, anonymity and confidentiality procedures adopted in empirical studies using human participants. *e-Informatica Software Engineering Journal*, *16*(1), 1–24. https://doi.org/10.37190/e-Inf220109
- Balani, H. (2019). Assessing the introduction of anti-money laundering regulations on bank stock valuation. *Journal of Money Laundering Control*, 22(1), 76–88. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMLC-03-2018-0021
- Bagis, M. (2020). A longitudinal analysis on the micro-foundations of strategic management: Where are microfoundations going? *Business & Management Studies: An International Journal*, 8(2), 1310–1333.

 https://doi.org//10.15295/bmij.v8i2.1454
- Bagis, M. (2021). A research on the cognitive and behavioral foundations of strategic management: 1995-2020. *Ege Academic Review*, 21(3), 163–180. https://doi.org//10.21121/eab.959904
- Barnes, C., & Petry, S. (2021). 'It was actually pretty easy': Covid-19 compliance cost reductions in the WIC program. *Public Administration Review*, 81(6), 1147–1157. https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.13423
- Barney, J. (1991). Firm resources and sustained competitive advantage. *Journal of Management*, 17(1), 99–121. https://doi/org/10.1177/014920639101700108.
- Barney, J. B. (2021). The emergence of resource-based theory: A personal journey.

 **Journal of Management, 47(7),1663–1676.

https://doi.org/10.1177/01492063211015272

- Barney, J. B., Ketchen, D. J., & Wright, M. (2021). Resource-based theory and the value creation framework. *Journal of Management*, 47(7), 1936–1955.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/01492063211021655
- Beans, K. M. (2006). Regulatory compliance is a major challenge for community bankers. *RMA Journal*, 88(6), 91–96. http://www.rmahq.org/
- Beauchamp, T. L. (2020). The origins and drafting of the Belmont Report. *Perspectives in Biology & Medicine*, 63(2), 240–250. https://doi.org/10.1353/pbm.2020.0016.
- Belás, J., Damborský, M., Metzker, Z., & Šuleř, P. (2021). Perception of selected strategic management factors of SME in v4 countries. *Serbian Journal of Management*, 16(2), 437–452. https://doi.org/10.5937/sjm16-33274
- Belotto, M. (2018). Data analysis methods for qualitative research: Managing the challenges of coding, interrater reliability, and thematic analysis. *The Qualitative Report*, 23(11), 2622–2633. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2018.3492
- Benoot, C., Hannes, K., & Bilsen, J. (2016). The use of purposeful sampling in a qualitative evidence synthesis: A worked example on sexual adjustment to a cancer trajectory. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *16*(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-016-0114-6
- Berkhout, C., Vandaele-Bétancourt, M., Robert, S., Lespinasse, S., Mitha, G., Bradier, Q., Vambergue, A., & Fontanie, P. (2012). Enhancing field GP engagement in hospital-based studies. Rationale, design, main results, and participation in the diagest 3-GP motivation study. *BMC Family Practice*, *13*(1), 63–74.

https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2296-13-63

- Bernadyn, T., & Feigenson, K. A. (2018). Data gathering ability contributes to visual organization and probabilistic reasoning. *Heliyon*, *4*(3), 1–23. https://www.doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2018.e00582
- Bhabra, G. S., & Rooney, J. (2019). Sarbanes-Oxley, agency conflicts and the marginal value of capital expenditure. *Managerial Finance*, 46(2), 237–253. https://doi.org/10.1108/MF-10-2018-0471
- Bhatia, M., & Gulati, R. (2021). Board governance and bank performance: A metaanalysis. *Research in International Business & Finance*, 58, 1–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ribaf.2021.101425
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802–1811. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870
- Blidaru, O. P., Sfichi, D., & Andrei, V. F. (2019). Communication in private and public Companies. *Series Economic Sciences*, 19(2), 431–439. https://stec.univ-ovidius.ro/html/anale/RO/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/Section%20IV/6.pdf
- Bogers, M., Chesbrough, H., Heaton, S., & Teece, D. J. (2019). Strategic management of open innovation: A dynamic capabilities perspective. *California Management Review*, 62(1), 77–94. https://doi.org/10.1177/0008125619885150.
- Boyer, P. C., & Kempf, H. (2020). Regulatory arbitrage and the efficiency of banking regulation. *Journal of Financial Intermediation*, *41*, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfi.2017.09.002

- Brahmaiah, B., & Sager, R. A. (2020). Corporate governance, board characteristics and performance of Indian banks: An Empirical Study. *International Journal of Economics and Financial*, 10(3), 83–87. https://doi.org/10.32479/ijefi.9536
- Broby, D. (2021). Financial technology and the future of banking. *Financial Innovation*, 7(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40854-021-00264-y
- Bromiley, P., & Rau, D. (2022). Some problems in using prospect theory to explain strategic management issues. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, *36*(1), 125–141. https://doi.org/10.5465/amp.2018.0072.
- Brown, M., Brown, R. S., & Nandedkar, A. (2019). Transformational leadership theory and exploring the perceptions of diversity management in higher education.

 Journal of Higher Education Theory & Practice, 19(7), 11–21.

 https://doi.org/10.33423/jhetp.v19i7.2527
- Brundin, E., Liu, F., & Cyron, T. (2020). Emotion in strategic management: A review and future research agenda. *Long Range Planning*, 1–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2021.102144
- Burt, R. S., & Soda, G. (2021). Network capabilities: Brokerage as a bridge between network theory and the resource-based view of the Firm. *Journal of Management*, 47(7), 1698–1719. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206320988764
- Campbell, S., Greenwood, M., Prior, S., Shearer, T., Walkem, K., Young, S., Bywaters, D., & Walker, K. (2020). Purposive sampling: complex or simple? Research case examples. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 25(8), 652–661. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987120927206

- Campbell, J. M., & Kubickova, M. (2020). Agritourism microbusinesses within a developing country economy: A resource-based view. *Journal of Destination Marketing & Management*, 17(2020), Article 100460. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdmm.2020.100460
- Carlson, P. T. (2020). Don't (community) bank on it: How the current regulatory framework and new federal regulations threaten the U.S. community banking industry. *University of Pittsburgh Law Review*, 82(2), 435–458.

 https://doi.org/10.5195/lawreview.2020.790
- Carter, N., Bryant-Lukosius, D., DiCenso, A., Blythe, J., & Neville, A. J. (2014). The use of triangulation in qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 41(5), 545–547. https://doi.org/10.1188/14.ONF.545-547
- Caster, P., Elder, R. J., & Janvrin, D. J. (2021). An exploration of bank confirmation process automation: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Information Systems*, *35*(3), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.2308/ISYS-19-038
- Chahal, H., Gupta, M., Bhan, N., & Cheng, T.C.E. (2020). Operations management research grounded in the resource-based view: A meta-analysis. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 230(2020), Article 107805.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2020.107805
- Chahine, S., & Safieddine, A. (2011). Is corporate governance different for the Lebanese banking system? *Journal of Management & Governance*, 15(2), 207–226. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10997-009-9096-7
- Cher-Min, F., & Hsing-Hua, S. C. (2021). Chief marketing officer and

- internationalization—a resource-based view. *Asia Pacific Journal of Marketing and Logistics*, *33*(7), 1615–1629. https://doi.org/10.1108/APJML-03-2020-0185
- Chong, M. (2007). The role of internal communication and training in infusing corporate values and delivering brand promise: Singapore airlines' experience. *Corporate Reputation Review*, 10(3), 201–212. https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.crr.1550051
- Chwieroth, J. M., & Walter, A. (2017). Banking crises and politics: a long-run perspective. *International Affairs*, 93(5), 1107–1129.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/ia/iix145
- Coen, D., & Salter, J-P. (2020). Multilevel regulatory governance: Establishing bank-regulator relationships at the European Banking Authority. *Business & Politics*, 22(1), 113–134. https://doi.org/10.1017/bap.2019.21
- Coleman, P. (2021). Validity and reliability within qualitative research in the caring sciences. *International Journal of Caring Sciences*, *14*(3), 2041–2045. https://doi.org/10.1177/00469580211060750.
- Community banking Study (2020). FDIC. https://www.fdic.gov/resources/community-banking/report/2020/2020-cbi-study-full.pdf
- Community banks: Number by state and asset size. (2021). Banking Strategist. https://www.bankingstrategist.com/
- Constantino, T. B. (2021). Qualitative research interviewing: Typology of graduate students' interview questions. *Philippine Social Science Journal*, *4*(3), 96–112. https://doi.org/10.52006/main.v4i3.376
- Cooper, R., Fleischer, A., & Cotton, F. A. (2012). Building connections: An

- interpretative phenomenological analysis of qualitative research students' learning experiences. Qualitative Report, 17, 1–16. http://www.nova.edu/ssss/Q
- Cumyn, A., Ouellet, K., Cote, A., Francoeur, C., & St-Onge, C. (2019). Role of researchers in the ethical conduct of research: A discourse analysis from different stakeholder perspectives. *Ethics & Behavior*, 29(8), 621–636.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10508422.2018.1539671
- Currie, C. (2006). A new theory of financial regulation: Predicting, measuring and preventing financial crises. *Journal of Socio-Economics*, *35*(1), 48–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socec.2005.12.004
- Crabb, J. (2018). Removing Volcker for smaller banks will reduce compliance costs. *International Financial Law Review*, 5–5.
- Crilly, J., Greenslade, J. H., Berndt, S., Hawkins, T., & Cullen, L. (2020). Facilitators and barriers for emergency department clinicians using a rapid chest pain assessment protocol: qualitative interview research. *BMC Health Services Research*, 20(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-020-4923-2
- Croasdale, K., & Stretcher, R. (2011). Community banks: Surviving unprecedented financial reform. *Academy of Banking Studies Journal*, 10(2), 67–85. http://alliedacademies.org/Public/Default.aspx
- Cronin, C. (2014). Using case study research as a rigorous form of inquiry. *Nurse Researcher*, 21, 19–27. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.21.5.19.e1240
- Cyree, K. B. (2016). The effects of regulatory compliance for small banks around crisis-based regulation. *Journal of Financial Research*, *39*(3), 215–246.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jfir.12096

- Dalkin, S., Forster, N., Hodgson, P., Lhussier, M., & Carr, S. M. (2021). Using computer assisted qualitative data analysis software (CAQDAS; NVivo) to assist in the complex process of realist theory generation, refinement and testing. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 24(1), 123–134. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2020.1803528
- D'Angelo, J. D., D'Angelo, A-L, D., Mathis, K. L., Dozois, E. J., & Kelley, S R. (2021).

 Program director opinions of virtual interviews: Whatever makes my partners happy. *Journal of Surgical Education*, 78(6), 12–18.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsurg.2021.04.008.
- Davis, G. F., & DeWitt, T. (2021). Organization theory and the resource-based view of the firm: The great divide. *Journal of Management*, 47(7), 1684–1697. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206320982650.
- Dawadi, S., Shrestha, S., & Giri, R. A. (2021). Mixed-methods research: A discussion on its types, challenges, and criticisms. *Journal of Practical Studies in Education*, 2(2) 25–36. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED611786.pdf
- DeJonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L. (2019). Semistructured interviewing in primary care research: A balance of relationship and rigour. *Family Medicine and Community Health*, 7(2), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000057
- Del Gaudio, B. L., Porzio, C., Sampagnaro, G., & Verdoliva, V. (2021). How do mobile, Internet, and ICT diffusion affect the banking industry? An empirical analysis. *European Management Journal*, 39(3), 327–332.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2020.07.003

- de Moura, D., Tomei, P. A., Rodrigo, M. R., & Garde, S. R. (2021). Strategic management of organizational resilience (SMOR): a framework proposition. Revista Brasileira de Gestão de Negócios, 23(3), 536–556. https://doi.org/10.7819/rbgn.v.23i3.4118.
- Deng, C., Gulseren, D., Isola, C., Grocutt, K., & Turner, N. (2022). Transformational leadership effectiveness: an evidence-based primer. *Human Resource Development International*, *4*(1), 1–15.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13678868.2022.2135938.
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2008). *Collecting and interpreting qualitative materials*. Los Angeles, CA: Sage.
- Dionysus, R., & Zainul, A. A. (2020). Strategic orientation on performance: The resource-based view theory approach. *Jurnal Akuntansi*, 24(1), 136–153. https://doi.org/10.24912/ja.v24i1.661
- Dolar, B., & Dale, B. (2020). The Dodd-Frank Act's non-uniform regulatory impact on the banking industry. *Journal of Banking Regulation*, 21(2), 188–195. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41261-019-00106-z
- Douglas, B.D., McGorray, E. L., & Ewell, P. J. (2021). Some researchers wear yellow pants, but even fewer participants read consent forms: Exploring and improving consent form reading in human subjects research. *Psychological methods*, 26(1), 61–68. https://doi.org/10.1037/met0000267
- Dunn, J., Shockley, L., Crockett, K., & Duncan, C. (2019). Paducah bank's positive

- impact on the community through small business lending. *Applied Business & Economics*, 21(1), 17–23.
- https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/paducah-banks-positive-impact-on-community/docview/2199065149/se-2
- Drach, A. (2019). A globalization laboratory: European banking regulation and global capitalism in the 1970s and early 1980s. *European Review of History*, 26(4), 658–678. https://doi.org/10.1080/13507486.2019.1596069
- Drysdale, T. (2020). Research data management in a cultural heritage organization.

 *International Journal of Digital Curation, 14(1), 199–227.

 https://doi.org/10.2218/ijdc.v14i1.647
- Dyer, J., Godfrey, P., Jensen, R., & Bryce, D. (2020). Strategic management: Concepts and cases (3rd ed.) John Wiley & Sons.
- Elliott-Mainwaring, H. (2021). Exploring using NVivo software to facilitate inductive coding for thematic narrative synthesis. *British Journal of Midwifery*, 29(11), 628–632. https://doi.org/10.12968/bjom.2021.29.11.628
- Ellis, T., & Levy, Y. (2009). Towards a guide for novice researchers on research methodology: Review and proposed methods. *Issues in Informing Science & Information Technology*, 6, 323–337. https://doi.org/10.28945/1062
- Erzurumlu, Y. O., & Ucardag, I. (2021). Private pension fund flow, performance, and cost relationship under frequent regulatory change. *Journal of Financial Regulation & Compliance*, 29(2), 218–234. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFRC-03-2020-0028

- Etikan, I., Musa, S.A., & Alkassim, R.S. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, 5, 1–4. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11
- Evans, J., & Lawrance, L. (2018). Community banks and credit unions: Regulators could take additional steps to address compliance burdens. *GAO Reports*, 1–73. https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-18-213
- Farquhar, J., Michels, N., & Robson, J. (2020). Triangulation in industrial qualitative case study research: Widening the scope. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 87, 160–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.02.001
- Farrell, K. L. (2013). Managing UDAAP compliance risks in financial institutions. *Journal of Taxation & Regulation of Financial Institutions*, 27(2), 21–33.
- Fenn, M., & Head, G. (1965). Upward communication: The subordinate's viewpoint.

 *California Management Review, 7(4), 75–80. https://doi.org/10.2307/41165649
- Fergusson, L., Harmes, M., & Hayes, F. (2019). Lines-of-inquiry and sources of evidence in work-based research. *Work-Based Learning e-Journal International*, 8(2), 85–105. https://doi.org/10.5157/sro.8952
- Feuerstein, J. L., Olswang, L. B., Greenslade, K. J., Dowden, P., Pinder, G. L., & Madden, J. (2018). Implementation research: Embracing practitioners' views.
 Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research, 61(3), 645–657.
 https://doi.org/10.1044/2017_jslhr-l-17-0154
- Fischer, B., Gral, B., & Lehner, O. (2020). SOX section 404 twenty years after:

 Reviewing costs and benefits. ACRN Oxford Journal of Finance & Risk

- *Perspectives*, 9, 103–112. https://doi.org/10.35944/jofrp.2020.9.1.008.
- Fofana, F., Bazeley, P., & Regnault, A. (2020). Applying a mixed methods design to test saturation for qualitative data in health outcomes research. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(6), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0234898.
- Ford, E. (2020). Tell me your story: Narrative inquiry in LIS research. *College & Research Libraries*, 81(2), 235–247. https://doi.org/10.5860/crl.81.2.235
- Freeman, R. E., Dmytriyev, S. D., & Phillips, R. A. (2021). Stakeholder theory and the resource-based view of the firm. *Journal of Management*, 47(7), 1757–1770. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206321993576
- Friesen, P., Kearns, L., Redman, B., & Caplan, A. L. (2017). Rethinking the Belmont Report? *American Journal of Bioethics*, 17(7), 15–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/15265161.2017.1329482
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *School of Management Publications*, 20(9), 1408–1416.
- Fusch, P., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: Revisiting triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Social Change*, *10*(1), 19–32. https://doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2018.10.1.02.
- Fusch, P. I., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2017). How to conduct a mini-ethnographic case study: A guide for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, 22(3), 923–941. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol22/iss3/16/
- Geddes, D., & Lindebaum, D. (2020). Unpacking the 'why' behind strategic emotion expression at work: A narrative review and proposed taxonomy. *European*

- Management Journal, 38(5), 708–722. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2020.02.006
- Gehlbach, H., & Brinkworth, M. E. (2011). Measure twice, cut down error: A process for enhancing the validity of survey scales. *Review of General Psychology*, *15*(4), 380–387. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025704
- Gehrke, C. (2019). CEO succession planning in small community banks: A qualitative case study of "PNW" bank. *Journal of Accounting & Finance*, *19*(6), 61–103. https://doi.org/10.33423/jaf.v19i6.2316.
- George, B., Walker, R. M., & Monster, J. (2019). Does strategic planning improve organizational performance? A meta-analysis. *Public Administration Review*, 79(6), 810–819. https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.13104.
- Geyfman, V., & Walker, J. S. (2018). New evidence on the impact of mergers among community banks. *North American Journal of Finance & Banking Research*, 7(7), 1–23.

http://globip.com/contents/articles/northamerjournal-vol7-article1.pdf

- Girish, J., Bindya. K., & Sandeep, N. (2021). Are small finance banks acting as catalysts for financial inclusion in India? A phenomenological study. *Qualitative Research in Financial Markets*, *13*(5), 655–671. https://doi.org/10.1108/QRFM-04-2020-0050
- Goldman, E., Wesner, M., Plack, M., Manikoth, N., & Haywood, Y. (2014). Secondhand learning from graduates of leadership development programs. *Journal of Workplace Learning*, 26(8), 511–528. https://doi.org/10.1108/jwl-01-2014-0003

González-Tejero, C. B., & Molina, C. M. (2022). Training, corporate culture and

- organizational work models for the development of corporate entrepreneurship in SMEs. *Journal of Enterprising Communities: People and Places in the Global Economy*, *16*(1), 168–188. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEC-12-2021-0178
- Gozman, D., Liebenau, J., & Aste, T. (2020). A case study of using blockchain technology in regulatory technology. *MIS Quarterly Executive*, *19*(1), 19–37 https://doi.org/10.17705/2msqe.00023
- Graneheim, U.H., & Lundman, B. (2004). Qualitative content analysis in nursing research: concepts, procedures, and measures to achieve trustworthiness. *Nurse Education Today*, 24(2),105–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2003.10.001
- Granot, E., Brashear, T. G., & Motta, P. C. (2012). A structural guide to in-depth interviewing in business and industrial marketing research. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 27, 547–553. https://doi.org/10.1108/0885862121125731
- Greve, H. R. (2021). The resource-based view and learning theory: Overlaps, differences, and a shared future. *Journal of Management*, 47(7), 1720–1733. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206320967732.
- Gueler, M. S., & Schneider, S. (2021). The resource-based view in business ecosystems:

 A perspective on the determinants of a valuable resource and capability. *Journal of Business Research*, *133*, 158–169.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2021.04.061
- Gulati, R., Kattumuri, R., & Kumar, S. (2020). A non-parametric index of corporate governance in the banking industry: An application to Indian data. *Socio-Economic Planning Sciences*, 70, 1–13.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seps.2019.03.008

- Gull, S., & Idrees, H. (2021). Green training and organizational efficiency: mediating role of green competencies. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 46(1/2), 105–119. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-10-2020-0147
- Hagues, R. (2021). Conducting critical ethnography: Personal reflections on the role of the researcher. *International Social Work*, 64(3), 438–443.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0020872818819731
- Hanauer, M., Lytle, B., Summers, C., & Ziadeh, S. (2021). Community banks' ongoing role in the U.S. economy. *Economic Review*, 106(2), 37–81.

 https://www.kansascityfed.org/Economic%20Review/documents/8159/Economic

 ReviewV106N2HanauerLytleSummersZiadeh.pdf
- Hastings, R., & Pennington, W. (2019). Team coaching: A thematic analysis of methods used by external coaches in a work domain. *International Journal of Evidence Based Coaching and Mentoring*, 17(2), 174–188.

 https://doi.org/10.24384/akra6r08
- Hedlund, E., Börjesson, B., & Österberg, J. (2015). Team learning in a multinational military staff exercise. *Small-Group Research*, *46*(2), 179–203. https://doi.org/10.1177/1046496414568462
- Hennink, M., & Kaiser, B. N. (2022). Sample sizes for saturation in qualitative research:

 A systematic review of empirical tests. *Social Science & Medicine*, 292, 1–10.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114523
- Hiroko, N. (2020). The growth of knowledge through the resource-based view.

- Management Decision, 58(1), 98–111. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-11-2016-0798
- Hoesli, M., Milcheva, S., & Moss, A. (2020). Financial regulation good or bad for real estate companies? An event study. *Real Estate Finance & Economics*, 61(3), 369–407. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11146-017-9634-zIs
- Hogan, T. L., & Burns, S. (2019). Has Dodd-Frank affected bank expenses? *Journal of Regulatory Economics*, 55(2), 214–236. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11149-019-09379-8
- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigour in qualitative case study research. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(4), 12–17. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.12.e326
- Ibrahim, N., & Edgley, A. (2015). Embedding researcher's reflexive accounts within the analysis of a semi-structured qualitative interview. *Qualitative Report*, 20(10), 1671–1681. http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol20/iss10/9
- Idowu, K. A., & Tijani, J. O. (2020). Audit reporting lag and regulatory compliance in listed financial services firms in Nigeria: A cross-sectoral evaluation. *Academic Journal of Economic Studies*, 6(3), 163–174.

 <a href="https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A639544355/EAIM?u=minn4020&sid=ebsco&xid
- Intan, C. P., & Muafi, H. (2019). The impact of selection, training and development on organizational performance moderated by Islamic principles at Magelang Ialamic hospital. *Proceedings on Engineering Sciences*, *1*(2), 103–114.

 http://pesjournal.net/journal/v1-n2/11.pdf

- Irfan, H., Umer, Z., Idrees, W., & Owais, S. (2021). A serial-mediation model to link entrepreneurship education and green entrepreneurial behavior: Application of resource-based view and flow theory. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(550), 1–19.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18020550.
- Isaiah, O. (2019). Do disclosure and transparency affect a bank's financial performance?

 The International Journal of Business in Society, 19(6), 1344–1361.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/CG-12-2018-0378
- Jacob, S. A., & Furgerson, S. P. (2012). Writing interview protocols and conducting interviews: Tips for students new to the field of qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 17(6), 1–10. http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR17/jacob.pdf
- Jamali, H. R. (2018). Does research using qualitative methods (grounded theory, ethnography, and phenomenology) have more impact? *Library & Information Science Research*, 40, 201–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lisr.2018.09.002
- John, A., Marchant, A., Hawton, K., Gunnell, D., Cleobury, L., Thomson, S., Spencer, S. Dennis, M., Lloyd, K., & Scourfield, J. (2022). Understanding suicide clusters through exploring self-harm: Semistructured interviews with individuals presenting with near-fatal self-harm during a suicide cluster. *Social Science & Medicine*, 292, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114566
- Johnson, M., O'Hara, R., Hirst, E., Weyman, A., Turner, J., Mason, S., Quinn, T., Shewan., J., & Niroshan Siriwardena, A. (2017). Multiple triangulation and collaborative research using qualitative methods to explore decision making in

- pre-hospital emergency care. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *17*(11), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-017-0290-z
- Jordan, K. (2018). Validity, reliability, and the case for participant-centered research:

 Reflections on a multi-platform social media study. *International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction*, *34*(10), 913–921.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10447318.2018.1471570
- Joslin, R., & Müller, R. (2016). Identifying interesting project phenomena using philosophical and methodological triangulation. *International Journal of Project Management*, 34(6), 1043–1056. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2016.05.005
- Kalhoefer, C., & Lang, G. (2019). The more the Merrier? Detecting impacts of bank regulation after the global financial crisis. *Credit & Capital Markets*, 52(2), 191–212. https://doi.org/10.3790/ccm.52.2.191
- Kamal, K, K., & Kumar, M. S. (2017). Subordinate-superior upward communication:

 Power, politics, and political skill. *Human Resource Management*, *56*(6), 1015–1037 https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21814
- Karagiozis, N. (2018). The complexities of the researcher's role in qualitative research:

 The power of reflexivity. *International Journal of Interdisciplinary Educational Studies*, *13*(1), 19–31. https://doi.org/10.18848/2327-011X/CGP/v13i01/19-31
- Karimli, D. (2020). Conceptual framework for the strategic management. *Scholedge International Journal of Management & Development*, 7(10), 144–149.

 https://doi.org/10.19085/sijmd071001
- Kashian, R., Buchman, T., & Peralta, K. (2020). After the hurricane: Economic adversity,

- bank offices, and community banks. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, *51*, Article 101846. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2020.101846
- Kausar, A. (2020). A systematic qualitative case study: questions, data collection, NVivo analysis and saturation. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management:*An International, 16(1), 1–31. https://doi.org/10.1108/QROM-09-2019-1825
- Kennedy, K. M. (2019). Promoting the qualitative research approach in the discipline of forensic and legal medicine: Why more qualitative work should be promoted and how that can be achieved. *Journal of Forensic and Legal Medicine*, 62, 72–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jflm.2019.01.009
- Kennedy-Shaffer, L., Qiu, X., & Hanage, W. P. (2021). Snowball sampling study design for serosurveys early in disease outbreaks. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 190(9), 1918–1927. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwab098
- Kerr, C., Nixon, A., & Wild, D. (2010). Assessing and demonstrating data saturation in qualitative patient-reported outcomes research. *Quality of Life Research*, 19, 269– 282. https://doi.org/10.1586/erp.10.30
- Khanna, A., & Arora, B. (2009). A study to investigate the reasons for bank frauds and the implementation of preventive security controls in Indian banking industry.

 *International Journal of Business Science & Applied Management, 4(3), 1–21.

 *https://www.business-and-management.org/download.php?file=2009/4_3--1-21
 Khanna,Arora.pdf
- Killins, R. N., Johnk, D. W., & Egly, P. V. (2019). The impact of financial regulation policy uncertainty on bank profits and risk. *Studies in Economics & Finance*,

- 37(4), 725–752. https://doi.org/10.1108/SEF-05-2019-0169
- Kim, R. (2021). Disproportionate costs of uncertainty: Small bank hedging and Dodd-Frank. *Journal of Futures Markets*, 41(5), 686–709.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/fut.22188
- Kirsten, C. L. (2018). The role of financial management training in developing skills and financial self-efficacy. *The Southern African Journal of Entrepreneurship and Small Business Management*, 10(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajesbm.v10i1.211
- Koc, E. (2013). Power distance and its implications for upward communication and empowerment: crisis management and recovery in hospitality services. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 24(19), 3681–3696. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2013.778319
- Kraft, S. A., Rothwell, E., Shah, S. K., Duenas, D. M., Lewis, H., Muessig, K., Opel, D. J., Goddard, K. A. B., & Wilfond, B. S. (2021). *Journal of the Institute of Medical Ethics*, 47(12). 1–7. http://doi.org/10.1136/medethics-2020-106440
- Kranabetter, C., & Niessen, C. (2017). Managers as role models for health: Moderators of the relationship of transformational leadership with employee exhaustion and cynicism. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 22(4), 492–502. https://doi.org/10.1037/t54402-000
- Kwoka, J., John, E., & White, L. J. (2001). The new industrial organization and small business. *Small Business Economics*, 16(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1011172523262
- Lahiri, S., & Kedia, B. L. (2009). The effects of internal resources and partnership quality

on firm performance: An examination of Indian BPO providers. *Journal of International Management*, *15*(2), 209–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intman.2008.09.002

Langley, A., & Klag, M. (2019). Being where? Navigating the involvement paradox in

- Langley, A., & Klag, M. (2019). Being where? Navigating the involvement paradox in qualitative research accounts. *Organizational Research Methods*, 22(4), 515–538. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428117741967
- Langtree, T., Birks, M., & Biedermann, N. (2019). Separating "fact" from fiction:

 Strategies to improve rigour in historical research. *Forum Qualitative*Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 20(2), 1–17.

 https://doi.org/10.17169/FQS-20.2.3196
- Lee, K. S., & Chavis, D. M. (2012). Cross-case methodology: Bringing rigour to community and systems change research and evaluation. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, 22(5), 428–438. https://doi.org/10.1002/casp.1131
- Lee, Y., & Kim, J. (2021). Cultivating employee creativity through strategic internal communication: The role of leadership, symmetry, and feedback seeking behaviors. *Public Relations Review*, 47(1), Article 101998.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2020.101998
- Lehmann, O. V., Murakami, K., & Klempe, S. H. (2019). A qualitative research method to explore meaning-making processes in cultural psychology. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 20(2), 1–21.

 https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-20.2.3190
- Leigh, W. A. (1998). Participant protection with the use of records: Ethical issues and

- recommendations. *Ethics & Behavior*, 8(4), 305–320. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327019eb0804_4
- Leitch, S. (2008). Retooling the corporate brand: A foucauldian perspective on normalisation and differentiation. *Strategic Direction*, 24(3), 71–82. https://doi.org/10.1108/sd.2008.05624cad.004
- Lewis, L. (2019). Finding the stories: a novice qualitative researcher learns to analyse narrative inquiry data. *Nurse Researcher*, 26(2), 4–18.

 https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.2018.e1578
- Lincoln, Y. S. & Guba, E. G. (1985). *Naturalistic Inquiry*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.
- Loha, H., & Philipp, S. (2020). The impact of financial regulation on the development of distributed ledger technology (DLT) firms. *Frontiers in Blockchain*, *3*(12), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbloc.2020.00021
- Lohle, M. F., & Terrell, S. R. (2014). Real projects, virtual worlds: Coworkers, their 120 avatars, and the trust conundrum. *Qualitative Report*, *19*(8), 1–35.

 https://nsuworks.nova.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1268&context=tqr
- Lo Lacono, V., Symonds, P., & Brown, D. H. (2016). Skype as a tool for qualitative research interviews. *Sociological Research Online*, 21(2), 12–25. https://doi.org/10.5153/sro.3952
- Lukovszki, L., Rideg, A., & Sipos, N. (2021). Resource-based view of innovation activity in SMEs: an empirical analysis based on the global competitiveness project.

 Competitiveness Review: An International Business Journal ahead-of-print,

- 31(3), 513–541. https://doi.org/10.1108/CR-01-2020-0018
- Lupo, C., & Stroman, J. R. (2020). Social media marketing adoption strategies: An exploratory multiple case study of landscape industry small businesses. *Journal of Social, Behavioral, and Health Sciences*, *14*(1), 211–220.

 https://doi.org/10.5590/JSBHS.2020.14.1.15
- Lyons, J. B., & Schneider, T, R. (2009). The effects of leadership style on stress outcomes. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 20(5), 737–748.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2009.06.010
- Magnusson, D. (2009). The costs of implementing the anti-money laundering regulations in Sweden. *Journal of Money Laundering Control*, *12*(2), 101–112. https://doi.org/10.1108/13085200010951884
- Mahat-Shamir, M., Neimeyer, R. A., & Pitcho-Prelorentzos, S. (2021). Designing indepth semistructured interviews for revealing meaning reconstruction after loss.

 Death Studies, 45(2), 83–90. https://doi.org/10.1080/07481187.2019.1617388
- Manish, G. P., & O'Reilly, C. (2019). Banking regulation, regulatory capture and inequality. *Public Choice*, *180*(1/2), 145–164. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11127-018-0501-0
- Markoulis, S., Martzoukos, S., & Patsalidou, E. (2020). Global systemically important banks regulation: Blessing or curse? *Global Finance Journal*, 24, 1–13, Article 100580. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfj.2020.100580
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Mason, B. (2016). The federal government assesses Dodd-Frank's impact on financial institutions. *RMA Journal*, 98(7), 58–61.
 - https://www.proquest.com/docview/1792610551?accountid=14872
- May, L. Y., Ismail, R., Ismail, N. H., & Hamzah, M. (2018). Interview protocol refinement: Fine-tuning qualitative research interview questions for multi-racial populations in Malaysia. *Qualitative Report*, 23(11), 2700–2713. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=3412&context=tqr
- Mayoh, J., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2013). Toward a conceptualization of mixed methods phenomenological research. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 9(1), 91–107. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689813505358
- McCusker, K., & Gunaydin, S. (2015). Research using qualitative, quantitative or mixed methods and choice based on the research. *Perfusion*, *3*(7), 537–542. https://doi.org/10.1177/0267659114559116
- McKee, G., & Kagan, A. (2018). Community bank structure an x-efficiency approach.

 *Review of Quantitative Finance & Accounting, 51(1), 19–41.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11156-017-0662-9
- McGrath, C., Palmgren, P. J., & Liljedahl, M. (2019). Twelve tips for conducting qualitative research interviews. *Medical Teacher*, *41*(9), 1002–1006. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2018.1497149
- Meissner, P., Poensgen, C., & Wulf, T. (2021). How hot cognition can lead us astray: The effect of anger on strategic decision making. *European Management Journal*, 39(4), 434–444. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2020.09.010

- Mencken, F. C., & Tolbert, C. M. (2018). Community banks and loans for nonmetropolitan businesses: A multilevel analysis from the 2007 survey of business owners. *Rural Sociology*, 83(2), 376–401.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/ruso.12182.
- Mensah, K, H., Agyapong, A., & Nuertey, D. (2017). The effect of corporate social responsibility on organizational commitment of employees of rural and community banks in Ghana. *Cogent Business & Management*, *4*(1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2017.1280895
- Messer, R. R. (2016). Answers to community banks' questions about regulatory compliance. *RMA Journal*, 99(2), 50–53.
- Michael, B., Falzon, J., & Shamdasani, A. (2021). A theory of financial services competition, compliance and regulation. *Journal of Modelling in Management*, 16(1), 377–412. https://doi.org/10.1108/JM2-02-2020-0060
- Mohse, N., Masoud, K., & Ahmad, G. (2019). Designing a model for competitive advantage in electronic banking applying grounded theory. *University of Tehran*, 11(1), 45–62. https://doi.org/10.22059/jibm.2017.236608.2660
- Moldovan, O., & Macarie, F. C. (2014). How to change the informal side? A comparative analysis of organizational culture transformation models. *Managerial Challenges of the Contemporary Society*, 7(2), 40–45.
- Moll, S. (2012). Navigating political minefields: Partnerships in organizational case study research. *Work*, 43, 5–12.
- Morgan, P. J. (2020). A framework for regional banking regulation in ASEAN. Asian

- Economic Papers, 19(3), 111–130. https://doi.org/10.1162/asep_a_00792.
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25(9), 1212–1222. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315588501
- Motulsky, S. L. (2021). Is member checking the gold standard of quality in qualitative research? *Qualitative Psychology*, 8(3), 389-406. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000215
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2017). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part

 1: Introduction. *The European Journal of General Practice*, 23(1), 271–273.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.137509
- Moss, C. B., & Suh, D. H. (2020). Effect of compliance cost on the supply of bank credit to agriculture: A differential approach. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 102(2), 713–726. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajae.12074
- Moustakas, C. (1994). *Phenomenological research methods*. Sage. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412995658
- Münch, C., Benz, L. A., & Hartmann, E. (2022). *Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management*, 28(4), Article 100793.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pursup.2022.100793
- Munthe-Kaas, H. M., Glenton, C., Booth, A., Noyes, J., & Lewin, S. (2019). Systematic mapping of existing tools to appraise methodological strengths and limitations of qualitative research: first stage in the development of the CAMELOT tool. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 19(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-

- Murimi, M. M., Ombaka, B., E., & Muchiri, J. (2021). Strategic resources, A driver of performance in small and medium manufacturing enterprises in Kenya.
 International Journal of Business and Economic Sciences Applied Research,
 14(02), 43–57. https://doi.org/10.25103/ijbesar.142.04
- Musa, H., Rech, F., Yan, C., & Musova, Z. (2022). The deterioration of financial ratios during the Covid-19 pandemic: Does corporate governance Matter? *Folia Oeconomica Stetinensia*, 22(1), 219–242. https://doi.org/10.2478/foli-2022-0011
- Nagano, H. (2020). The growth of knowledge through the resource-based view.

 Management Decision, 58(1), 98–111. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-11-2016-0798
- Nebeker, C., Linares-Orozco, R., & Crist, K. (2015). A multi-case study of research using mobile imaging, Sensing and tracking technologies to objectively measure behavior: Ethical issues and insights to guide responsible research practice.

 Journal of Research Administration, 46, 118–137.
- Ngozwana, N. (2018). Ethical Dilemmas in Qualitative Research Methodology:

 Researcher's reflections. *International Journal of Educational Methodology*, 4,

 19–28. https://doi.org/10.12973/ijem.4.1.19
- Newman, P. (2018). The origins of the national banking system: The Chase-Cooke connection and the New York city banks. *Independent Review*, 22(3), 383–401.
- Nguyen, T. H., & Barth, J. R. (2020). Community banks vs. non-community banks: Where is the advantage in local small business funding? *Atlantic Economic Journal*, 48(2), 161–174. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11293-020-09671-5

- Nigar, N. (2020). Hermeneutic phenomenological narrative enquiry: A qualitative study design. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, *10*(1), 10–18. https://doi.org/10.17507/tpls.1001.02
- Nikulin, E., & Downing, J. (2021). Loan-loss provisions, earnings management, and capital management by Russian banks: the impact of changes in banking regulation and oversight. *Eurasian Business Review*, 11(4), 659–677. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40821-020-00163-9
- Noh, J. (2019). Negotiating positions through reflexivity in international fieldwork.

 International Social Work, 62(1), 330–336.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0020872817725140
- Northouse, P. G. (2019). *Leadership: Theory and practice* (8th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA:

 Sage
- Nur, D. N., & Rahmatina, A. K. (2019). The role of banking regulation in the development of Islamic banking financing in Indonesia. *International Journal of Islamic and Middle Eastern Finance and Management*, 2(5), 643–662.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/IMEFM-10-2018-0365.
- Nyhagen, R., Egerod, I., Rustøen, T., Lerdal, A., & Kirkevold, M. (2021). Unidentified communication challenges in the intensive care unit: A qualitative study using multiple triangulations. *Australian Critical Care*, *12*, 1–8.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aucc.2022.01.006
- O'Connor, K. (2019). The DOJ'S reliance on the community reinvestment ACT to support discrimination allegations has negative consequences for community

- banks. *Vermont Law Review*, 44(2), 399–427.
- Odiri, A. V. (2019). Awareness and usage of data triangulation among university students in Rivers State, Nigeria. *Education Quarterly Reviews*, 2(2), 299–304. https://doi.org/10.31014/aior.1993.02.02.62
- Oino, I. (2019). Do disclosure and transparency affect bank's financial performance?

 *Corporate Governance, 19(6), 1344–1361. https://doi.org/10.1108/CG-12-2018-0378
- Oktofa, Y. S. (2021). The implication of banking regulation on bank business model: evidence from the ASEAN countries. *Journal of Financial Regulation and Compliance*, 29(5), 580–603. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFRC-11-2020-0109
- Olaru, G., Burrus, J., MacCann, C., Zaromb, F. M., Wilhelm, O., & Roberts, R. D. (2019). Situational judgment tests as a method for measuring personality:

 Development and validity evidence for a test of dependability. *PLOS ONE*, *14*(2), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0211884
- Orzechowski, P. E. (2020). U.S. small business administration loans and U.S. state-level employment. *Journal of Economics & Finance*, 44(3), 486–505. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12197-019-09495-3
- O'Sullivan, J., Mamun, A., & Hassan, M. K. (2015). The relationship between board characteristics and performance of bank holding companies: before and during the financial crisis. *J Econ Finan*, 40(3), 438–471. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12197-014-9312-4
- Otto, T., Deger, J., & Marcus, G. E. (2021). Ethnography and exhibition design: Insights

- from the Moesgaard inaugural. *Design Studies*, 74, 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.destud.2020.100989
- Panza, L., & Merrett, D. (2019). Hidden in plain sight: Correspondent banking in the 1930s. *Business History*, *61*(8), 1300–1325. https://doi.org/10.1080/00076791.2017.1418858
- Pathiranage, Y. L., Jayatikake, L. V. K., & Abeysekera, R. (2020). Case study research design for exploration of organizational culture towards corporate performance. *Review of International Comparative Management*, 21(3), 361–372.

 https://doi.org/10.24818/RMCI.2020.3.361
- Patino, C. M., & Ferreira, J. C. (2018). Inclusion and exclusion criteria in research studies: definitions and why they matter. *Jornal Brasileiro de Pneumologia*, 44(2), 84–84. https://doi.org/10.1590/s1806-375620180000000088
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods* (4th ed.). Washington, DC: Sage Publications
- Paun, T., & Pinzaru, F. (2021). Advancing strategic management through sustainable finance. *Management Dynamics in the Knowledge Economy*, 9(2), 279–291. https://doi.org/10.2478/mdke-2021-0019
- Pernille, A., Mette K. C., & Jane, E. M. (2020). Focused ethnography as an approach in medical education research. *Medical Education*, *54*(4), 296–302. https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.14045
- Pilková, A., Munk, M., Benko, L., Blažeková, P., & Kapusta, J. (2021). Pillar 3: Does banking regulation support stakeholders' interest in banks financial and risk

- profile? *PLoS ONE*, 16(10), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0258449
- Poshakwale, S., Aghanya, D. & Agarwal, V. (2020). The impact of regulations on compliance costs, risk-taking, and reporting quality of the EU banks.

 International Review of Financial Analysis, 68, 1–51.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.irfa.2019.101431
- Potter, A. (2018). Managing productive academia/industry relations: the interview as research method. *Media Practice & Education*, 19(2), 159–172. https://doi.org/10.1080/25741136.2018.1464716.
- Price, H. E., & Smith, C. (2021). Procedures for reliable cultural model analysis using semistructured interviews. *Field Methods*, *33*(2), 185–201. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X20982725
- Putnam, K. J., & Hassan, M. K. (2017). US community bank failure: An empirical investigation. *Banking & Finance Review*, 9(2), 35–67.
- Qadadeh, W., & Abdallah, S. (2020, March 24-30). *An improved agile framework for implementing data science initiatives in the government*. International Conference on Information and Computer Technologies, Dubai.

 https://doi.org/10.1109/ICICT50521.2020.00012
- Quartey, J. A., & Kotey, B. (2019). The effect of regulations on the ability of MFIs to provide sustained financial services to small business. *Small Enterprise Research*, 26(3), 235–252. https://doi.org/10.1080/13215906.2019.1670236
- Raberto, M., Ozel, B., Ponta, L., Teglio, A., & Cincotti, S. (2019). From financial instability to green finance: the role of banking and credit market regulation in the

- Eurace model. *Journal of Evolutionary Economics*, 29(1), 429–465. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00191-018-0568-2.
- Radu, H., & Cornelia, N. (2020). The concept of innovation with some insights from resource-based view and evolutionary theory. *Manager Bucharest*, *32*(2020), 34–41. https://www.proquest.com/publication/2032296?accountid=14872
- Rafaila, E., & Duta, N. (2015). Teaching and self-teaching in higher education. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 197(25), 1230–1235.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.07.384
- Raheim, M., Magnussen, L. H., Sekse, R. J. T., Lunde, A., Jacobsen, T., & Blystad, A. (2016). Researcher--researched relationship in qualitative research: Shifts in positions and researcher vulnerability. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being*, 11(1), 30996–31009.

 https://doi.org/10.3402/qhw.v11.30996
- Rashid, H. U., Zobair, S. A. M., Chowdhury, A. I., & Islam, A. (2020). Corporate governance and banks' productivity: evidence from the banking industry in Bangladesh. *Business Research*, *13*(2), 615–637. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40685-020-00109-x.
- Redman, B. K., & Caplan, A. L. (2021). Should the regulation of research misconduct be integrated with the ethics framework promulgated in the Belmont Report? *Ethics & Human Research*, 43(1), 37–41. https://doi.org/10.1002/eahr.500078.
- Reni, R. (2019). Leadership definitions applications for lecturers' leadership development. *Journal of Leadership in Organizations*, *1*(1), 17–18.

https://doi.org/10.22146/jlo.42965

- Reynolds, L. (2015). Category and kin in 'crisis': Representations of kinship, care, and vulnerability in demographic and ethnographic research in KwaZulu-Natal, South 129 Africa. *Studies in Comparative International Development*, *50*, 539–560. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12116-015-9200-8
- Rice, T., & Rose, J. (2016). When good investments go bad: The contraction in community bank lending after the 2008 GSE takeover. *Journal of Financial Intermediation*, 27(6), 68–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfi.2016.02.001
- Richardson, M. (2012). Regulating wall street: The Dodd-Frank act. *Economic Perspectives*, *36*(3), 85–97. http://www.chicagofed.org/index.cfm
- Robbins, D. K., Pantuosco, L. J., Parker, Darrell, F., & Fuller, B. K. (2000). An empirical assessment of the contribution of small business employment to U.S. State Economic Performance. *Small Business Economics*, *15*(4), 293–303. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1011129728483
- Robins, C. S., & Eisen, K. (2017). Strategies for the effective use of NVivo in a large-scale study: Qualitative analysis and the repeal of don't ask, don't tell. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 23(10), 768–778. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800417731089
- Robinson, O. C. (2014). Sampling in Interview-Based Qualitative Research: A

 Theoretical and Practical Guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 11, 25–41.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2013.801543
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Saia, R., & Carta, S. (2019). Future Generation Computer Systems, 93(2), 18–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.future.2018.10.016
- Sardjono, W., Wijaya, C., Ciptaningsih, E. M. S. S., & Pujadi, T. (2020, August 13-14).

 Competitive advantage strategy model in the banking industry through the implementation of the national payment gateway. International Conference on Information Management and Technology. Bandung, Indonesia, Indonesia.

 https://doi.org/10.1109/ICIMTech50083.2020.9211177
- Saroso, H., & Ridwan, A. (2020). Resource development analysis in Indonesia listed bank type IV: An overview of resource base theory in Indonesia banking industry in developing competitive advantage. *Pertanika Journal of Social Sciences & Humanities*, 28(S1), 15–27. https://doi.org/10.47836/pjssh.30.4.01
- Saunders, M. N. K., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (7th ed.). (2015). *Research methods for business students*. Pearson Education Unlimited.
- Schaub, A. (2021). Understanding the value of enterprise compliance technology.

 **Journal of Securities Operations & Custody, 14(1), 78–91.
- Schoenung, B., & Dikova, D. (2016). Reflections on organizational team diversity research: In search of a logical support to an assumption. *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journal*, 35(3), 221–231. https://doi:10.1108/EDI-11-2015-0095
- Schretzlmaier, P., Hecker, A., & Ammenwerth, E. (2022). Suitability of the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology 2 model for predicting mhealth acceptance using diabetes as an example: Qualitative methods triangulation study.

- JMIR human factors, 9(1), 2292–9495. https://doi.org/10.2196/34918
- Sedaghatparast, E. (2019). A meta-synthesis approach to specify components of future banking. *Foresight*, 21(4), 482–496. https://10.1108/FS-10-2018-0089.
- Sedunov, J. (2020). Small banks and consumer satisfaction. *Journal of Corporate*Finance, 60(2020), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcorpfin.2019.101517
- Serra, M., Psarra, S., & OBrien, J. (2018). Social and physical characterization of urban contexts: Techniques and methods for quantification, classification and purposive sampling. *Urban Planning*, *3*(1), 58–74. https://doi.org/10.17645/up.v3i1.1269
- Shen, X., & Hartarska, V. (2018). Winners and losers from financial derivatives use evidence from community banks. *Applied Economics*, 50(41), 4402–4417. https://doi.org/10.1080/00036846.2018.1450484
- Shibin, K. T., Dubey, R., Gunasekaran, A., Hazen, B., Roubaud, D., Gupta, S., & Foropon, C. (2020). Examining sustainable supply chain management of SMEs using resource-based view and institutional theory. *Annals of Operations**Research*, 290(1/2), 301–326. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10479-017-2706-x
- Shvardak, M. (2021). SWOT-analysis as a strategic management tool of the quality training of the future educational institution head. *Ilkogretim Online*, 20(1), 958–967. https://doi.org/10.17051/ilkonline.2021.01.96
- Siangchokyoo, N., Klinger, R. L., & Campion, E. D. (2020). Follower transformation as the linchpin of transformational leadership theory: A systematic review and future research agenda. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *31*(1), Article 101341. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2019.101341

- Simionescu, D. T. A, & Todorut, D. (2018). Effective strategic management manager performance. *Ovidius University Annals: Economic Sciences*, *18*(2), 529–532. https://doaj.org/article/a0c8503012744a8f888e35b846ae295a
- Singh, R., Sharma, P., Foropon, C., & Belal, H.M. (2022). The role of big data and predictive analytics in the employee retention: A resource-based view.

 *International Journal of Manpower, 43(2), 411–447. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJM-03-2021-0197
- Smyth, N., Alwan, N. A., Band, R., Chaudhry, A., Chew-Graham, C. A., Gopal, D., Jackson, M., Kingstone, T., Wright, A., & Ridge, D. (2022). Exploring the lived experience of Long Covid in black and minority ethnic groups in the UK:

 Protocol for qualitative interviews and art-based methods. *PLoS ONE*, *17*(10), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0275166.
- Snyder, C. (2012). A case study of a case study: Analysis of a robust qualitative research methodology. *Qualitative Report*, *17*(16), 1–21. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1791&context=tqr
- Spano, D. (2021). The 2008 financial recession and the Dodd-Frank act. *Holistic*, *12*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.2478/hjbpa-2021-0001
- Stambaugh, J., Lumpkin, G.T., Mitchell, R. K., Brigham, K., & Cogliser, C. (2020).

 Competitive aggressiveness, community banking and performance. *Journal of Strategy and Management*, 13(2), 221–240. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSMA-03-2019-0033
- Stewart, A. (2011). Risk management: The reactive versus proactive Struggle. *Journal of*

- Nursing Law, 14(3/4), 91–95. https://doi.org/10.1891/1073-7472.14.3.4.91
- Stranzl, J., Ruppel, C., & Einwiller, S. (2021). Examining the role of transparent organizational communication for employees' job engagement and disengagement during the COVID-19 pandemic in Austria. *Journal of International Crisis and Risk Communication Research*, 4(2), 271–308. https://doi.org/10.30658/jicrcr.4.2.4
- Striepe, M. (2021). Combining concept mapping with semistructured interviews: adding another dimension to the research process. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, *44*(5), 519–532.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2020.1841746
- Stulz, R. M. (2019). Fintech, bigtech, and the future of banks. *Journal of Applied Corporate Finance*, 31(4), 86–97. https://doi.org/10.1111/jacf.12378.
- Suen, L. J., Huang, H. M., & Lee, H. H. (2014). A comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *Journal of Nursing*, 61(3), 105–111. https://doi.org/10.6224/JN.61.3.105
- Su-I, H. (2021). A mixed-methods process evaluation of an integrated course design on teaching mixed methods research. *International Journal for the Scholarship of Teaching & Learning*, 15(2), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.20429/ijsotl.2021.150208
- Sukaatmadja, I. P. G., Yasa, N. N. K., Rahyuda, H., Setini, M., & Dharmanegara, I. B. A. (2021). Competitive advantage to enhance internationalization and marketing performance woodcraft industry: A perspective of resource-based view theory.

 **Journal of Project Management, 6, 45–56.

https://doi.org/10.5267/j.jpm.2020.9.002

- Swanson, D. M., & Betensky, R. A. (2015). Research participant compensation: A matter of statistical inference as well as ethics. *Contemporary Clinical Trials*, 45, 265–269. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cct.2015.08.014
- Swords, L., Hennessy, E., & Heary, C. (2021). Qualitative methods advancing research into the expression and experience of stigma in childhood and adolescence.

 Stigma and Health, 6(1), 20–26. https://doi.org/10.1037/sah0000286
- Swygart-Hobaugh, M. (2019). Bringing method to the madness: An example of integrating social science qualitative research methods into NVivo data analysis software training. *Iassist Quarterly*, 43(2), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.29173/iq956
- Taguchi, N. (2018). Description and explanation of pragmatic development: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods research. *System*, 75(1), 23–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2018.03.010
- Tamayo, A. D., Petegem, V. W., & Snoeck, M. (2022). Improving teamwork in agile software engineering education: The ASEST+ framework. *IEEE Transactions on Education IEEE Trans*, 65(1), 18–29. https://doi.org/10.1109/TE.2021.3084095
- Tashtoush, Y. M., Doulat, W., Banat, S., Alkhdour, N., Darweesh, D., & Darwish, O.
 (June 2022). Project management effort estimation using agile manager game platform. *International Conference on Information and Communication Systems*, 149–154. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICICS55353.2022.9811211
- Thampy, A., & Tiwary, M. K. (2021). Local banking and manufacturing growth: Evidence from India. *IIMB Management Review*, *33*(2), 95–104.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iimb.2021.03.013

- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative Nursing*, 7(3), 155–163. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2552022
- Thi, M. T. T., Kum, F. Y., Xueqin, W., & Li, K. X. (2020). The antecedents of sustainable shipping management and organizational performance: resource accumulation and orientation perspectives. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 50(9/10), 833–854.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPDLM-03-2020-0066
- Thomas, S. P. (2021). Resolving tensions in phenomenological research interviewing.

 Advanced Nursing, 77(1), 484–49. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.14597
- Tolici, D. (2021). Strategic management initiatives that promote organizational performance. *Management Dynamics in the Knowledge Economy*, 9(2), 165–176. https://doi.org/10.2478/mdke-2021-0012.
- Toussaint-Comeau, M., Wang, Y. D., & Newberger, R. (2020). Impact of bank closings on credit extension to businesses in low-income and minority neighborhoods.

 *Review of Black Political Economy, 47(1), 20–49.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0034644619885343
- Tran, V-T., Porcher, R., Tran, V-C., & Ravaud, P. (2017). Predicting data saturation in qualitative surveys with mathematical models from ecological research. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 82, 71–78.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.10.001

- Twight, C. (2015). Dodd-frank: Accretion of power, illusion of reform. *Independent Review*, 20(5), 197–226. http://www.independent.org/publications/tir/
- Ugo, C. O. (2020). Developing the human resources effectiveness throughout training and development. *Annals of Spiru Haret University Economic Series*, 20(3), 81–95. https://doaj.org/article/fc1d091dc0794a69ab11896e802357e7
- Vásquez-Colina, M. D., Shatara, L., & Meredith, T. L. (2022). A mixed-method research study of dual-enrolled students' experiences in a research course: Research capital development? *Journal of Advanced Academics*, *33*(1), 104–128. https://doi.org/10.1177/1932202X211056551
- Venkatesh, V., Brown, S. A., & Bala, H. (2013). Bridging the qualitative-quantitative divide: Guidelines for conducting mixed methods research in information systems. *MIS Quarterly*, *37*(1), 21–54.
- Vladimiro, M., Massimo, C., Paolo, S. G., & Ilaria, B. (2022). Is corporate governance of private equity targets more effective for risk mitigation? *Journal of Management* & *Governance*, 26(3), 781–811. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10997-021-09571-z.
- Wadams, M., & Park, T. (2018). Qualitative research in correctional settings: Researcher bias, western ideological influences, and social justice. *Journal of Forensic Nursing*, *14*(2), 72–79. http://doi.org/10.1097/JFN.000000000000000199
- Waldkirch, M. (2020). Non-family CEOs in family firms: Spotting gaps and challenging assumptions for a future research agenda. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, *11*(1), 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfbs.2019.100305
- Walter, J. (2019). U.S. bank capital regulation: History and changes since the financial

crisis. Economic Quarterly, 105(1), 1–40.

https://www.richmondfed.org/-

 $\label{lem:media/RichmondFedOrg/publications/research/economic_quarterly/2019/q1/walt} \\ \underline{er.pdf}$

- Walsh, C. A., Rutherford, G., & Kuzmak, N. (2010). Engaging women who are homeless in community-based research using emerging qualitative data collection techniques. *International Journal of Multiple Research Approaches*, *4*(3), 192–205. https://doi.org/10.5172/mra.2010.4.3.192
- Weerasinghe, S. (2012). Managing records in global financial markets & colon; ensuring compliance and mitigating Risk. *Library Management*, *33*(4/5), 327–330. https://doi.org/10.1108/01435121211242371
- Wei, B., Yongzhen, X., Zheng, D., & Hongshen, L. (2022). Enterprise strategic management from the perspective of business ecosystem construction based on multimodal emotion recognition. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 13, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.857891
- Wernerfelt, B. (1984). A resource-based view of the firm. *Strategic Management Journal*, 5(2), 171–180. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.4250050207
- Willi, R. E. (2020). CECL: The new expected credit loss standard is a big loss for small banks. *North Carolina Banking Institute*, 24, 193–216.

 https://scholarship.law.unc.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1503&context=ncbi
- Williamson, S. D. (2020). The role of central banks. *Canadian Public Policy*, 46(2), 198–213. https://doi.org/10.3138/cpp.2019-058

- Wintoki, M. B., & Xi, Y. (2019). Friendly directors and the cost of regulatory compliance. *Journal of Corporate Finance*, 58, 112–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcorpfin.2019.04.011
- Witt, M. A., Fainshmidt, S., & Aguilera, R. V. (2022). Our board, our rules:

 Nonconformity to global corporate governance norms. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 67(1), 131–166. https://doi.org/10.1177/00018392211022726.
- Wray, J., & Barrett, D. (2022). In the room where it happens: in-person or remote data collection in qualitative research? *Evidence-based nursing*, 25(2), 44–45. https://doi.org/10.1136/ebnurs-2022-103535
- Xie, X., Wu, Y., & Blanco-Gonzalez Tejerob, C. (2022). How responsible innovation builds business network resilience to achieve sustainable performance during global outbreaks: An extended resource-based View. *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, (99), 1–15.

 https://doi.org/10.1109/TEM.2022.3186000
- Yagi, I., Malette, J., Mwindo, T., & Maisha, B. (2022). Characteristics and impacts of conflict-related sexual violence against men in the DRC: A phenomenological research design. *Social Sciences*, 11(2), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci11020034
- Yang, A., Sun, J., & Taylor, M. (2022). U.S. fortune 500's stakeholders engagement during the COVID-19 pandemic: Evidence for proactive approaches *Public Relations Review*, 48(4), Article 102230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2022.102230

- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research and Applications* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Yuen, K. F., Wang, X., Ma, F., Lee, G., & Li, X. (2019). Critical success factors of supply chain integration in container shipping: an application of resource-based view theory. *Maritime Policy & Management*, 46(6), 653–668.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/03088839.2019.1597289
- Yuen, K. F., Li, K. X., Xu, G., Wang, X., & Wong, Y. D. (2019). A taxonomy of resources for sustainable shipping management: Their interrelationships and effects on business performance. *Transportation Research Part E*, 128, 316–332. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tre.2019.06.014
- Zahra, M., Mona, G., Mohammad, H. K. M., & Zohreh, H. (2021). Application of resource-based view theory in assessing of efficiency of companies accepted in Tehran stock exchange by data envelopment analysis. *Advances in Mathematical Finance and Applications*, 6(3), 1–25.

 https://doi.org/10.22034/amfa.2020.1881228.1316
- Zhao, Q., Pei-Hsuan, T., & Jin-Long, W. (2019). Improving financial service innovation strategies for enhancing China's banking industry competitive advantage during the fintech revolution: A hybrid MCDM model. *Sustainability*, *11*(5), 1419–1449. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11051419
- Zhao, L., Zhu, Q., & Zhang, L. (2021). Regulation adaptive strategy and bank efficiency:

 A network slacks-based measure with shared resources. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 295(1), 348–362.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor.2021.02.050

- Zhao, P., Li, P., Ross, K., & Dennis, B. (2016). Methodological tool or methodology?

 Beyond instrumentality and efficiency with qualitative data analysis software.

 Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 17(2),

 1–21. https://doi.org/10.17169/FQS-17.2.2597
- Zheng, Y., & Yu, S. (2019). What has been assessed in writing and how? Empirical evidence from Assessing Writing (2000–2018). *Assessing Writing*, 42, 1–11, Article 100421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.asw.2019.100421
- Zhong, Z., Haoran, W., & Junsheng, W. (2020). Analysis of enterprise strategic management issues and coping strategies based on big data analysis. *E3S Web of Conferences*, 214, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1051/e3sconf/202021401017
- Zhou, R., Wang, X., Zhang, L., & Guo, H. (2017). Who tends to answer open-ended questions in an e-service survey? The contribution of closed-ended answers.

 *Behaviour & Information Technology, 36(12), 1274–1284.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/0144929X.2017.1381165
- Zulfikar, R., Lukviarman, N., Suhardjanto, D., Tubagus, I., Kurniasih, D. A., & Meutia, M. (2020). Corporate governance compliance in banking industry: The role of the board. *Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market and Complexity*, 6(137), 137–155. https://doi.org/10.3390/joitmc6040137

Appendix A: Organizational Permission

Partner Organization Agreement for DBA Case Study

Partner Organization Name Partner Organization Email Address Partner Organization Phone Number Date
The doctoral student, Therese Ngini, is conducting a case study involving our organization and is therefore approved to collect interview data from one or more of our organization's leaders (managers, directors, or decision-makers whom I will identify to the student).
INTERNAL RECORDS (OPTIONAL): The signer of this agreement should indicate which internal documents, if any, can be shared with the researcher. ☐ Our organization cannot allow access to internal records. ☐ Our organization will allow this student to analyze the following internal records that I deem appropriate (and shall be de-identified or redacted, as needed):
☐ training materials
□ protocols
\square manuals
□ reports
□ agreements
operational records
☐ meeting minutes
☐ digital/audio/video documents
□ other internal documents:

STUDENT RESPONSIBILITIES

I understand that, as per the student doctoral program requirements, the student will publish a scholarly report of this case study project in Proquest as a doctoral capstone (withholding the names of the organization and participating individuals), as per the following ethical standards:

- a. In all reports (including drafts shared with peers and faculty members), the student is required to maintain confidentiality by removing names and key pieces of evidence/data that might disclose an organization's/individual's identity or inappropriately divulge proprietary details. If the organization itself wishes to publicize the findings of this project, that is the organization's judgment call.
- b. The student will be responsible for complying with the organization's policies and requirements regarding data collection (including the need for the partner organization's internal ethics/regulatory approval, if applicable).
- c. Via an Interview Consent Form, the student will describe to interviewees how the data will be used in the doctoral project and how all interviewees' privacy will be protected.
- d. The doctoral student will not use these data for any purpose other than the doctoral study outlined in this agreement.

I confirm that I am authorized to approve research activities in this setting	۶.
Signature	
Partner Organization Leader's Name and Title	

Appendix B: Interview Protocol and Interview Questions

Interview Protocol

Date:	Location:
Name	of Interviewer:
Name	of Interviewee:
1.	Introduce myself to all participants.
2.	Provide participant a copy of consent form which they had previously
	electronically signed and verbally ask if there are any follow questions
3.	Request permission verbally to record the interview
4.	Turn on recording device.
5.	Code each participant with a pseudonym identification.
6.	Note the date and time of the interview.
7.	Begin the interview with question #1; follow through to the last question.
8.	Follow up with additional questions.
9.	Discuss member-checking with participant(s) and gain permission for
	memberchecking.
10	. Thank the participant(s) for their part in the study.
11	. Confirm contact information for follow up questions and concerns from
12	. participants.
13	. End the interview recording.
14	. End protocol

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies do you use to optimize the firm's resources to reduce the negative effect of increasing financial regulations compliance costs on the organization's operation?
- 2. What successful strategies did you implement to optimize the use of the organization's resources?
- 3. How do you verify that optimizing the firm's resources reduces the negative effect of financial regulations compliance costs on operation?
- 4. How do increasing financial regulations compliance costs negatively affect your firm's ability to meet its set goals?
- 5. What financial metrics do you use to measure the effectiveness of the strategies you have put in place?
- 6. How do you measure that the firm is adequately using its resources?
- 7. What strategies did you find most challenging in implementing and monitoring?
- 8. How did you develop useful feedback and financial review mechanisms to determine if increasing financial regulations compliance costs were having a less negative impact on the bank's operation?
- 9. What additional strategies do you use to ensure the firms used the resources optimally?
- 10. What other information can you add regarding the strategies you used to optimize the firm's resources to reduce the negative effect of increasing financial regulations compliance costs on the organization's operation?

Appendix C: CITI Certificate

